FINAL OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED DECEMBER 5, 2006

NEW ISSUES Moody’s Ratings:
Bonds — Bank Qualified Notes: “Aa2"
Bonds (MBIA insured): “Aaa”

In the opinion of Quarles & Brady LLP, Bond Counsel, under existing law interest on the Notes is included in gross
income for federal income tax purposes. In the opinion of Quarles & Brady LLP, Bond Counsel, assuming continued
compliance with the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, under existing law interest on the
Bonds is excludable from gross income and is not an item of tax preference for federal income tax purposes. The Notes
are NOT "qualified tax-exempt obligations". The Bonds are "qualified tax-exempt obligations". See "TAX STATUS"
herein for a more detailed discussion of some of the federal income tax consequences of owning the Securities. The
interest on the Securities is not exempt from present Wisconsin income or franchise taxes.

CITY OF FRANKLIN
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin

$10,000,000
Taxable General Obligation $9,925,000
Promissory Notes General Obligation Refunding Bonds

(March 1) Amount Rate Yield (March 1) Amount Rate Yield (March 1) Amount Rate  Yield
2014 $10,000,000 4.95% 4.96% 2008 $100,000 3.80% 3.50% 2015 $520,000 3.80% 3.66%

(Term Bonds) 2009 100,000 3.80 3.52 2016 1,200,000 3.80 3.70

2010 100,000 3.80 3.57 2017 1,190,000 3.80 3.70

2011 100,000 3.80 3.57 2018 1,180,000 3.80 3.75

2012 720,000 3.80 3.58 2019 1,200,000 3.80 3.80

2013 620,000 3.80 3.60 2020 1,140,000 3.80 3.82

2014 570,000 3.80 3.63 2021 1,185,000 3.80 3.85

The $10,000,000 Taxable General Obligation Promissory Notes (the “Notes”) and the $9,925,000 General Obligation
Refunding Bonds (the “Bonds”) (collectively the “Securities”) will be dated January 3, 2007, will be fully registered and
issued in the denomination of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof, and will mature on March 1 of the years shown
above. The Notes are term bonds maturing April 1, 2014. Interest on the Securities shall be payable commencing
on September 1, 2007 and semi-annually thereafter on March 1 and September 1 of each year. Associated Trust
Company, National Association, Green Bay, Wisconsin will serve as fiscal agent for the Notes and escrow agent for
the refunded obligations.

The Securities are being issued pursuant to Chapter 67 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The Securities will be general
obligations of the City for which its full faith and credit and taxing powers are pledged which taxes may, under current
law, be levied without limitation as to rate or amount. The Notes will be issued for the purpose of paying the cost of
projects included in the Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No. 3, including providing developer incentives in the
form of a subsidized loan and related expenses. The Bonds will be issued for the purpose of advance refunding
certain outstanding obligations of the City. (See "THE FINANCING PLAN" herein.)

The Notes are not subject to optional redemption prior to maturity. The Notes are term bonds that mature on March
1, 2014 (referred to herein as the “Term Bonds” or the “Notes”) and are subject to mandatory redemption as
described herein. The Bonds maturing March 1, 2017 and thereafter are subject to call and prior redemption on
March 1, 2016 or any date thereafter, in whole or in part, from maturities selected by the City, and by lot within each
maturity at par plus accrued interest to the date of redemption. (See “REDEMPTION PROVISIONS” herein.)

The Securities will be issued only as fully registered Securities and will be registered in the name of Cede & Co. as
nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York ("DTC"). DTC will act as the securities depository
of the Securities. Individual purchases will be made in book-entry form only in denominations of $5,000 principal
amount or any integral multiple thereof. Purchasers of the Securities will not receive certificates representing their
interest in the Securities purchased. (See "BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM" herein.)

Payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds when due will be insured by a municipal bond insurance policy
to be issued by the MBIA Insurance Corporation simultaneously with the delivery of the Bonds.

mMBilA

The City of Franklin Securities are offered when, as and if issued subject to the approval of legality by Quarles & Brady LLP,
Milwaukee, Wisconsin, Bond Counsel. The anticipated settlement date for these issues is on or about January 3, 2007.

ROBERT W. BAIRD & CO.
Financial Advisor



CITY OF FRANKLIN
(Milwaukee County, Wisconsin)

COMMON COUNCIL

Thomas M. Taylor, Mayor

Steve Olson, Alderperson
Timothy C. Solomon, Alderperson
Alan R. Hammelman, Alderperson

Pete Kosovich, Alderperson
Lyle Sohns, Alderperson (President)
Ken Skowronski, Alderperson

ADMINISTRATION

Mark W. Luberda, Director of Administration
Sandra L. Wesolowski, Clerk
Calvin A. Patterson, Director of Finance & Treasurer
John Bennett, Director of Public Works/City Engineer
Bill Wucherer, Director of Health & Human Services
Dana Zahn, Human Resources Coordinator
Roy Kainz, Superintendent of Sewer/Water
Jerry Schaefer, Superintendent of Public Works
Douglas B. Wheaton, City Development Director
Joel E. Dietl, Planning Manager
Marty Kuehn, Assessor
Frederick M. Baumgart, Building Inspector
Frederick F. Klimetz, Municipal Judge®
Richard Oliva, Chief of Police
James Martins, Fire Chief
Barbara Roark, Library Director

@ Mr. Klimetz is an elected official, whose term expires April, 2009.

CITY ATTORNEY
Jesse A. Wesolowski
Wesolowski, Reidenbach & Fleming, S.C.
Franklin, Wisconsin
FINANCIAL ADVISOR
Robert W. Baird & Co.
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

BOND COUNSEL

Quarles & Brady LLP
Milwaukee, Wisconsin



REGARDING USE OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT

No dealer, broker, salesperson, or other person has been authorized by City of Franklin or by Robert W. Baird & Co.
Incorporated, the Financial Advisor, to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained
herein, and if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been
authorized by any of the foregoing. Under no circumstances shall this Official Statement constitute an offer to sell or the
solicitation of an offer to buy the Securities, nor shall there be any sale of the Securities, in any jurisdiction in which such
offer, solicitation, or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws of any such
jurisdiction. Robert W. Baird & Co., in its role as Financial Advisor, assisted the issuer in preparing the Official
Statement. Baird obtained information from the issuer and other sources that it believed was reliable, but cannot
guarantee the accuracy or completeness of the information in this Official Statement. The Underwriter has provided the
following sentence for inclusion in the Official Statement. The Underwriter has reviewed the information in this official
statement in accordance with, and as part of, its responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied
to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness
of such information. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice and neither
the delivery of this Official Statement nor any other sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any
implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the City of Franklin.
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Issuer:

Issue:
Dated Date:

Interest Due:

Principal Due:

Security:

Purpose:

Tax Status:

Credit Rating:

Paying Agent:
Record Date:
Bond Years:

Average Life:

Redemption Provision:

SUMMARY — THE NOTES
City of Franklin,
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin.
$10,000,000 Taxable General Obligation Promissory Notes.
January 3, 2007.

Commencing on September 1, 2007 and on each March 1 and September 1 thereafter.
Interest on the Notes will be computed on the basis of a 30-day month and a 360-day year.

Term bonds due March 1, 2014.

The Notes are not subject to call and prior redemption. The Notes are subject to
mandatory redemption as described herein. (See "REDEMPTION PROVISIONS" herein.)

The full faith, credit and resources of the City are pledged to the payment of the principal
of and the interest on the Notes as the same become due and, for said purposes, there
are levied on all the taxable property in the City, direct, annual irrepealable taxes in each
year and in such amounts which will be sufficient to meet such principal and interest
payments when due. Under current law, such taxes may be levied without limitation as to
rate or amount.

The Notes will be issued for the purpose of paying the cost of projects included in the
Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No. 3, including providing developer incentives in
the form of a subsidized loan and related expenses. (See "THE FINANCING PLAN"
herein.)

Interest on the Notes is included in gross income for federal income tax purposes. (See
“TAX STATUS” herein.)

Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. has assigned its municipal bond rating of “Aa2” to this
issue of Notes. (See “RATING” herein.)

Associated Trust Company, National Association, Green Bay, Wisconsin.
The 15th day of the calendar month next preceding each interest payment date.
58,536.11 years.

5.854 years.

Information set forth on this page is qualified by the entire Official Statement. A full review of the entire Official statement should be

made by potential investors.




Issuer:

Issue:
Dated Date:

Interest Due:

Principal Due:

Redemption Provision:

Security:

Purpose:

Tax Status:

Credit Rating:

Bank Qualification:
Paying Agent:

Escrow Agent:

Mathematical Verification:

Record Date:
Bond Years:

Average Life:

SUMMARY — THE BONDS

City of Franklin,
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin.

$9,925,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds.
January 3, 2007.

Commencing on September 1, 2007 and on each March 1 and September 1 thereafter.
Interest on the Bonds will be computed on the basis of a 30-day month and a 360-day
year.

March 1 of the years 2008 through 2021.

The Bonds maturing on and after March 1, 2017 shall be subject to call and prior
payment on March 1, 2016 or on any date thereafter at par plus accrued interest. The
amounts and maturities of the Bonds to be redeemed shall be selected by the City. If
less than the entire principal amount of any maturity is to be redeemed, the Bonds of
that maturity which are to be redeemed shall be selected by lot. Notice of such call
shall be given by sending a notice thereof by registered or certified mail, facsimile or
electronic transmission or overnight express delivery at least thirty (30) days nor more
than sixty (60) days prior to the date fixed for redemption to the registered owner of
each Bond to be redeemed at the address shown on the registration books.

The full faith, credit and resources of the City are pledged to the payment of the
principal of and the interest on the Bonds as the same become due and, for said
purposes, there are levied on all the taxable property in the City, direct, annual
irrepealable taxes in each year and in such amounts which will be sufficient to meet
such principal and interest payments when due. Under current law, such taxes may be
levied without limitation as to rate or amount.

The Bonds will be issued for the purpose of advance refunding certain outstanding
obligations of the City. (See "THE FINANCING PLAN" herein.)

Interest on the Bonds is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes.
(See “TAX STATUS” herein.)

Moody'’s Investors Service, Inc. has assigned its municipal bond rating of “Aaa” (MBIA
insurance) to this issue of Bonds. An underlying rating of “Aa2” has been affirmed for
the City’s outstanding long-term debt by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. (See
“RATINGS” herein.)

The Bonds will be designated as “qualified tax-exempt obligations.”

Treasurer, City of Franklin, Wisconsin.

Associated Trust Company, National Association, Green Bay, Wisconsin.
Grant Thornton LLP, Minneapolis, Minnesota.

The 15th day of the calendar month next preceding each interest payment date.
99,559.03 years.

10.031 years.

Information set forth on this page is qualified by the entire Official Statement. A full review of the entire Official statement should be

made by potential investors.




INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

This Official Statement presents certain information relating to the City of Franklin, Wisconsin (the "City" and the "State",
respectively) in connection with the sale of the City's $10,000,000 Taxable General Obligation Promissory Notes (the
“Notes”) and the $9,925,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds (the “Bonds”) (collectively the “Securities”). The
Securities are issued pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the State and the resolutions adopted by the City (the
"Resolutions”) and other proceedings and determinations related thereto.

All summaries of statutes, documents and the Resolutions contained in this Official Statement are subject to all the
provisions of, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to such statutes, documents and the Resolutions, and
references herein to the Securities are qualified in their entirety by reference to the form thereof included in the
Resolutions. Copies of the Resolutions may be obtained from the Financial Advisor upon request.

THE FINANCING PLAN
Proceeds of the Notes will be used for the purpose of paying the cost of projects included in the Project Plan for Tax
Incremental District No. 3, including providing developer incentives in the form of a subsidized loan and related
expenses.

Proceeds from the Bonds will be used to advance refund the following issue (“Prior Issue”):

$10,000,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds®
Dated April 15, 2001

Maturities to be Amount of Balance after Refunding
Call Price  Call Date  Refunded In Full  Principal Refunded (1/03/2007)
100% 3/1/2011 2012-2021 $9,470,000 $305,000

Wproceeds from the Prior Issue were used to current refund obligations of the City.

Proceeds of the Bonds will be irrevocably deposited in an escrow account, invested in U.S. Government Securities and
used to advance refund in full, the above maturities of the Prior Issue.

REDEMPTION PROVISIONS

Optional Redemption

The Notes are not subject to optional redemption prior to maturity.

The Bonds maturing March 1, 2017 and thereafter are subject to call and prior redemption on March 1, 2016 or any date
thereafter, in whole or in part, from maturities selected by the City, and by lot within each maturity at par plus accrued
interest to the date of redemption.



Mandatory Redemption

The Notes are term bonds that mature on March 1, 2014 (referred to herein as the “Term Bonds” or the “Notes”) and are
subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption on March 1 of each of the years and in the amounts set forth below at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the redemption date. As and for
a sinking fund for the redemption of the Term Bonds, the City shall cause to be deposited in the Debt Service Fund
Account a sum which is sufficient to redeem the following principal amounts of such Term Bonds plus accrued interest to
the redemption date:

2014 Term Bonds

Year Amount
2008 $600,000
2009 615,000
2010 625,000
2011 640,000
2012 655,000
2013 670,000

2014 (maturity) 6,195,000
The City will call the Term Bonds for redemption on the dates and in the amounts set forth above and direct its officers

and agents to take the necessary steps to select the Term Bonds to be redeemed on the dates and amounts set forth
above and give appropriate notice of said redemption to the registered holders of the Notes so redeemed.

CONSTITUTIONAL STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS AND LIMITATIONS
CONCERNING THE CITY'S POWER TO INCUR INDEBTEDNESS
The Constitution and laws of the State limit the power of the City (and other municipalities of the State) to issue

obligations and to contract indebtedness. Such constitutional and legislative limitations include the following, which are
presented in summary form and are generally applicable to the City.

Purpose

The City may not borrow money or issue notes or bonds therefor for any purpose except those specified by statute,
which include among others the purposes for which the Securities are being issued.

General Obligation Bonds

The principal amount of every sum borrowed by the City and secured by an issue of bonds may be payable at one time in
a single payment or at several times in two or more installments; however, no installment may be made payable later
than the termination of twenty years immediately following the date of the bonds. The Common Council is required to
levy a direct, annual, irrepealable tax sufficient in amount to pay the interest on such bonds as it falls due and also to pay
and discharge the principal thereof at maturity. Bonds issued by the City to refinance or refund outstanding notes or
bonds issued by the City may be payable no later than twenty years following the original date of such notes or bonds.

Refunding Bonds

In addition to being authorized to issue bonds, the City is authorized to borrow money using refunding bonds for
refunding existing debt. To evidence such indebtedness, the City must issue its refunding bonds (with interest) payable
within a period not exceeding twenty years following the initial date of the debt to be refunded. Such refunding bonds
constitute a general obligation of the City. Refunding bonds are not subject to referendum.

Bond Anticipation Notes

In anticipation of issuing general obligation bonds or notes, the City is authorized to borrow money using bond
anticipation notes. The bond anticipation notes shall in no event be general obligations of the City, and do not constitute
an indebtedness of the City, nor a charge against its general credit or taxing power. The bond anticipation notes are
payable only from (a) proceeds of the bond anticipation notes set aside for payment of interest on the bond anticipation
notes as they become due, and, (b) proceeds to be derived from the issuance and sale of general obligation bonds or
notes which proceeds are pledged for the payment of the principal of and interest on the bond anticipation notes. The
maximum term of any bond anticipation notes (including any refunding) is five years.
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Promissory Notes

In addition to being authorized to issue bonds, the City is authorized to borrow money using promissory notes for any
public purpose. To evidence such indebtedness, the City must issue its promissory notes (with interest) payable within a
period not exceeding ten years following the date of said notes. Such notes constitute a general obligation of the City.
Notes may be issued to refinance or refund outstanding notes or bonds. However, such notes must be payable not later
than ten years following the original date of such notes.

Debt Limit
The City has the power to contract indebtedness for purposes specified by statute so long as the principal amount thereof

does not exceed five percent of the equalized value of taxable property within the City. For information with respect to
the City's percent of legal debt incurred, see the caption "INDEBTEDNESS OF THE CITY-Debt Limit," herein.

THE RESOLUTIONS

The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Resolutions to be adopted by the City pursuant to the procedures
prescribed by Wisconsin Statutes. Reference is made to the Resolutions for a complete recital of their terms.

Award Resolutions

By way of the resolutions to be adopted on December 5, 2006 (the “Award Resolutions”), the Common Council will
authorize the issuance of the Securities and accept the bid (or reject all bids) of the Underwriters for the purchase of
the Securities, in accordance with bid specifications, provide the details and form of the Securities, and set out certain
covenants with respect thereto. The Award Resolutions pledge the full faith, credit and resources of the City to
payments of the principal of and interest on the Securities.

Pursuant to the Award Resolutions, the amount of direct, annual, irrepealable taxes levied for collection in the years
2007 through 2014 for the Notes and 2007 through 2021 for the Bonds which will be sufficient to meet the principal
and interest payments on the Securities when due will be specified (or monies to pay such debt service will otherwise
be appropriated). The Award Resolutions establish separate and distinct from all other funds of the City debt service
funds with respect to payment of principal of and interest on the Notes and the Bonds.



THE CITY

Common Council

The Common Council is the legislative and policy making body of the City and consists of six council members who are
elected from each of the City's aldermanic districts for three-year terms, and a mayor who is elected separately for a
three-year term. The present members, their aldermanic districts and the expiration of their respective terms of office are
as follows.

Thomas M. Taylor, Mayor

(April, 2008)

Aldermanic Expiration
Common Council District of Term
Steve Olson, Alderperson 1 April, 2007
Timothy C. Solomon, Alderperson 2 April, 2007
Alan R. Hammelman, Alderperson 3 April, 2008
Pete Kosovich, Alderperson 4 April, 2008
Lyle Sohns, Alderperson (President) 5 April, 2007
Ken Skowronski, Alderperson 6 April, 2008

Administration

The day-to-day affairs of the City is handled by the Director of Administration. The present members of the administration
and their years of service as of December 1, 2006 are listed below.

Years
Name Title of Service
Mark W. Luberda Director of Administration 0.420
Sandra L. Wesolowski Director of Clerk Services 21
Calvin A. Patterson Director of Finance & Treasurer 6
John Bennett Director of Public Works/City Engineer 37
Bill Wucherer Director of Health & Human Services 14
Dana Zahn Human Resources Coordinator 1@
Roy Kainz Superintendent of Sewer/Water 35
Jerry Schaefer Superintendent of Public Works 31
Douglas B. Wheaton City Development Director 1®
Joel E. Dietl Planning Manager 0.67¥
Marty Kuehn Assessor 4.
Frederick M. Baumgart Building Inspector 33
Frederick F. Klimetz Municipal Judge® 0.58
Richard Oliva Chief of Police 10
James Martins Fire Chief 4
Barbara Roark Library Director 8

@ prior to joining the City, Mr. Luberda served as the Administrator for the Town of Caledonia, Wisconsin.

@ prior to joining the City, Ms. Zahn was the Human Resources Manager for the Unified Solutions, Inc.

@) prior to joining the City, Mr. Wheaton was the Government Affairs Director for Wisconsin Realtors Association.
“ prior to joining the City, Mr. Dietl served as a Planner for the Brown County Planning Commission.

® Mr. Klimetz is an elected official, whose term expires April, 2009.

©) prior to joining the City, Mr. Oliva was a captain for the Milwaukee Police Department.
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Employment Relations

Number of
Department Employees
Administration 4
Assessor 1
Building Inspection 10
Clerk 4
City Development 7
Engineering 11
Finance 9
Fire 46
Health 10
Highways 22
Library 29
Mayor/Alderpersons 8
Municipal Buildings Maintenance 6
Municipal Court 4
Police 73
Sewer/Water 12
TOTAL 256
The City of Franklin employees are represented by:
Organization Employee Group Represented Date of Contract
Franklin Police Officers Association Police officers December 31, 2006
Franklin Police and Fire Department Dispatchers December 31, 2005*
Clerical Association
Franklin Professional Firefighters Association Firefighters December 31, 2009
Local 2760 (I.A.F.F.)
Teamsters General Union Clerical employees December 31, 2009
Local 200
Franklin Inspection Employees Inspection employees, Engineering December 31, 2008
Local 2 (AFSCME) (AFL-CIO) Technicians and Police Clerical
Franklin Employees Public Works, Sewer and Water December 31, 2005*
Local 2 (AFSCME) (AFL-CIO) and Custodial employees

* In negotiation; employees are still working under the terms of the expired contracts.

All eligible City personnel are covered by the Municipal Employment Relations Act (MERA) of the Wisconsin Statutes.
Pursuant to that law, employees have the right to organize and collectively bargain with the municipal employers. In the
event of impasse, the City or employee union, other than fire or law enforcement personnel, has the option to pursue
final and binding arbitration under a procedure referred to as mediation arbitration. Under this procedure, mediation is
first attempted and in the event of its failure, final and binding arbitration is commenced. If, under arbitration, both parties
withdraw their final offers, the labor organization upon proper notice, may strike. The parties can also agree to voluntary
impasse resolution procedures including authorization for a strike or binding interest arbitration. As a practical matter, it
is anticipated that strikes under either procedure will be rare. Furthermore, strikes, if they do occur, may be enjoined by
the courts. Impasse resolution for fire fighters and law enforcement personnel is subject to final and binding arbitration
procedures, which do not include a right to strike.
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Pension Plan

All eligible City of Franklin Police and Fire employees participate in the Wisconsin Retirement System established under
Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The total required retirement plan contribution for the years ended December 31,
2004 and 2005 were $1,089,239 and $1,156,827, respectively. The amounts of such contributions are determined by
the Wisconsin Retirement Fund and were in accordance with the actuarially determined requirement.

All eligible City of Franklin Public Works employees (highway, janitors, sewer and water employees) are covered by a
non-contributory single employer defined benefit pension plan. The total required retirement plan contribution for the
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 were $204,665 and $288,381, respectively. The amounts of such
contributions are determined by an actuarial valuation dated January 1, 2005.

All other eligible City of Franklin employees patrticipate in a defined contribution plan. The City contributes 10% of
covered payroll that amounted to $310,082 and $339,899 for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005,
respectively.

GENERAL INFORMATION
Location

The City of Franklin is located in southeastern Wisconsin and encompasses approximately 34.5 square miles of the
southwestern portion of Milwaukee County. Itis located approximately 10 miles southwest of Milwaukee, 80 miles east
of Madison, 85 miles northwest of Chicago and 130 miles south of Green Bay.

History

Franklin, a part of the Northwest Territory, was given the name "Franklin" in honor of Benjamin Franklin in 1838 by the
Wisconsin Territorial Legislature and was organized into a township in 1841. Franklin's early town officials fought
against annexation to the City of Milwaukee. In 1956 a City charter arrived from Madison to incorporate from a town to a
city. Bounded by Greenfield to the north, Oak Creek to the east, and Racine and Waukesha Counties to the south and
west, the City is primarily a residential community with a growing commercial and industrial base.

Education

The City is served by the Franklin, Oak-Creek Franklin and Whitnall School Districts, which offer comprehensive
educational programs for students in pre-kindergarten through the twelfth grade. Between these schools, residents are
served by a total of three high schools, four middle schools and twelve elementary schools.

Post-secondary education is available nearby at several schools in the University of Wisconsin (“UW”) System. UW-
Madison, Milwaukee and Whitewater, all four-year colleges, offer programs at the undergraduate, graduate and
professional levels in a wide range of fields, while UW-Waukesha and Washington County offer freshman/sophomore
level instruction. The Milwaukee Area Technical College, also a two-year institution that has campuses located in
Milwaukee, Mequon, Oak Creek and West Allis, offers a variety of education and training opportunities through several
associate degree and technical diploma programs. Private four-year colleges in the Milwaukee Metropolitan area
include the following:

Alverno College
Cardinal Stritch University
Carroll College
Columbia College of Nursing
Concordia University
Marquette University
Medical College of Wisconsin
Milwaukee Institute of Art and Design
Milwaukee School of Engineering
Mount Mary College
Ottawa University
Wisconsin Lutheran College
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Transportation

The City is easily accessible via Interstates 94 and 43, US Highways 41 and 45, State Highways 36 and 100, and
several County Highways.

Three general aviation airports serve area residents: General Mitchell International Airport is located 8 miles northeast
of the City, John H. Batten Field is located 10 miles to the southeast, and Chicago's OHare International Airport is
located 70 miles to the south.

Rail freight service is accessible in nearby Oak Creek via the CP Rail System and the Union Pacific Railway on their
Chicago to Minneapolis-St. Paul mainlines.

Water transportation is available through the Port of Milwaukee, which is located 12 miles northeast of the City.
Public transit is available through Freeway Flyer and shuttle bus routes operated by the Milwaukee County Transit
System, and elderly and disabled residents also have access to specialized transportation services provided by two

Milwaukee County programs.

Police, Fire and Public Safety

The Franklin Police Department provides law enforcement services to the City 24 hours per day, 7 days per week, which
include protecting of life and property, preserving peace and good order of the community, and furnishing any other
appropriate service that enhances the safe and orderly operation of the City.

The Franklin Fire Department's Mission is to render any service it is capable of delivering to protect the lives and
property of the citizens within its jurisdiction. It will provide educational activities to the residents and actively promote
fire prevention, and will provide these services as efficiently as possible within the limits of funding provided by the
citizens of Franklin.

The City is now part of a cooperative effort with other Milwaukee County communities to jointly operate an animal control
services facility, governed by the Milwaukee Area Domestic Animal Control Commission (“MADACC"), for animal control
purposes.

Other Services

The City provides standard services such as street maintenance and lighting, snow and ice removal, waste collection
and disposal, recycling facilities, water, solid waste and sanitary sewerage services, and a public library.

The City provides for the public safety of its residents through the Police Department with seventy-six full-time
employees. The Police Department provides patrol, dispatch services, traffic control services, crime prevention and
detection, investigations and community relations. The Fire Department has twenty-nine full-time employees, and the
Emergency Medical Service Department has fifteen full-time employees. In addition to fire suppression and prevention,
the department provides fire inspections, community education, paramedic level medical transportation and specialized
rescues.

Health Care

The City's health care needs are served by the St. Luke's Franklin Health Care Center, Rawson Medical Center and
Associated Surgical Clinic. The Franklin Health Department, located at the Franklin City Hall, offers immunizations for all
ages, health screenings, including blood pressure clinics, a school health program, communicable disease education
and follow-up, and an environmental health program including restaurant inspection and a sharps/syringe collection site
in the Health Department. In addition, the City is served by the complete range of health facilities and health
professionals offered by Milwaukee County's 24 area hospitals and various immediate care centers. Of special interest
is the Milwaukee Regional Medical Center, a voluntary consortium of private, nonprofit, and governmental institutions
dedicated to the delivery of health care, the education of health personnel, and the conduct of health-related research.

13



Population

DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC INFORMATION

Source: Wisconsin Department of Administration, Demographic Services Center.

Per Tax Return Adjusted Gross Income

2005
2004
2003
2002
2001

Source: Wisconsin Department of Revenue, Division of Research and Analysis.

Unemployment Rate

October, 2006
October , 2005

Average, 2005
Average, 2004
Average, 2003
Average, 2002
Average, 2001

Source: Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development.

Building Permits

Milwaukee City of
County Franklin
Estimate, 2006 936,892 33,000
Estimate, 2005 938,995 32,548
Estimate, 2004 939,358 31,804
Estimate, 2003 941,301 31,467
Estimate, 2002 941,091 30,749
Census, 2000 940,164 29,494
State of Milwaukee City of
Wisconsin County Franklin
$45,357 $40,244 $60,000
43,512 38,350 58,216
42,474 37,459 56,755
40,719 36,370 55,928
40,847 37,111 54,510
State of Milwaukee City of
Wisconsin County Franklin
3.9% 5.3% 3.2%
3.8 5.3 3.2
4.7% 5.9% 3.8%
4.9 6.3 4.2
5.6 7.1 4.7
5.3 6.6 45
4.4 54 35
Number of
Valuation Permits
2006 as of 8/31 $79,671,677 316
2005 135,160,596 507
2004 88,938,852 558
2003 96,189,402 365
2002 145,807,004* 374

* Valuation includes large commercial building.

Source: City of Franklin.
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Largest Employers

Number of
Employer Type of Business Employees
Northwestern Mutual Insurance/investment firm 1,100
Franklin Public School District Education 541
Milwaukee County House of Corrections Government 450
General Automotive Manufacturing LLC Mfr. - Off-road engine components 400
Krones Inc. Mfr. - High-speed labeling machines & fillers 400
Waste Management of Wisconsin Solid waste/landfill services 340
Wal-Mart Retalil 280
City of Franklin Government 256
Conway Transport General Freight Trucking 250
Harley Davidson Motor Company Distribution Center 250
Source: Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development — WORKnet Large Employer Database and
2006 Wisconsin Manufacturers and Business Service Directories,
Largest Taxpayers
2006 2006
Assessed Equalized
Name Type of Business Valuation Valuation
Northwestern Mutual Insurance/investment firm $81,698,400 $82,224,800
Whitnall Pointe Apartments Apartments 20,329,800 20,460,800
Waste Management of Wisconsin Solid waste/landfill services 19,920,000 19,041,900
Manchester Oaks Apartments 19,249,100 19,373,100
Wal-Mart Retalil 19,187,400 19,311,000
Harley Davidson Motor Company Mfr. - Motorcycles 15,870,500 15,972,800
TP Mission Hills Apartments Apartments 15,820,200 15,922,100
Menard's Retail - Home Improvement 15,366,500 15,465,500
Lowe's Retail - Home Improvement 13,183,600 13,268,500
All-Glass Aquarium Company Inc. Manufacturer/Distributor of glass 13,080,300 13,164,600

Source: City of Franklin.

aquariums/wooden stands/lights
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TAX LEVIES, RATES AND COLLECTIONS

Personal property taxes, special assessments, special charges and special taxes must be paid to the town, city or village
treasurer in full by January 31. Real property taxes may be paid in full by January 31 or in installments with one-half of
the taxes paid by January 31, one quarter are paid by March 31 and the remainder is paid by May 31. Any amounts paid
after July 31 are paid to the county treasurer. The City of Franklin, which has adopted an installment payment plan,
settles with other taxing jurisdictions for collections through the preceding month on January 15, February 15 and the
15th day of each month following a month in which an installment payment is due. On or before August 20, the county
treasurer must settle in full with the underlying taxing districts for all unpaid real property taxes and special taxes. The
County Board may authorize its County Treasurer to also settle in full with the underlying taxing districts for all special
assessments and special charges. The county may then recover any tax delinquencies by enforcing the lien on the
property and retain any penalties or interest on the delinquencies for which it has settled. Since, in practice, all
delinquent real estate taxes are withheld from the county's share of taxes, the City receives 100 percent of the real
estate taxes it levies.

Set forth below are the taxes levied and the tax rate per $1,000 assessed value on all taxable property within the City.
The rates, tax levies and collections set forth are for the collection years 2003 through 2007:

Uncollected Personal Percent
Levy Collection City Tax City Property Taxes as of of Levy
Year Year Rate Levy August 20 of Each Year Collected
2006 2007 $5.57 $18,501,000 - To Be Collected -
2005 2006 6.83 17,566,000 $22,450 99.87%
2004 2005 6.95 16,899,300 53,237 99.68
2003* 2004 6.80 15,813,611 65,425 99.59
2002 2003 8.17 15,606,851 57,488 99.63

* Reflects City-wide reassessment.
LEVY LIMIT LEGISLATION

The State of Wisconsin's Budget Bill (2005 Act 25) was signed by the Governor on July 25, 2005, after the exercise of
numerous partial vetoes, and became effective on July 27, 2005. This legislation imposes a limit on property tax levies
by cities, villages, towns and counties for a two-year period. It provides that no city, village, town or county may increase
its tax levy in any year by a percentage that exceeds its valuation factor (which is defined as the percentage change in
the municipality's January 1 equalized value due to new construction less improvements removed, but not less than two
percent).

This levy limitation is an overall limit, applying to levies for operations as well as for other purposes. Special provisions
are made for general obligation debt service. With respect to obligations authorized before July 1, 2005, if the amount of
debt service in the preceding year is less than the amount of debt service needed in the current year, the levy limit is
increased by the difference between the two amounts. The Department of Revenue currently interprets this adjustment
to be based on scheduled debt service rather than the amount actually levied for debt service (after taking into account
offsetting revenues such as sales tax revenues, special assessments, utility revenues, tax increment revenues or surplus
funds). Therefore, the levy limit could negatively impact municipalities that experience a reduction in offsetting revenues.
The limits do not apply to debt service on general obligations authorized on or after July 1, 2005.

The Securities were authorized by adoption of a resolution after July 1, 2005.

In formulating its tax levy for 2007, the growth in new construction in the City and allowable debt service increase would
have allowed a tax levy increase of 9.8 percent, but the City’s tax levy was increased by only 5.3 percent.
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City of Franklin
School Districts:

Franklin

Oak Creek

Whitnall
Milwaukee Area Technical College
Milwaukee County
Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District
State

Gross Tax Rate:
Franklin Public School District
Oak Creek-Franklin Joint School District
Whitnall School District

Less: State Credit

Net Tax Rate:
Franklin Public School District
Oak Creek-Franklin Joint School District
Whitnall School District

Ratio of Assessed to
Equalized Valuation

Equalized Tax Rate:
Franklin Public School District

Oak Creek-Franklin Joint School District
Whitnall School District

* Reflects City-wide reassessment.

ASSESSED TAX RATES

Levy Years
2005 2004 2003* 2002 2001
$6.83 $6.95 $6.80 $8.17 $8.06
12.01 12.61 12.74 13.86 14.50
8.90 7.93 8.42 10.19 9.95
10.32 11.30 10.80 12.71 12.52
2.13 2.05 1.95 2.24 2.13
4.81 4.81 4.72 5.67 5.65
1.60 1.62 1.57 1.89 1.78
0.21 0.21 0.20 0.22 0.21
27.59 28.25 27.98 32.05 32.33
24.48 23.57 23.66 28.38 27.78
25.90 26.94 26.04 30.90 30.35
(1.40) (1.50) (1.55) (1.92) (1.99)
26.19 26.75 26.43 30.13 30.34
23.08 22.07 2211 26.46 25.79
24.50 25.44 24.49 28.98 28.36
88.71% 94.74% 101.13% 89.77% 95.28%
$23.23 $25.34 $26.73 $27.05 $28.91
$20.47 $20.91 $22.36 $23.75 $24.57
$21.73 $24.10 $24.77 $26.02 $27.02
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ASSESSED AND EQUALIZED VALUATIONS

All equalized valuations of property in the State of Wisconsin are determined by the State of Wisconsin, Department of
Revenue, Supervisor of Assessments Office. Equalized valuations are the State's estimate of full market value. The
State determines assessed valuations of all manufacturing property in the State. Assessed valuations of residential and
commercial property are determined by local assessors.

Set forth in the table below are the assessed and equalized valuations of property located within the City for the years
2002 through 2006. The City equalized valuation has increased by 56.62 percent since 2002 with an average annual

increase of 11.87 percent.

Assessed Equalized Valuation Equalized Valuation
Year Valuation (TID IN) (TID OUT)
2006 $3,459,469,540 $3,481,759,700 $3,335,807,600
2005 2,682,091,060 3,030,815,900 2,908,557,900
2004 2,540,818,170 2,681,945,500 2,566,348,500
2003* 2,427,882,640 2,400,765,500 2,298,454,900
2002 1,995,679,040 2,223,010,500 2,127,136,800

* Reflects City-wide reassessment.

The equalized valuation by class in the City for 2006 is as follows:

Real Estate
Residential
Commercial
Manufacturing

Agricultural, Undeveloped,

Forest, Other
Total Real Estate

Total Personal Property

Total

Tax Increment Districts

Amount

Percent of Total

$2,611,111,600
667,271,200
102,662,000

25,208,000

74.99%
19.16
2.95

0.72

3,406,252,800

75,506,900

97.83

2.17

$3,481,759,700

100.00%

The City has Tax Incremental Districts created under Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105 (formerly Section 66.46). TID
valuations totaling $145,952,100 have been excluded from the City's tax base for 2006.

City of Franklin Creation Date Base Value 2005 Value Increment
02 1993 $2,229,400 $134,350,200  $132,120,800
03 2005 117,768,200 130,689,300 12,921,100
04 2005 19,817,900 20,728,100 910,200
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Direct Indebtedness

INDEBTEDNESS OF THE CITY

Set forth below is the direct indebtedness of the City, including principal and interest payments due on existing debt (excluding maturities being refunded) as well as
debt service on the new issues. The interest on the Notes has been calculated using an average rate of 4.95 percent. Average life of the Notes is 5.854 years and
bond years are 58,536.11 years. The interest on the Bonds has been calculated using an average rate of 3.80 percent. Average life of the Bonds is 10.031 years
and bond years are 99,559.03 years.

Less: Total Projected
Outstanding Bonds & Notes New Issue - Notes New Issue — Bonds DebIcS)t:rlvice grf(f)sjgftf?]g Nsegraigt

Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Requirements Revenues* Requirements
2007 $2,350,000 $1,260,550 $327,250 $249,338 $4,187,138 ($2,071,739) $2,115,399
2008 2,925,000 1,146,931 $600,000 480,150 $100,000 375,250 5,627,331 (3,609,324) 2,018,008
2009 5,600,000 972,813 615,000 450,079 100,000 371,450 8,109,341 (6,191,655) 1,917,686
2010 5,925,000 738,738 625,000 419,389 100,000 367,650 8,175,776 (6,358,400) 1,817,377
2011 7,880,000 452,075 640,000 388,080 100,000 363,850 9,824,005 (8,066,913) 1,757,092
2012 1,300,000 264,225 655,000 356,029 720,000 348,270 3,643,524 (2,683,929) 959,595
2013 1,850,000 203,775 670,000 323,235 620,000 322,810 3,989,820 (3,027,735) 962,085
2014 2,100,000 126,750 6,195,000 153,326 570,000 300,200 9,445,276 (8,532,126) 913,150
2015 2,200,000 42,900 - - 520,000 279,490 3,042,390 (2,082,250) 960,140
2016 - -- - - 1,200,000 246,810 1,446,810 (498,000) 948,810
2017 -- - - -- 1,190,000 201,400 1,391,400 (498,000) 893,400
2018 - -- - - 1,180,000 156,370 1,336,370 (498,000) 838,370
2019 -- - - -- 1,200,000 111,150 1,311,150 (348,000) 963,150
2020 - -- - - 1,140,000 66,690 1,206,690 (348,000) 858,690
2021 - - - -- 1,185,000 22,515 1,207,515 (348,000) 859,515
Total $32,130,000 $5,208,756 $10,000,000 $2,897,538 $9,925,000 $3,783,243 $63,944,537 ($45,162,071) $18,782,466

* The above outstanding debt was issued as general obligation debt of the City; however tax increment revenues, special assessments and other revenues are projected to partially
offset the total debt service. The actual amount of these offsetting revenues is not guaranteed.



Other Debt
The following issues are not general obligations of the City:

= One Community Development Authority Taxable Redevelopment Lease Revenue Bond issue, Series 1998-A dated
July 1, 1998, totaling $2,320,000 in principal maturing 2007 and 2008.

= One Community Development Authority Redevelopment Lease Revenue Refunding Bond issue, Series 1998-B
dated July 1, 1998, totaling $2,875,000 in principal maturing 2007 and 2008.

Future Financing

The City does not anticipate the issuance of additional long-term debt within the next six months.

Overlapping and Underlying Indebtedness

Set forth below is information relating to the outstanding overlapping and underlying indebtedness of the City.

Amount of Debt Percent Outstanding Debt
(Net of 2006 Chargeable Chargeable

Name of Entity Principal Amounts) to City to City
Milwaukee County $462,057,472 5.50% $25,413,161
Milwaukee Area Technical College District 64,035,000 4.50 2,881,575
Franklin Public School District 19,550,000 100.00 19,550,000
Oak Creek-Franklin Joint School District 32,970,338 16.20 5,341,195
Whitnall School District 7,139,000 15.00 1,070,850
Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District 728,192,031 5.40 39,322,370

TOTAL $1,313,943,841 $93,579,150

Statistical Summary

Set forth in the following table is a statistical summary of certain information relating to the City.

2006 Equalized Valuation $3,481,759,700
Direct Bonded Indebtedness Including the New Issues but Excluding the Maturities to
be Refunded (Less 2006 Principal Amounts) $52,055,000
Direct, Overlapping and Underlying Bonded Indebtedness Including the New Issues

but Excluding the Maturities to be Refunded (Less 2006 Principal Amounts) $145,634,150
Direct Bonded Indebtedness as a Percentage of Equalized Valuation 1.50%

Direct, Overlapping and Underlying Bonded Indebtedness as a Percentage of

Equalized Valuation 4.18%
Population of City (2006 Estimate) 33,000
Direct Bonded Indebtedness Per Capita $1,577.42
Direct, Overlapping and Underlying Bonded Indebtedness Per Capita $4,413.16
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Debt Limit

As described under the caption "CONSTITUTIONAL STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS LIMITATIONS CONCERNING
THE CITY'S POWER TO INCUR INDEBTEDNESS--Debt Limit," the total indebtedness of the City may not exceed five
percent of the equalized value of property in the City. Set forth in the table below is a comparison of the outstanding
indebtedness of the City as a percentage of the applicable debt limit.

Equalized Valuation (2006) as certified by Wisconsin Department of Revenue $3,481,759,700
Legal Debt Percentage Allowed 5.00%
Legal Debt Limit $174,087,985
Direct Bonded Indebtedness Including the New Issues but Excluding the Maturities

to be Refunded (Less 2006 Principal Amounts) $52,055,000
Unused Margin of Indebtedness $122,032,985
Percent of Legal Debt Incurred 29.90%
Percentage of Legal Debt Available 70.10%

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The financial operations of the City are conducted through its general fund, library fund and capital equipment funds.
Most taxes and non-tax revenues (such as license fees, fines and costs and user's fees) are paid into the general fund
and current operating expenditures are made from the general fund pursuant to appropriations made by the Common
Council. Taxes levied for debt service are paid directly into the debt service fund and debt service expenditures are
made from that fund.

Budgeting Process

The City is required by State law to annually formulate a budget and to hold public hearings thereon prior to the
determination of the amounts to be financed in whole or in part by general property taxes, funds on hand or estimated
revenues from other sources. Such budget must list existing indebtedness of the City and all anticipated revenue from
all sources during the ensuing year and must also list all proposed appropriations for each department, activity and
reserve account of the City during the ensuing year. The budget must show actual revenues and expenditures for the
preceding year, actual revenues and expenditures for not less than the first six months of the current year and estimated
revenues and expenditures for the balance of the current year.

As part of the budgeting process, public hearings are held on the proposed budget, at which time any resident or
taxpayer in the City may be heard. At an annual meeting in November of each year, the Common Council adopts the
final budget for the succeeding year and levies taxes based on assessed valuations of property less any increment
attributable to Tax Increment Districts. The amount of taxes so levied and the amounts of the various appropriations in
the final budget (after any alterations made pursuant to public hearings) may not be changed unless authorized by a vote
of two-thirds of the entire membership of the Common Council. Failure to publish notice of any such alteration within ten
days thereafter shall preclude any change in the budget.

Financial Records

The City maintains its financial records on a calendar year basis. Appendix A hereto sets forth the General Fund
financial statements of the City for the year ended December 31, 2005, which have been examined by Virchow, Krause
& Company, LLP, Certified Public Accountants & Consultants, Milwaukee, Wisconsin. The City did not ask Virchow,
Krause & Company, LLP to perform any additional review in connection with this Official Statement.
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GENERAL FUND SUMMARY
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31

Revenues
Taxes
Intergovernmental revenue
Licenses and permits
Fines, forfeitures and penalties
Public charges for services
Intergovernmental charges for services
Interdepartmental charges for services
Investment earnings
Miscellaneous revenue

Total revenues

Expenditures
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health and human services
Culture, recreation and education
Conservation and development
Total Expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)
Operating transfers in
Operating transfers (out)

Net other financing sources (uses)

Revenues and other sources over
(under) expenditures and other uses

Fund balances - beginning of year
Fund balances - end of year

2007
ADOPTED 2006 2005 2004 2003
BUDGET ESTIMATED ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL
$14,808,000 $14,005,000  $12,668,469 $11,711,134 $11,051,639
2,554,000 2,698,109 2,581,477 2,641,983 2,930,916
1,284,500 1,362,045 1,486,966 1,258,457 1,030,984
400,000 325,000 361,656 397,169 362,638
1,435,600 1,487,471 1,398,810 1,607,075 1,682,030
572,000 572,000 591,834 575,009 628,953
654,500 604,500 425,444 177,420 276,385
110,400 114,750 149,013 136,127 118,663
21,819,000 21,168,875 19,663,669 18,504,374 18,082,208
3,081,167 2,488,230 2,314,862 2,262,025 2,293,560
14,249,902 13,350,919 12,668,899 12,102,357 11,237,842
4,218,372 4,062,661 3,746,773 3,580,392 3,395,468
583,115 552,125 455,963 468,087 494,215
201,520 176,533 152,797 134,440 130,067
534,924 485,945 491,582 374,864 428,151
22,869,000 21,116,413 19,830,876 18,922,165 17,979,303
(1,050,000) 52,462 (167,207) (417,791) 102,905
- - 777,829 634,462 462,500
- - (424,400) (40,073) (6,982)
0 0 353,429 594,389 455,518
($1,050,000) 52,462 186,222 176,598 558,423
6,521,522 6,469,060 6,282,838 6,106,240 5,547,817
$5,471,522 $6,521,522 $6,469,060 $6,282,838 $6,106,240

The amounts shown for the years ended December 31, 2003 through 2005 are excerpts from the audit reports that have
been examined by Virchow, Krause & Company, LLP, Certified Public Accountants & Consultants, Milwaukee, Wisconsin.
The amounts shown for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 are shown on a budgetary basis. The comparative
statement of revenues, expenditures and encumbrances should be read in conjunction with the other financial statements
and Notes thereto appearing at Appendix A to this Official Statement. The Auditor was not asked to perform any additional
review in connection with this Official Statement.
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UNDERWRITING

The Notes have been purchased at a public sale by Morgan Keegan & Company, Inc., Memphis, Tennessee (the
“Underwriter for the Notes”). The Bonds have been purchased at a public sale by Stifel Nicolaus & Co. Incorporated,
Minneapolis, Minnesota (the “Underwriter for the Bonds”) (collectively the “Underwriters”).

The Underwriters intend to offer the Securities to the public initially at the prices which produce the yields set forth on the
first page of this Official Statement plus accrued interest from January 3, 2007, if any, which prices may subsequently
change without any requirement of prior notice. The Underwriters reserve the right to join with dealers and other
underwriters in offering the Securities to the public. The Underwriters may offer and sell the Securities to certain dealers
(including dealers depositing the Securities into investment trusts) at prices lower than the public offering prices. In
connection with this offering, the Underwriters may over allocate or effect transactions which stabilize or maintain the
market price of the Securities at a level above that which might otherwise prevail in the open market. Such stabilizing, if
commenced, may be discontinued at any time.

The reoffering yields shown on the cover of this Official Statement have been provided by the Underwriters, and not by
the Issuer.

THE MBIA INSURANCE CORPORATION INSURANCE POLICY

The following information has been furnished by MBIA Insurance Corporation ("MBIA") for use in this Official Statement.
Reference is made to Appendix C for a specimen of MBIA's policy (the “Policy”).

MBIA does not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement or any information or
disclosure contained herein, or omitted herefrom, other than with respect to the accuracy of the information regarding the
Policy and MBIA set forth under the heading “THE MBIA INSURANCE CORPORATION INSURANCE POLICY™.
Additionally, MBIA makes no representation regarding the Bonds or the advisability of investing in the Bonds.

The MBIA Policy unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees the full and complete payment required to be made by or on
behalf of the City to the Paying Agent or its successor of an amount equal to (i) the principal of (either at the stated
maturity or by an advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment) and interest on, the Bonds as
such payments shall become due but shall not be so paid (except that in the event of any acceleration of the due date of
such principal by reason of mandatory or optional redemption or acceleration resulting from default or otherwise, other
than any advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment, the payments guaranteed by the
MBIA Policy shall be made in such amounts and at such times as such payments of principal would have been due had
there not been any such acceleration, unless MBIA elects in its sole discretion, to pay in whole or in part any principal
due by reason of such acceleration); and (ii) the reimbursement of any such payment which is subsequently recovered
from any Owner of the Bonds pursuant to a final judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction that such payment
constitutes an avoidable preference to such Owner within the meaning of any applicable bankruptcy law (a “Preference”).

MBIA's Policy does not insure against loss of any prepayment premium which may at any time be payable with respect
to any Bonds. MBIA's Policy does not, under any circumstance, insure against loss relating to: (i) optional or mandatory
redemptions (other than mandatory sinking fund redemptions); (ii) any payments to be made on an accelerated basis;
(iii) payments of the purchase price of Bonds upon tender by an owner thereof; or (iv) any Preference relating to (i)
through (iii) above. MBIA's Policy also does not insure against nonpayment of principal of or interest on the Bonds
resulting from the insolvency, negligence or any other act or omission of the Paying Agent or any other paying agent for
the Bonds.

Upon receipt of telephonic or telegraphic notice, such notice subsequently confirmed in writing by registered or certified
mail, or upon receipt of written notice by registered or certified mail, by MBIA from the Paying Agent or any owner of a
Bond the payment of an insured amount for which is then due, that such required payment has not been made, MBIA on
the due date of such payment or within one business day after receipt of notice of such nonpayment, whichever is later,
will make a deposit of funds, in an account with U.S. Bank Trust National Association, in New York, New York, or its
successor, sufficient for the payment of any such insured amounts which are then due. Upon presentment and
surrender of such Bonds or presentment of such other proof of ownership of the Bonds, together with any appropriate
instruments of assignment to evidence the assignment of the insured amounts due on the Bonds as are paid by MBIA,
and appropriate instruments to effect the appointment of MBIA as agent for such owners of the Bonds in any legal
proceeding related to payment of insured amounts on the Bonds, such instruments being in a form satisfactory to U.S.
Bank Trust National Association, U.S. Bank Trust National Association shall disburse to such owners or the Paying
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Agent payment of the insured amounts due on such Bonds, less any amount held by the Paying Agent for the payment
of such insured amounts and legally available therefor.

MBIA Insurance Corporation

MBIA Insurance Corporation (“MBIA”) is the principal operating subsidiary of MBIA Inc., a New York Stock Exchange
listed company (the “Company”). The Company is not obligated to pay the debts of or claims against MBIA. MBIA is
domiciled in the State of New York and licensed to do business in and subject to regulation under the laws of all 50
states, the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands,
the Virgin Islands of the United States and the Territory of Guam. MBIA, either directly or through subsidiaries, is
licensed to do business in the Republic of France, the United Kingdom and the Kingdom of Spain and is subject to
regulation under the laws of those jurisdictions.

The principal executive offices of MBIA are located at 113 King Street, Armonk, New York 10504 and the main telephone
number at that address is (914) 273-4545.

Regulation

As a financial guaranty insurance company licensed to do business in the State of New York, MBIA is subject to the New
York Insurance Law which, among other things, prescribes minimum capital requirements and contingency reserves
against liabilities for MBIA, limits the classes and concentrations of investments that are made by MBIA and requires the
approval of policy rates and forms that are employed by MBIA. State law also regulates the amount of both the
aggregate and individual risks that may be insured by MBIA, the payment of dividends by MBIA, changes in control with
respect to MBIA and transactions among MBIA and its affiliates.

The Policy is not covered by the Property/Casualty Insurance Security Fund specified in Article 76 of the New York
Insurance Law.

Financial Strength Ratings of MBIA

Moody's Investors Service, Inc. rates the financial strength of MBIA “Aaa.”

Standard & Poor's, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. rates the financial strength of MBIA “AAA.”

Fitch Ratings rates the financial strength of MBIA “AAA.”
Each rating of MBIA should be evaluated independently. The ratings reflect the respective rating agency's current
assessment of the creditworthiness of MBIA and its ability to pay claims on its policies of insurance. Any further
explanation as to the significance of the above ratings may be obtained only from the applicable rating agency.
The above ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold the Bonds, and such ratings may be subject to revision
or withdrawal at any time by the rating agencies. Any downward revision or withdrawal of any of the above ratings may
have an adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds. MBIA does not guaranty the market price of the Bonds nor

does it guaranty that the ratings on the Bonds will not be revised or withdrawn.

MBIA Financial Information

As of December 31, 2005, MBIA had admitted assets of $11.0 billion (audited), total liabilities of $7.2 billion (audited),
and total capital and surplus of $3.8 billion (audited), each as determined in accordance with statutory accounting
practices prescribed or permitted by insurance regulatory authorities. As of September 30, 2006, MBIA had admitted
assets of $11.5 billion (unaudited), total liabilities of $6.9 billion (unaudited), and total capital and surplus of $4.4 billion
(unaudited), each as determined in accordance with statutory accounting practices prescribed or permitted by insurance
regulatory authorities.

For further information concerning MBIA, see the consolidated financial statements of MBIA and its subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005,
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of
the Company for the year ended December 31, 2005 and the consolidated financial statements of MBIA and its
subsidiaries as of September 30, 2006 and for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2006 and September 30,
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2005 included in the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the period ended September 30, 2006, which
are hereby incorporated by reference into this Official Statement and shall be deemed to be a part hereof.

Copies of the statutory financial statements filed by MBIA with the State of New York Insurance Department are
available over the Internet at the Company’s web site at http://www.mbia.com and at no cost, upon request to MBIA at its
principal executive offices.

Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference

The following documents filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) are
incorporated by reference into this Official Statement:

(1) The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005; and
(2) The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006.

Any documents, including any financial statements of MBIA and its subsidiaries that are included therein or attached as
exhibits thereto, filed by the Company pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act after the date
of the Company’s most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or Annual Report on Form 10-K, and prior to the
termination of the offering of the Bonds offered hereby shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in this Official
Statement and to be a part hereof from the respective dates of filing such documents. Any statement contained in a
document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein, or contained in this Official Statement, shall
be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this Official Statement to the extent that a statement contained
herein or in any other subsequently filed document which also is or is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein
modifies or supersedes such statement. Any such statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as
so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this Official Statement.

The Company files annual, quarterly and special reports, information statements and other information with the SEC
under File No. 1-9583. Copies of the Company’s SEC filings (including (1) the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2005, and (2) the Company’s Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended
March 31, 2006, June 30, 2006 and September 30, 2006 are available (i) over the Internet at the SEC’s web site at
http://www.sec.gov; (ii) at the SEC’s public reference room in Washington, D.C. (iii) over the Internet at the Company’s
web site at http://www.mbia.com; and (iv) at no cost, upon request to MBIA at its principal executive offices.

RATINGS
Moody's Investors Service, Inc. has assigned its municipal bond rating of “Aa2” to the Notes.

Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. has assigned its municipal bond rating of “Aaa” to the Bonds with the understanding that
upon delivery of the Bonds, a policy insuring the payment when due of the principal of and interest on the Bonds will be
issued by MBIA Insurance Corporation.

Such ratings reflect only the views of such organization and explanations of the significance of such ratings may be
obtained from the rating agency furnishing the same. There is no assurance that such ratings will continue for any given
period of time or that they will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by such rating agency, if in the judgment of
such rating agency circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of such rating may have an
adverse effect on the market price of the Securities.

TAX STATUS
The Notes

Interest on the Notes is included in gross income for federal income tax purposes.

Interest on the Notes is not exempt from present Wisconsin income or franchise taxes.
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The Bonds

Quarles & Brady LLP, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, Bond Counsel, will deliver a legal opinion with respect to the federal
income tax exemption applicable to the interest on the Bonds under existing law substantially in the following form:

"The interest on the Bonds is excludable for federal income tax purposes from the gross income of the owners
of the Bonds. The interest on the Bonds is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative
minimum tax imposed by Section 55 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") on
corporations (as that term is defined for federal income tax purposes) and individuals. However, for purposes
of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed on corporations, the interest on the Bonds is included in
adjusted current earnings. The Code contains requirements that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance
of the Bonds in order for interest on the Bonds to be or continue to be excludable from gross income for
federal income tax purposes. Failure to comply with certain of those requirements could cause the interest on
the Bonds to be included in gross income retroactively to the date of issuance of the Bonds. The Issuer has
agreed to comply with all of those requirements. The opinion set forth in the first sentence of this paragraph is
subject to the condition that the Issuer comply with those requirements. We express no opinion regarding
other federal tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds."

The interest on the Bonds is not exempt from present Wisconsin income or franchise taxes.

Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should be aware that ownership of the Bonds may result in collateral federal
income tax consequences to certain taxpayers. Bond Counsel will not express any opinion as to such collateral tax
consequences. Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should consult their tax advisors as to collateral federal income tax
consequences.

From time to time, legislation is proposed which, if enacted, could alter one or more of the federal tax matters referred to
above or would adversely affect the market value of the Bonds. It cannot be predicted whether or in what form any of
such proposals may be enacted and whether, if enacted, such proposals will apply to obligations (such as the Bonds)
issued prior to enactment.

Original Issue Discount

For federal income tax purposes, the Bonds maturing March 1, 2020 through March 1, 2021, inclusive (the "Discount
Bonds") have "original issue discount” equal to the difference between the respective "issue price" of each such maturity
and the principal amount payable upon the maturity date of each such maturity. With respect to each maturity of the
Discount Bonds, the issue price for such Discount Bonds will be the initial public offering price as set forth on, or derived
from the yield set forth on, the cover page of this Official Statement (assuming it is the first price to the public at which a
substantial amount of such Discount Bonds are sold) and the issue date will be the date on which such Discount Bonds
are first issued to the public.

Under existing law, the original issue discount on a Discount Bond accrued in the hands of an owner is treated for
federal income tax purposes as interest which is excludable from gross income under Section 103 of the Code,
assuming compliance with the terms of the Bond Resolution.

The original issue discount on each of the Discount Bonds is treated as accruing daily from the issue date of such
Discount Bonds until its stated maturity date on the basis of a constant interest rate compounded at the end of each six-
month period (or shorter period from the date of original issue) ending September 1 and March 1 (with straight line
interpolation between the compounding dates).

The owner's basis for determining gain or loss on a sale, maturity or other disposition of a Discount Bond generally will
equal the owner's cost, increased by an original issue discount that accrues during the period that the Discount Bond is
held by such owner. Generally, any gain or loss recognized by an owner on a sale, exchange or payment at maturity of
a Discount Bond (based on the owner's basis) will be taxable as capital gain or loss (assuming the Discount Bond is held
as a capital asset). An owner will recognize a taxable gain on a Discount Bond redeemed prior to maturity on the
difference between the owner's basis and the call price of the Discount Bonds. Owners of Discount Bonds should
consult their own tax advisors with respect to the computation for federal income tax purposes of the amounts of original
issue discount which accrue during the period in which such Discount Bonds are held. As described above regarding
tax-exempt interest, all or a portion of the original issue discount that accrues in each year to an owner of a Discount
Bond may result in certain collateral federal income tax consequences. In the case of a corporation, such portion of the
original issue discount will be included in the calculation of the corporation's alternative minimum tax liability and the
environmental tax liability. Corporate owners of any Discount Bonds should be aware that the accrual on original issue
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discount in each year may result in an alternative minimum tax liability or an environmental tax liability although the
owners of such Discount Bonds will not receive a corresponding cash payment until a later year.

Designation As Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations

The Issuer will designate the Bonds as "qualified tax-exempt obligations” for purposes of Section 265 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986 relating to the ability of financial institutions to deduct from income for federal income tax
purposes, interest expense that is allocable to carrying and acquiring tax-exempt obligations.

UNDERTAKING TO PROVIDE CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

In order to assist the Underwriters in complying with SEC Rule 15¢2-12 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange
Commission, pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Rule"), the Issuer shall covenant pursuant to Award
Resolutions adopted by the Governing Body to enter into an undertaking (the "Undertaking") for the benefit of holders
including beneficial holders of the Securities to provide certain financial information and operating data relating to the
Issuer to certain information repositories annually, and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain events enumerated
in the Rule to certain information repositories or the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board and to any state information
depository. The details and terms of the Undertaking, as well as the information to be contained in the annual report or
the notices of material events, are set forth in the Continuing Disclosure Certificates to be executed and delivered by the
Issuer at the time the Securities are delivered. Such Certificates will be in substantially the form attached hereto as
Appendix B. The Issuer has never failed to comply in all material respects with any previous undertakings under the
Rule to provide annual reports or notices of material events. A failure by the Issuer to comply with the Undertaking will
not constitute an event of default on the Securities (although holders will have the right to obtain specific performance of
the obligations under the Undertaking). Nevertheless, such a failure must be reported in accordance with the Rule and
must be considered by any broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer before recommending the purchase or sale of
the Securities in the secondary market. Consequently, such a failure may adversely affect the transferability and liquidity
of the Securities and their market price.

BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the Securities. The
Securities will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC'’s partnership nominee)
or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered Note certificate
will be issued for each maturity of the Securities, in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be
deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world’s largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a
“banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a
“clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered
pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset
servicing for over 2.2 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money
market instruments from over 100 countries that DTC's participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also
facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited
securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts.
This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-
U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC, in turn, is owned by a
number of Direct Participants of DTC and Members of the National Securities Clearing Corporation, Fixed Income
Clearing Corporation, and Emerging Markets Clearing Corporation, (NSCC, FICC, and EMCC, also subsidiaries of
DTCC), as well as by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange LLC, and the National
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-
U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a
custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). DTC has Standard &
Poor’s highest rating: AAA. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com and www.dtc.org.

Purchases of Securities under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a
credit for the Securities on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Note (“Beneficial
Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive
written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written
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confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or
Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in
the Securities are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf
of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Securities,
except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Securities is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Securities deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of
DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of
DTC. The deposit of Securities with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee
do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the
Securities; DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Securities are
credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible
for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect
Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements
among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

Redemption notices shall be sentto DTC. If less than all of the securities within an issue are being redeemed, DTC's
practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Securities unless
authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an
Omnibus Proxy to Issuer as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s
consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Securities are credited on the record date
(identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Securities will be made to Cede & Co., or such other
nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC'’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’
accounts upon DTC's receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from Issuer or Agent, on payable date in
accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC'’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will
be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of
customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC,
Agent, or Issuer, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of
redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested
by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of Issuer or Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct
Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the
responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Securities at any time by giving reasonable
notice to Issuer or Agent. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not obtained, Note
certificates are required to be printed and delivered.

Issuer may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor securities
depository). In that event, Note certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC'’s book-entry system has been obtained from sources that
Issuer believes to be reliable, but Issuer takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

LITIGATION
There is no controversy or litigation of any nature now pending or, to the knowledge of the City of Franklin, threatened,

restraining or enjoining the issuance, sale, execution or delivery of the Securities, or in any way contesting or affecting
the validity of the Securities or any proceedings of the City taken with respect to the issuance or sale thereof.
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MATHEMATICAL VERIFICATION

Grant Thornton LLP, Minneapolis, Minnesota, a firm of independent certified public accountants, upon delivery of the
Bonds, will deliver to the City of Franklin its attestation report indicating that it has examined, in accordance with
standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the mathematical accuracy of
computations prepared by Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated relating to (a) the sufficiency of the anticipated receipts
from the U.S. Treasury Obligations, together with the initial cash deposit, if any, to pay, when due, the principal, interest
and early redemption premium requirements, if any, of the refunded bonds, and (b) the "yield" on the U.S. Treasury
Obligations and on the Bonds.

The report of Grant Thornton LLP will include the statement that the scope of their engagement was limited to verifying
the mathematical accuracy of the computations contained in such schedules provided to them and that they have no
obligation to update their report because of events occurring, or data or information coming to their attention, subsequent
to the date of their report.

LEGAL MATTERS

Legal matters incident to the authorization and issuance of the Securities are subject to the unqualified approving legal
opinions of Quarles & Brady LLP, Bond Counsel. Such opinions will be issued on the basis of the law existing at the
time of the issuance of the Securities. A copy of such opinions will accompany the Securities and will be available at the
time of the delivery of the Securities. In compliance with the provisions of Treasury Circular 230, the opinion of Quarles
& Brady LLP, with respect to the Notes, will provide that it is not intended to be used, and cannot be used, to avoid
federal tax penalties.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

Robert W. Baird & Co., Milwaukee, Wisconsin has acted as Financial Advisor to the City of Franklin in connection with
the issuance of the Securities.

MISCELLANEOUS

Any statement made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or of estimates, whether or not so expressly
stated, are set forth as such and not as representations of fact, and no representation is made that any of the estimates
will be realized.

Bond Counsel has not assumed responsibility for this Official Statement or participated in its preparation (except with
respect to the section entitled “Tax Status” and the information in Appendix B) and has not performed any investigation
as to its accuracy, completeness or sufficiency. The execution and delivery of this Official Statement by its City Clerk
has been duly authorized by the City.

In accordance with SEC Rule 15¢2-12, the Preliminary Official Statement is deemed final except for the omission of
certain information described in the rule.

AUTHORIZATION

This Official Statement has been approved for distribution to prospective purchasers and the Underwriter of the City of
Franklin, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, $10,000,000 Taxable General Obligation Promissory Notes and $9,925,000
General Obligation Refunding Bonds dated January 3, 2007.

The City, acting through its City Clerk, will provide to the Underwriter of the above Securities at the time of delivery of
the Securities, a certificate confirming to the Underwriter that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, the Official
Statement with respect to the Securities, together with any supplements thereto, at the time of acceptance of the
adoption of the Award Resolution and at the time of delivery of the Securities, was true and correct in all material
respect and did not at any time contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to
be stated, where necessary to make the statements in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading.

CITY OF FRANKLIN

By /s/ Sandra L. Wesolowski
City Clerk
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APPENDIX A

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND RELATED NOTES

CITY OF FRANKLIN

MILWAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN

For year ended December 31, 2005

Virchow, Krause & Company, LLP
Certified Public Accountants & Consultants
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

The Auditor was not asked to perform any additional review
in connection with this Official Statement.



fWlarch 18, 2006

Honorable Mayor, Common Council members
and Citizens of Franklin:

Introduction

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the City of Franklin, Wisconsin for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2005, is hereby submitted. State law requires that all general
purpose locat governments with a population over 25,000 publish within six months of the
end of the fiscal year a complete set of financial statements presented in conformity with
general accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and audited in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards by a firm of licensed certified public accountants.

This report consists of management's representations concerning the finances of the City of
Franklin (City). Consequently, management assumes full responsibllity for the completeness
and reliability of all of the information presented in this report. To provide a reasonable basis
for making these representations, management of the City has established a
comprehensive internal contro! framework that is designed both to protect the government’s
assets from loss, theft, or misuse and to compile sufficient reliable information for the
preparation of the City's financial statements in conformity with GAAP. Because the cost of
internal controls should not outweigh the benefits, the City's comprehensive framework of
internal controls has besn designed to provide reasonable rather than absolute assurance
that the financial statements will be free from material misstatement. As management, we
assert that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and
reliable in all material respects.

The City's financial statements have been audited by Virchow, Krause & Company, LLP, a
firm of licensed public accountants. The goal of the independent audit was to provide
reasonable assurance that the financial statements of the City for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2005, are free of material misstatement. The independent audit involved
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements; assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management; and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. The independent
auditor concluded, based upon the audit, that there was reasonable basis for rendering an
unqualified opinion that the City's financlal statements for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2008, are fairly presented in conformity with GAAP. The independent auditor's report is
presented as the first component of the financial section of this report.

GAAP requires that management provide a narrative introduction, overview and analysis to
accompany the basic financial statements in the form of Management's Discussion and
Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to complemant the MD&A and should
be read in conjunction with it. The City's MD&A can be found immediately following the
report of the independent auditors.
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City Profile

The Cily, incorporated in 1958, is located in the southwestern corner of Milwaukee County.
The Cily is 34.5 square miles is size and has a population of 32,548. Over the last ten
years the City has experienced an average annua) population increase of 2.4% per year. It
is a residential community with a growing commercial and industrial base. It is generally
considered to be one of the more desirable communities in the Milwaukee metropolitan area
in which to live and work. The City provides a typical range of municipal services for a
suburban community including police and fire protection; emergency medical/paramedic,
health and sanitary services; building inspection and zoning control; and street, sanitary and
storm sewer, and water consiruction and maintenance. The City is empowered to levy a
property tax on both real and personal property located within its boundaries.

The City operates under the mayor/council form of government. Policy making and
legislative authority are vested in a governing council consisting of the mayor and six other
members. The governing council is responsible, among other things, for passing
ordinances, adopting the budget, appointing committees and hiring a city attorney. The
City’s mayor is responsible for carrying out the policies and ordinances of the governing
councll, for overseeing the day-to-day operations of the government and for appointing the
heads of the various departments. The councll is elected, by district, on a non-partisan
basls. The Mayor and Council members serve staggered three-year terms. The City is
organized into departments, headed by thirteen officials appointed by the Mayor or Director
of Administration and confirmed by the Common Council. Numerous boards, commissions
and committees allow for citizen involvement in government by providing a forum for policy
Input to the Council and guidance to the departments.

The City provides a full range of services, including police, fire protection and emergency
medical services; street construction, maintenance of highways, streets and other
infrastructure; recreational and cultural activities and sanitation services. Library service is
provided through a separate Library Board that functions like a department of the City and
engages the Library Director. Water service Is provided through a separate Water Utility
that functions like a department of the City. These two areas therefore have been included
as an integral part of the City’s financial statements. The City also s financially accountable
for a legally separate Community Development Authority (Authority). The Authority was
established to finance and construct a City Business Park located within the City of Franklin
Tax Incremental Financing District No. Il. The Authority's activities are reported within the
City's financial statements. Additional information on the Autherity can be found in Note 1 in
the notes to the financial statements.

The budgetary procass serves as the foundation of the City’s financial planning and controt
system. The preparation of a forecast for the existing programs for the following year is
prepared by the end of May. Departmental requests for personnel changes and new capital
outlay expenditures are made by the end of June, The Mayor then reviews the forecast
including recommended personnel and capital outlay expendilures and deterrnines by mid
July the personnel and capital outlay expenditures that will be included in the initial
deparimental requested budgets. The departments take this information and submit their
requested budgets by mid August. The budgets are reviewed and the Mayor submits his
requested budget by mid September. The Council through its Finance Commitiee reviews
the requested budgets and submits a proposed budget to the Council by mid Oclober, The
Council is required to hold a public hearing on the proposed budget, usually at the
beginning of November, and then adopts a final budget in early November. The adopted
budget is prepared by fund, function (e.g. Public Safety), and department (e.g. Palice).
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Mayor, Common Council and Cilizens
March 18, 2006

Transfers of appropriations require the approval of the governing council. Budget-to-actual
comparisons are provided in this report for each fund with an adopted budget. The General
Fund comparison is presented in Exhibit F as part of the basic financial statements for the
government funds and in Schedules 3 & 4 of the supplementary information. For
governmental funds, other than the General Fund, with adopted budgets this comparison is
presented in the supplementary information section of this report.

The information presented in the financial statements is perhaps best understood when
considered from the broader perspective of the environment within that the City operates.

Economic Condition and Outlook

The pace of growth in Frankiin in 2005 continued to be excellent. Both the residential sector
and the non-residential sectors contributed. The 458 units of new residential construction
was the second largest tolal in the last ten years. The value of non-residential permits was
also the second largest in the last ten years. Future prospects for residential, commercial
and industrial development continues to remaining positive.

Estimated Actual property values have grown at an average annual rate of 9.7% since
1895, For the first time the growth in the City was in excess of $113 million. That growth has
allowed the City to maintain a relatively low municipal tax rate while still funding the
increased cost of services required as a result of the City’s growth. The City also benefits
from the ecanomy in the Mitwaukee metropolitan area.

Difficulty in budgeting at the State level resuited in cutbacks to local and schools budgets.
The City was able to adjust its budget to compensate and was able to limit the tax rate
increase to 1.89%. Overall tax rates ranged from -0.2% to 3.9% depending upon the school
or sewer district of a property.

For the next two years the state budget has imposed levy limits upon local governments.
The Gity of Frankiin has been able to meet those limits for 2006 without layoffs to existing
staff and hope that layoffs will not be necessary in 2007 the second year of the levy limits.

Residential Growth

Over the past len years, residential valuation has grown at an average annual rate of 8.9%.
In 2005 permits for 458 new equivalent residential units were issued. While there was a
decrease from the prior year the value of the related residential construction increased by
15.4%. Increased growth from new construction is expected to continue as new
subdivisions open. Overall, the City remains attractive to builders and potential residents.

Commercial and Industrial Growth

Over the past ten years, commercial and industrial valuation has grown at an average
annual rate of 13.3%. In 2005, 49 building permits were issued for commercial and
industrial projects. The value of those projects decreased by 4.3% from the 2004 activity
due a the completion of a large commercial project in 2004,

The City's Business Park sold four parcels of land in 2005 bringing the total acres sold to
91.2% of available land. The total incremental value of the Business Park, which comprises
the City’s TIF District No. 2, exceeded $122 million equalized value at January 1, 2005. This
value and the projected increases should generate sufficient tax increment to repay the
existing TIF District debt two years prior to the last scheduled principal repayment in 2013.
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Mayor, Common Council and Citizens
March 18, 2006

Based on preliminary projections, when the TIF District No. 2 is closed out {curmentiy
expected to be in 2011), over $150 million of additional vaiue is expected to be added to the
general tax rolls.

Anticipated residential growth will continue to place demands on the commercial sector for
goods and services that, in turn, is expsected to continue the trend of commercial growth.
Expansion of the commercial and industrial tax base is a goal of the City with respect to the
overall tax rate, as 75% of the Clty's property value is currently residential. Future tax relief
will need to come from industrial and commercial tax base expansion.

Organizational and Service Growth

The year 2005 was a year of transition for the City. A new Mayor, Police Chief and Clty
Development Director settled into their new roles. The City initiated two new TIF Districts to
respond to growth opportunities in the northeast and southeast porfions of the City.

The challenge for the operating departments in 2005 was to maintain the service levels at a
time of limited revenues to the City and a growth of 4.9% in new properties. Limited tax
growth did not provide resources to expand services. However, no employment cutbacks
were necessary.

2005 was not a City-wide property re-assessment year. The last re-assessment was done
in 2003. Performing revaluations on a regular basis is in line with the Common Council's
past policy decision to increase the frequency of assessment re-determinations in order to
kesp property values more in line with current market values. The State determined that
the local assessments were 88.7% of fair value.

With the growth of the community, planning and zoning issues continued to receive much
attention. To be sure that new development pays its fair share of the infrastructure costs
the impact fees are charged for new development, The expansion and development of
parks also continue to receive-attention. The Parks Commission is beginning to implement
the Comprehensive Qutdoar. Recreation Plan that has been develcped. The Health
Department increased its outreach to the local schools and continued offering
immunizations at businesses in the Business and Industrial Parks, Including Hepatitis B
vaccines.

Grant Controls .

As a recipient of federal and state financial assistance, the City also is responsible for
ensuring that an adegquate internal control structure is in place to ensure compliance with
laws and regulations applicable to those programs. This internal control structure is subject
to periodic evaluation by management. The results of the City's audit for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005 provided no instances of matetial weaknesses in the Internal
control structure or significant violations of applicable laws or reguiations. If the level of
grant expenditures exceeds an established level, currently $500,000, a single audit of
grants is required. The City was not required to have a single audit of grants for 2005.

Budgeting Gontrols X

The City maintains budgetary -controls. The objective of these contrels is to ensure
compliance with legal provisions, embodied in the annual appropriated budget approved by
the Cornmon Council. Activilies of the General Fund, Library Fund, Sanitary Sewer Fund,
Debt Service Fund, Capital Qutlay Fund, Capital Improvement Fund, Equiprnent
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March 18, 2006

Replacement Fund and Street improvement Fund are included in the annual appropriated
budget, The legal level for budgetary control is at the function level (e.g. public safety)
within individual funds. The legal level of control is defined as the level at which
expenditures cannot legally exceed the appropriatgd amount without a resolution approved
by Common Council. Any unencumbered appropriations lapse at year end.

Cash Managemsnt

Temporary idle cash Is pooled and invested in demand deposits, savings deposits and the
State of Wisconsin Local Government Investment Pool. Longer term cash reserves are
invested by an investment manager in commercial paper, U.S, Treasury notes, Government
Agency instruments, corporate notes and U.S, Treasury money market funds, Interest
income from these programs are allocated o the various funds based on their respective
balances of the pooled investments,

Risk Management

The City is exposed to a wide variety of risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or
destructlon of assets; errors and omissions; workers compensation; and health care for its
employees. Third-party insurance is maintained for workers’ compensation, property, liability
and all other potential losses. The Cily offers full time and some part time employees a
group health and dental plan, which is self-insured by the City. The risk of this plan is
reduced through the purchase.of an excess loss health insurance policy with a 2005
deductible of $50,000 per covered participant.

Pension and Other Post employment benefits

The City provides pension benefits to its employees. The public works, sewer and water
and maintenance employees are covered by a single employer defined benefit pension
plan. The Police and Fire employees are covered by the Wisconsin Retirement Systemn
pension program and the remainder of eligible employees are covered by a defined
contribution pension plan, In addition to pensions, the City also provides postretirement
heaith and dental care benefits for certain retirees and their dependants. As of the end of
the current fiscal year there were 18 retired employees receiving some type of
postretirement benefits, The benefits are financed on a pay-as-you-go basis. GAAP does
not currently require governments to report a liability in the financial statementis in
connection with an employer's obligation to provide these benefits. In 2004, the Government
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) adopted Statement No. 45, Accounting for post
employment benefits. The effective date for the implementaticn of GASB No. 45 for the City
is January 1, 2008, This new standard will require the City 1o account for post retirement
health costs over the working lives of the employess.

Awards

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA)
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City,
Wisconsin for Its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the year ended
December 31, 2004. The Certificate of Achievement is 2 prestigious national award
recognizing conformance with the highest standards for preparation of state and local
government financial reports. This was the thirteenth consecutive year that the City has
received this award.
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In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, the City must publish an easily
readable and efficiently organized CAFR whose contents conform to program standards.
Such report must satisfy both accounting principles-generally accepted in the United States
of America and applicable lega! requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We belleve that our
current CAFR continues to meet the Certificate of Achlevement Program's requirements
and we will be submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for a 2005 Certificate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Mayor and Common Council
City of Franklin
Franklin, Wisconsin

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregale remaining fund information of the
City of Franklin, Wisconsin, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2005, which collectively
comprise the City's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the City of Franklin's management. Our responsibility is to
express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. The prior year comparative
information for the enterprise funds has been derived from the City of Franklin's 2004 financial
statements and, in our report dated March 11, 2005, we expressed an unqualified opinion on the
respective financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the
discretely presented component unit, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund
information,

We conducled our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonatle assurance about whether the financlal statements are free of materiaf misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit aiso includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

In our opinion, the financial statements referrad to above prasent fairly, in all material réspects,
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, as
of December 31, 2005, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable,
cash flows thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund for the year
then ended in conformity~with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

The management's discussion and analysis on pages 12 through 24 is not a required part of the
basic financial statements but is supplementary Information required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board. We have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted
principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation
of the required supplementary information. However, we did not audit the information and
express no opinion on it.
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To the Mayor and Common Council
City of Franklin

Qur audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statemqnls that
collectively comprise the City of Franklin's basic financial statements. The combining and
individual fund financial statements and schedules as listed in the table of contepts are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements. The combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules have bee_n
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial‘ state.ments and, in
our opinion, are fairly stated in all material respects in retation to the basic financial statements
taken as a whole.

The “Letter of Transmittal” and “Statistical Section” listed in the accompanying table of contents
are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the_basic
financial statements of the City of Franklin, Wisconsin. The information has not been sub]gcted
to the auditing procedures applied In the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly,
we express no opinion on such information,

V- /. E,,,,._ ‘!—%, wer

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
March 13, 2006
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Management's Discussion and Analysis

As management of the City of Franklin (City), we offer readers of the City's financial
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2005. We encolirage readers to consider the information
presented here in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in our letter
of transmittal, which can be found on pages 1-6 of this report.

Financial Highlights

» The assets of the City exceeded its liabilities as of December 31, 2005, by $104,001,623
(net assets). Of this amount, $12,622,492 (unrestricted net assets) may be used to
meet the government's ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. The total net assets
include infrastructure of the governmental funds installed during 2003, 2004 and 2005.
Prior year's governmental funds infrastructure has not yet been included in these
statements.

* The City's total net assets increased by a net amount of $13,471,280. Investment in
capital assets, net of related debt accounted for a $11,155,929 increase, unrestricted net
assets accounted for a $1,706,455 increase with restricted net assets accounting for a
$608,896 increase.

» The City's governmental funds reported, as of December 31, 2005, combined ending fund
balances of $25,567,150, an increase of $11,172,843 from the prior year. Approximately
46 percent of the total fund balance, or $11,788,661, is available for spending at the
government's discretion {unreserved fund balance).

» The unreserved fund balance as of December 31, 2005 for the general fund was
$6,411,669 or approximately 30 percent of total anticipated 2006 general fund
expenditures.

» The Cily's Governmental activities debt increased by $5,785,000 during 2005. The
repayments of $4,215,000 were offset by the issuance of $10,000,000 in debt to be used
for capital projects and TIF Districts purposes.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the City's basic
financial statements. These basic financial statements are comprised of three components:
1) government-wide financial statements, 2} fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the
financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to
the basic financial statements themselves.

Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are
designed to provide readers with' a broad overview of the City's finances, in a manner
similar to a private-sector busri'n‘és_ﬁ.

The statement of net assets presents information on all of the City's assets and liabilities,
with the difference between the two reported as net assets. Over time, increases or
decreases in net assets may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of
the City is improving or deteriorating.
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The statement of activittes presents information showing how the government's net assets
changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net assets are reported as soon
as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related
cash flows. Thus, revenue and expenditures are reported in this statement for some items
that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned
but unused vacation and sick leave).

Both the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenue (governmeantal activities) from
other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through
user fees and charges (business-like activities). The governmental activities of the Cit
include general government, public safety, public works, health & human services, culture
recreation and conservation & development. The business-type activities include the Franklin
Water Utility and the City Sanitary Sewer fund.

The government-wide financial statements include not only the City itself (known as the
primary government) but aiso a legall}/ separate Community Development Authority for which
the City is financially accountable. Financial information for this blended component unit is
reported as part of the financial information presented for the primary government itself.

The government-wide financial statements can be found on Exhibits A & B of this report.

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain

control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The

City, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate

compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the Cigl can be divided
s.

"into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary fun

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same
functions reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements,
However, unlike government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial
statements focus on near term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on
balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information
may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of gavernmental funds is namower than that of the government-wide
financtal statements, it is useful to compare the informaticn presented for governmental funds
with similar information presented for governmental activities in the govemment-wide
financlal statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of
the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the govermmental fund batance sheet
and the govemmental fund statement of revenue, expenditures and changes in fund
balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison bstween governmental funds
and governmental activities.

The City maintains fourteen individual governmental funds. Information is presented
separately in the governmental-fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement
of revenue, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the General, Debt Service and
TIF Districts Funds, that are considered to be major funds. Data from the remaining eleven
governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund
data for each of these non-major govemmentat funds is provided in the form of combining
statements later in this report.

The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on Exhibits C, D, € & F of

gwis dreport‘ These statements include a budgetary comparison statement of the General
und,
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The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General Fund, Debt Service Fund,
Library Fund, Capital Qutlay Fund, Equipment Replacement Fund, Street Improvement Fund,
Capital Improvement Fund, Sanitary Sewer Fund and the Franklin Water Utility. A budgetary
comparison statement has been provided for all governmental funds demonstrating
compliance with their budgets, .

Proprietary funds. Proprietary funds are used to report the same functions presented as
business-type activities in the govemment-wide financial statements. Proprietary funds
provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in
more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the
Franklin Water Utility, the Sanitary Sewer Fund and the Internal Service Fund.

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on Exhibits G, H & | of this
report,

Fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of
parties outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the govemnment-wide
financial statement because the resources of those funds are not available to support the
City's programs. The fiduciary funds maintained by the City are the Property Tax Agency
Fund, that records the tax roll and tax collections for the City and other taxing jurisdictions,
and other agency funds to record their activity.

. The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on Exhibit J of this report.

Notes to the financial statements, The notes provide additional information that is essential
to a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial
statements. The notes to the financial statements can be found on pages 37 - 72 of this
report.

Other information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes,
the combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules section presents
combining statements in connection with non-major governmental funds, a detailed
budgetary comparison schedule for the General Fund to demonstrate compliance with the
budget complementing the statement included in the basic governmental fund financial
statements, and other information related to the individual funds are presented immediately
following the notes to the financial statements. These schedules 1 to 9 can be found on
pages 73 — 87 of this report.

Government-wide Financial Analysis
As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's

financial position. In the case of the City, assets exceeded liabilities by $104,001,623 and
$90,530,343 (as restated) at the end of 2005 and 2004 respectively.
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CITY OF FRANKLIN NET ASSETS
December 31, 2005 and 2004

Governmental Business-typa
Activities Activilies Total
2005 2004 2005" 2004 2005 2004
Current and Restated Restated
other assels $ 54869649 $ 40,984,926 § 3474370 S 3,159,958 § 58,344,019 5 44,144,884
Capital assets 40,697,119 35,200,668 85,098,937 81,402,130 125,796,056 116,602,798
Total assets 95,566.768 76,185,592 88,573,307 84,562.088 184,140,075 160,747,680
Long-term liabllities 47,602,544 41,957,956 58,807 45,106 47,661,351 42,003,062
Current liabiiities 31,620,241 27,252,256 856.860 982,019 32,477.10% 28.214,275
Total liabllities 79,222,785 63,210,212 915,667 1,007,125 80,138.452 70.217,337
Net aszety:
Invested in capital
assels , net of
refated debt 1.634,674 ‘ f5,824 A48) 85,098,937 81,402,130 86,733,611 75,577,682
Restricted 4,467,246 3,656,415 178,274 132,035 4,645,520 3,788,450
Unrestrictad 10.242.063 9.143,413 2,380,429 2,020,798 12622492 11,164,211

Tolalnetassets S 16343983 $ 6975380 $ 87657640 § 83554963 § 104001623 § 90,530,343

The largest portion of the City's net assets (approximately 83 percent, in both years) reflects
its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, machmery. and gequupment); less any
related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these capital
assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, the_se net ass'ets are not available for
future spending. Although the City's investment in its capital a§sets is reported net pf related
debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this d_ebg must be prgvuc_i.e'd from
other sources, since capital assets themselves cannot be used to fiquidate these liabilities.

Investment in capital assets accounted for $86,733,611 and $75,577.682 in 2005 and 2004
respectively of the year end net assets. The changes in capital assets were as follows:

Decrease
Capital Asset in Capital Net
Additions Depreciation  Related Debt Increase

2005 § 11,919,412 § (2,726,152) $ 1,962,668 $ 11,155,929
2004 $ 24,264,433 $ (2,604,524) $ 6,125,021 27,784,930

The major City project contributing to this increase in 2005 was the right pf way acquisition
for the extension of 31* Street and in 2004 was the Briarwood Sewer project. Infrastructure
contributed by developers as part of developer's agreements contributed approximatgly
$3,872,000 in 2005 and $6,210,000 in 2004 to the capitalized infra§tructure through capital
grants and contributions of governmental activities and $3.181,00q in 2005 and 3_7,352.000
in 2004 to capitalized infrastructure through capital grants and contributions for business-type
activities.
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In addition, during 2004 $6,079,000 in capitalized infrastructure was acquired through capital
grants and contributions for business-type activities by reacquiring water utility infrastructure
at the expiration of a water service agreement with an adjoining community.

An additional portion of the City's net assets (gpproximately 4.2 percent in both years)
represent resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used. There
were $4,645,520 and $3,788,450, respectively in those net assets that were restricted to
specific purposes with the remaining balance of $12,622,492 and $41,164,211, in 2005 and
2004 respectively in unrestricted net assets may be used to meet the City's ongoing
obligations to citizens and creditors.

At the end of the current fiscal years the City was abte to report positive balances in all three
categories of net assets, as a govemment as a whole, as well as for its separate
governmental and business-type activities.

There was a 2005 increase of $810,831 in restricted net assets reported in connection with
the governmental activities. The increase was due to the growth in utility improvement funds
($364,000), the growth in impact fees ($110,000) and the growth in other restricted funds
(8337,000).

There was a 2004 decrease of $121,215 in restricted net assets reported in connection with
the govermmental activities. . The decrease was primarily due to the use of debt service net
assets to reduce outstanding debt ($1,168,000), the use of utility improvement funds to pay
for part of the Briarwood sewer improvement project ($756,000) offset by the growth in
available Development funds ($1,766,000).

There was a 2005 increase of $1,098,650 in unrestricted net assets reported in connection
with the governmental activities. The major reason for the increase was the unused portion of
a borrowing in the capital improvement fund ($2,750,000),

There was a 2004 decrease of $1,713,849 in unrestricted net assets reported in connection
with the governmental activities. The major decrease was in the capital improvement fund
($678,000) reflecting expenditures on projects that had received funding in prior years and
the TIF Districts utilizing reserves to meet expenses ($589,000).

Governmantal activities. Governmental activities in 2005 increased the City's net assets by
$9,368.603 accounting for 70 percent of the total growth in the net assets of the City.
Elements of this increase follow:

* Increase due to the reduction in Long term Debt of $4,022,155

Increase in governmental activities capital assets net of depreciation of $5,496,453

Net increase from general fund activities of $678,236

Net decrease from internal service activities of $26,049

Net decrease from special assessment activities of $802,192
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Governmental activities in 2004 increased the City's net assets by $11,204,548 accounting
for 39 percent of the total growth in the net assets of the City. Elements of this increase

follow:

* Increase due to the reduction in Long term Debt of $4,000,307

Increase from TIF District activities of $1,650,138
increase in governmental activities capital assets net of depreciation of $6,682,169
Net decrease from general fund activities of $915,651

Net decrease from internal service activities of $97,434

Net decrease from special assessment activities of $114,981

The details of governmental activities changes in net assets follow:

Revenue
Program revenue:
Charges for services
Opsrating granis & contributions
Capital grants & contributions
General ravenuse:
Property taxes
Other 1axes
Intergovernmental
Other
Total revenue

Expenses:
General government
Public safety
Public works
Health & Human services
Culturs & Recreation
Conservation & davelopment
Interest on long-temrn dedbl
Water
Sewer
Total expenses
Increasa in nel assels
before transfers
Transfers
increase in not assots
Net assets - beginning
Net assets - ending

City of Franklin Changes in Net Assets
For the Year Ending December 31, 2005 and 2004

Gavemnmenial Businass-type
Aclivitles Activities Total
2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004
Restated Restated

§ 4784345 S 4525973 $ 5547932 § 4,325,814 § 10332277 § 8,851,787
1,838,699 1,886,800 - - 1,838,699 1,886,800
6,728,526 10,048,400 3,181,334 13,431,431 9,909,860 23,478,531
19,805,791 18,537,786 19,805,791 18,537,786
381,116 376,038 381,116 376,038
1,271,794 1,335,925 - - 1,271,754 1,335,925
1,231,050 681,209 95.608 84,013 1,326,656 765,222
36,041,321 37,392,131 8,824.872 17.840.958 44,866.193 55.233.089
2,588,256 ‘ ".2.535.943 2,588,256 2.535,943
13,533,975 - 13,054,458 - 13,533,975 13,054,488
46734627 4,233,338 - 4,673,462 4,233,338
510,520 538,850 - 510,520 538,850
1,561,066 1,428,489 - 1,561,066 1,428,499
' ~666.277 384,702 - 666,277 384,702
2,204,881 2,378,118 B - 2,204,881 2378118
- - 3,307,057 2,572,320 3,307,057 2,572,320
- - 2,349,419 2,143,916 2,349,419 2,143,818
25,738.437 24,553,938 5.856.476 4,716,236 31,394,913 29,270,174
10,302,884 12,838,193 3,168,366 13,124,722 13,471,280 25,962,915
(934,281) __ (1,633,645) 934,281 1,633,645 - -
9,368,603 11,204,548 4,102,677 14,758,367 13,471,280 25.962.915
8,975,380 (4,229.168) 63,554,963 68,796.596 90,530,343 84,567,428

3 16.343.883 $ 6975380

$_87.657,640 S 83,554,963

$ 104,001,623 $ 90530343
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Expenses by Function - Governmental Activities
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Business-type activities. In 2005, business-type activities increased the City's net assets by

$4,102,677 or 4.9 percent from the prior year. The key elements of this increase follow:

e The income from operations excluding capital contributions and its related depreciation
expense - $189,718. The goal of the business activities is to provide these services at a
break even basis to minimize the cost to the users. The year 2005 was a dry year that
resulted in greater return from water operations than planned.

« Developer contributions of water infrastructure - $3,091,294 consisting of thirteen
developer projects and two City projects

¢ Developer contributions of sewer infrastructure - $1,802,150 consisting of eleven
developer projects

o Depreciation expense related to contributed assets - $980,485

In 2004, business-type activities increased the City's net assets by $14,768,367 or 21.5

percent from the prior year. The key elements of this increase follow:

e The (loss) from operations excluding capital contributions and its related depreciation
expense - $(126.885). The goal of the business activities is to provide these services at a
break even basis to minimize the cost to the users.

« Developer contributions of water infrastructure - $3,567,696 consisting of ten projects

e Developer contributions of water infrastructure - $6,078,824 from the water utility
reacquiring infrastructure at the expiration of a water service agreement

« Developer contributions of sewer infrastructure - $6,052,718 consisting of nine developer

~ projects, one other government entity project and one City project

» Depreciation expense related to contributed assets - $813,986

The following graph compares the 2005 charges for services to the operating expenses for
water and sewer activities.

Operating and E - Busil type Activities
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Water and Sewer expenses exceed revenue due to the current policy of only including
depreciation from City spending on Capital assets in the rate formula. The large amount of
new infrastructure that is being installed each year is the reason for this policy. When
maintenance and replacement costs begin to increase this policy may need to be
reevaluated.

As §hovyn on the following chart, the Business-t;}pe revenue includes capital grants and
con!_nbuhons, investment earnings and miscellaneous income in addition to charges for
services (operating revenue).

Revenue by Source - Business-type Activities
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Financial Analysis of the Government's Funds

As noted earlier, the City uses fuhd accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with
finance-related legal requirements.

Governmental funds. The focus of the City's governmental funds is to provide information
on near-term inflows, oufflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is
useful in assessing the City's financing requirements. In particular, unreserved fund balance
may serve as a useful measure of a government's net resources available for spending at the
end of the fiscal year.

As of the end of the current fiscal year, the City's governmental funds reported combined
ending fund balances of $25,567,150, an increase of $11,172,843 in comparison with the
prior year. Approximately 46 percent or $11,788,661 constitutes unreserved fund balance,
which is available for spending at the government's discretion. The remainder of the fund
balance is reserved to indicate that it is not available for new spending because it has already
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been committed 1) to pay debt service ($2,001,554), 2) for TIF District purposes ($6,717,987)
3) for utility improvement purposes ($1,129,596), 4) for development purposes ($2,853,329),
) for library purposes ($248,174), 6) uncompleted contracts ($385,000) and 7) for
emergency medical services, prepaid expenses, inventories, encumbrances, donations and
grants (3442,849).

Of the $11,788,661 unreserved fund balance, theuse of $5,376,992 or approximately 46
percent was committed to specific types of activities; i.e., $218,770 for special revenue fund
activities, and $5,158,222 for capital project activities.

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. As of December 31, 2005, the total
fund balance of the general fund was $6,469,060 of which $6,411,669 was unreserved. This
unreserved fund balance represents approximately 30 percent of 2006 totai general fund
expenditures.

The total fund balance of the general fund increased by $186,222 in fiscal year 2005, The
2005 annual program budget for the City's general fund identified the appropriation of
$740,000 in fund balance to reduce the impact of taxes levied and to balance the budget.
However, actual expenses were less than budgeted expenses by approximately 4 percent or
$812,124; actual revenue was more than bud%et revenue in the general fund by $622,498 or
approximately 3 percent and transfers to other funds were made totaling $424,400. The
increase in revenue can be attributed to increased development activity resulting in more
permit and development review fees. While the underexpenditures resulted mainly from
vacancy in authorized positions.

The Debt Service Fund has a total fund balance of $8,719,541, $2,001,554 of which is
reserved for the payment of debt service and $6,717,987 is reserved for advances made to
TIF Districts fund. The debt service portion of the fund balance reflects an increase of
$1,874,988 due primarily to lower amounts of principal and interest being due during 2005,

Proprietary fund, The City's proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in
the government-wide financial statements, but in more detail.

Unrestricted net assets of the Water Utility at the end of the year amounted to $1,485,963, an
gwcregasegof $436,506 from December 31, 2004. The growth in total net assets was
2,602.499.

Unrestricted net assets of the Sanitary Sewer Fund at the end of the year amounted to
5894$466. a qlecrease of $76,875 from December 31, 2004. The growth in total net assets
was $1,200.178. .

The financial statements for the enterprise funds can be found on Exhibits G, H and | of this
report.
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General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Differences between the original budget and the final amended budget were relatively minor.
There were additional appropriations that came from other departments or from the
contingency budgeted.

Ag identified earlier, total actual revenue and other sources exceeded the budgeted revenue
by $622,498. Building permits exceeded their budgets due to increased development activity
and by increased interest income accounting for most of the revenue increase.

Actual expenditures were less than budgeted expenditures by $812,124. This amount was
across all functions. The Police, Highway, Building Inspection and Community Development
departments accounted for the largest portion of the under expenditures. The unused portion
of the contingency budget was only $56,725. The Health and Dispatch budgets provided
additional underexpenditures reduced by overexpenditures in the fire, insurance and refuse
coliection budgets.

Because revenue increased and expenditures declined, the need to draw upon existing fund
balance was unnecessary. The combination of favorable variances in revenue and
expenditures enabled the fund balance to increase $186,222.

" Capital assets.
The City's Investment in capital assets for its governmental and business type activities as of
December 31, 2005, amounis to $125,796,056 net of accumulated depreciation. This
investment in capital assets includes land, buildings, improvements other than buildings and

machinery and equipment.

City's Investment in Capital Assets

The total increase in the City's net investment in capital assets for the current fiscal year was
a total of $9,193,260 net of depreciation or a 8 percent increase.

For further details on capital asset activity. refer to Note 1(D)5, Note 4(D) of the Notes to
Financial Statements and Schedules § — 8.2. «

Long-term debt

At December 31, 2005, the City had general obligation note and bond issues outstanding
totaling $32,900,000. State statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt a
governmental entity may issue to 5 percent of its total equalized valuation. The current debt
limitation for the City is $151,540,795., The City's current outstanding general obligation debt
is 22% of the statutory debt limit, In the last 15 years the City has not exceeded 36 percent
of the statutory debt imit. The City issued $10,000,000 in new debt to support two new TIF
Districts and its capital improvement activities. The City paid off the balance of the 1996
refunding bond issue, in addition to making required principal payments on the remaining
debt issues that came due. The City's current "Aa2" rating from Moody's for its general
obligation debt is an increase from the prior year.

The City also has outstanding $17,715,000 of redevelopment revenue obligations that were
issued in order to evidence a loan from the City's Community Development Authority (CDA)
to the City. The CDA financed-its loan to the City by issuing redevelopment lease revenue
.bonds. The proceeds of the redevelopment revenue obligations were used to finance the
City's Business Park. The obligations are being repaid property tax revenue generated by
the City's TIF District No. 2. The CDA debt is not subject o the Ci%"s statutory debt limit
referred to in a preceding paragraph. (n early 2006 the City borrowed $10,000,000 in general
obligation debt to enable the repayment of $10,000,000 of lease revenue bonds.

The Franklin Water Utility has no debt outstanding. The Board of Water Commissioners
intention is to generally avoid debt by maintaining and building cash and investments and
from time to time making improvements to its rate structure. The utllity’s plan is to make
future infrastructure improvements including water main replacement and new water service

Gavernmental Business-type ) i
Activities Activitles Total from current reserves and from City collected impact fees.
2005 2004 2005 2004 2006 2004
Land $ 6885868 $ 4,777,991 § 426,384 § 426384 § 7312252 $ 5,204,375 City of Franklin’s Outstanding Debt (All purposes)
Buildings and Governmental Business-type
improvements 21,288.949 21,190,277 2,342,139 2,345,953 23,631,088 23,536,230 _ Activities Activities Total
tmprovements - 2004~ .2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
other Ihan bulldings 11,998,351 8,323,261 96,067,431 91,140,721 108,065,782 99,463,982 General obligation s
Machinery and bonds andnotes  § 32,900,000 § 24,800,000 § -3 - § 32900000 $ 24,800,000
and equipmant 11,742,433 11,482,874 1,887,905 1,873,833 13,630,338 13,356,507 Revenus bonds 17,715,000 20,030,000 - - 17,715,000 20,030,000
Construction e —c— t———
830, - - 615, 44,830,00
In process 415,821 . 453 ) 416,274 ) Total § 50615000 §$ 44.830.000 $ s $ 50615000 § 44,830.000
Total capital assets 52,331,422 - 45774203 100,724,312 95.786,891 153,055,734 141,561,004 . . . o, .
Loss A | . Additional information of the City's long-term debt can be found in note 4(F), Schedule 5 and
@ass Accumulatad - . v oar .
depreciafion (11.634,303) (10,573,537} _(15.625,375) _(14,384.761) __ (27.250,678) __ (24.958.208) Tables 10 - 12 in the statistical section of the report.

Capital assets net of

Daepreclation $ 40.697,118 § 35200666 $ 85,008,937 § 81,402,130 $ 125796,056 S 116,602,796
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Economic Factors, Tax Rates and Next Year's Budgets

The unemployment rate as of December 31, 2005 for the City was 3.4%, Milwaukee
County which includes the City, is 5.2 percent. This compares with an unemployment rate
of 4,5 percent for the State of Wisconsin.

The local tax rate change for operations for the current and prior two years were 1.89%,
-1.99% and 1.42%, respectively.

The tax levy increase for operations for the current and prior two years were, $1 085,689,
$206,760, and $745,308, respectively.

The 2006 budgets require a local tax rate that decreased 1.39% which together with
growth will result in a tax levy increased of $666,700 or 3.96 percent.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City's finances for all
those with an interest in the government's finances. Questions concerning any of the
information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be
addressed to the Director of Finance & Treasurer or the Director of Administration, 8229
West Loomis Road, Franklin, Wl 53132.

General information or more detailed financial and budget information refating to the City of
Franklin, Wisconsin, can be found at the City’s website, www.frankfinwi.gov.
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CITY OF FRANKLIN
Statement of Net Assets

Exhibit A

December 31, 2005
Governmentai  Business-type
Actlvities Activities Total
ASSETS

Cash and investments $ 30,080,925 $ 2,118.980 § 32,209,905
Receivables

Accounts receivable 774,692 1,254,098 2,028,790

Taxes receivable 20,901,434 177,125 21,078,559

Special assessments receivable 2,559,670 - 2,559,670

Internal balances 254,107 (254,107) -

Due from other governmenis 196,461 . 196,461
Prepaid items 27,986 - 27,986
Inventories 20,437 ~ 20,437
Restricted cash and investments - 178,274 178,274

Capital assets {net of accumulaled depreciation)

426,384 7,312,252
1,776,300 18,756,166
755,067 5,435,106
82,140,733 93,876,258
453 416,274

- 43,937

$ 88,573,307 $ 184,140,075

$ 694,337 $ 5,166,849
21,666 1,182,922

102,368 156,418
- 700,796

1,000 326,800

- 20,449,969

37,488 4,493,347
58,807 47,661,351

915,667 80,138,452

85,098,937 86,733,611

. 248,174

- 1,129,596

- 2,853,329

178,274 414,421
2,380,428 12,622,492

Land 6,885,868
Buildings and improvements 16,979,866
Machinery and equipment 4,680,039
Improvements other than bulldings 11,735,525
Construction in progress 415,821
Desferred charges 43,937
Total assets $_95,566,768
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $ 4,472,612
Accrued liabilities 1,161,256
Due to other govemments 54,050
Accrued interest 700,796
Special deposits 325,800
Unearned revenue 20,449,969
Noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one year 4,455,858
Due In more than one year 47,602,544
Total liabilities 79,222,785
NET ASSETS
Investment in capital-essets,
net of related debt 1,634,674
Restricted for:
Library 248,174
Utility improvements 1,129,596
Development 2,853,329
Other purposes 236,147
Unrestricted 10,242,063
Total net assets $_Je.343.983

$ 87,657,640 § 104,001,623

See accompanying notes to the financlal statements.

Page 25

This page intentionally blank.




Exhibit B
CITY OF FRANKLIN
Statement of Activities
Year Ended December 31, 2005

Program Revenue Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Assets

Operating Capital
Charges for  Grants and Grants and Governmental Business-type -
Functions/Programs Expenses Services _ Contributions _Contributions Activities Activities Total
Govemment activities:
General government $ 2,588,256 $ 148,803 $ - $ - $ (2,439,453) $ - (2,439,453)
Public safety 13,533,975 2,715,134 245,839 - (10,573,002) - (10,573,002)
Public works . 4,673,462 1,643,476 1,309,100 6,716,620 4,895,734 - 4,895,734
Health and human services 510,520 91,767 245,435 - (173,318) - (173,318)
Culture and recreation 1,561,066 212,301 38,325 11,906 (1,298,534) - (1,298,534)
Conservation and development 666,277 . 72,864 - - (693,413) - (5693,413)
Interest on long term debt 2,204,881 . - - EE A (2,204,881) - © (2,204,881)
Total governmental activities 25,738,437 4,784,345 1,838,699 6,728,526 (12,386,867) - (12,386,867)
Business-type activities:
Water 3,307,057 3,815,195 - 1,519,889 - 2,028,027 2,028,027
Sewer 2,349,419 1,732,737 - 1,661,445 - 1,044,763 1,044,763
Total business-type activities 5,656,476 5,647,932 - 3,181,334 - 3,072,790 3,072,790
Total $ 31,394,913 $ 10,332,277 $ 1,838,699 $ 9,909,860 (12,386,867) 3,072,790 (9,314,077)
General revenue:

Property taxes levied for general purposes 14,576,353 - 14,576,353

Property taxes levied for debt service 2,310,000 - 2,310,000

Property taxes levied for TIF Districts 2,919,438 - 2,919,438

Other taxes 381,116 - 381,116

Intergovernmental revenue not restricted to specific programs 1,271,794 - 1,271,794

Investment earnings 1,111,774 44,096 1,165,870

Miscellaneous revenue 119,276 51,510 170,786

Transfers (934,281) 934,281 -

Total general revenue and transfers 21,755,470 1,029,887 22,785,357

Change in net assets 9,368,603 4,102,677 13,471,280

Net assets - beginning (restated) 6,975,380 83,554,963 90,530,343

Net assets - ending $ 16,343,983 $ 87,657,640 104,001,623

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Exhiblt
CITY OF FRANKLIN Exhibit D
Balance Sheat . Exhioit D
Governmentat Funds CITY OF FRANKLIN
Dacember 31, 2005 Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Bal
Governmentai Funds
Nonmajor Total " -Year Ended December 31, 2005
Debt TIF Gover 1 Gover I .-
Genoral Servico Districts Funds Funds
ASSETS ~ ~ Nonmajor Total
. 4 Dabt TIF Governmental  Governmental
::zz l::slg;veslmems $ 6,779,141 § 2,144482 § 7,280,175 $ 13614660 $ 29,818,468 ) General Service Districts Funds unde
i —es | Fnes
Accounts receivable 608,733 57.062 17,178 36,664 719,637 REVENUE
Taxes receivable 12,803,041 2,594,039 2,860,368 2,543,985 20,901,434 Taxes § 12,668,469 § 2,310,000 $ 2919438 § 2285000 $ 20,186,907
Special assessments receivable - 1,708,141 - 851,529 2,559,670 Intergovernmental revenus 2,581,477 - 88,555 247,481 2,917,513
gua :wm O::er v t ??‘11';3(7) ) 250 24,371 f:gllgz Lcenses and permis 486,966 ) i ) 1,486,666
ue from other governments ! - y B . "

Prepaid ilems 17,956 R . 10,032 27.985 1 Fines, forfeltures and penailies 361,656 - - - 361,656

Inventorias 20,437 . . - 20,437 Public charges for services 1,398,810 689,060 - - 2,087,870

Long term advances - 6.717.987 : - §.717.987 | Special assessments - 641,445 - 2,979,369 3,620,814

TOTAL ASSETS $.20755263 § 13221721 § 10157971 § 17081242 § 61216187 Intergovernmental charges for services 591,834 - - - 591,834
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES Investment earmings 425,444 226,399 138,992 336,328 1,127,163
LIABILITIES Miscellaneous revenue 149,013 - 178,663 478,429 806,105

Accounts payable $ 678675 $ - 8 1858725 & 1996389 § 4,433,789 )

Accrued liabiilties 634,195 . 15,000 16,680 665.875 Total Revenue 19,663,669 __ 3,866,904 __3,325.648 6330807 __ 33,186,828

Due to other governments 54,050 - - - 54,050

Special deposits 124,672 200,000 - - 324,672 | EXPENDITURES

Deferred revenus 12,894,601 4,302,180 gl}{ﬁgggg 3,395,515 2(33,;??3%‘}/ Current

Long term advances - - AALS : , 717, . . R

Total Liabilties 74.586,193 4,502,180 11.452.080 5408684 35,649,037 General government 2:314,862 2,314,862
FUND BALANCES . Public safety 12,668,899 - - 8,869 12,677,768

Reserved for: Public works 3,746,773 . - - 3,746,773
Inventeries and prepaid items 38,391 - - 10,032 . 74!75.423 Health and human services 455,963 - - 43,633 499,496
Advances o other funds - 6,717,887 - - 717,987 "

Encumbrances 19,000 . . 201,000 220,000 Culture, recreation and education 152,797 - - 1,117,643 1,270,440

Subsequent years expenditures - - - 623,142 623,142 Conservation and development 491,582 - 89,308 74,038 654,928

Subsequent years debt service - 2,001,554 - - 2.001,554 Capital outla . . 1.300.498 42591 3735

Emergency medical sarvices - i - 16,624 16,624 phal outlay 309, 2425012 735,408

Utility improvements - - - 1,129,596 1,129,556 Debt service

gsvelournem - - - 2-8‘52175,;*@3 2?2?233 Principal - 1,800,000 2,315,000 - 4,215,000
onations & grants - - - o " .

Unreserved balance {deficit) reported in: Interest - 1,123,504 999,836 . 2,123,340
General Fund 6.411,669 - - - 6,411,669 Debt issuance costs - - 32,375 13,875 46,250
Special Raevenue Funds - - - 218,770 218,770
Capital Projac! Funds . R - (1,294,109) 6,452.331 5158222 Totat Expenditures .. 19,830,876 3,023,504 4,746,015 3,683,870 31,284,265

Total fund balances 6,469.060 8.719,541 (1.294,109) 11,672,658 25,567,150 Excess (Deficiency) of Revenue
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND Over (Under) Expenditures (167,207) 843,400  (1.420,367) 2,646,737 1,902,563
FUND BALANCES $ 20765253 § 13,221,721 $ 10,457,971 §$ 17,081,242 § 61,216,187 OTHER FINANCING SOURCES {USES)
$ 25567150 Transfers in 777,829 545,014 - 2,163,624 3,486,467
Total fund balances of governmental funds =0 Transfers out (424,400) - (113589)  (3882759)  (4,420,748)
Amounts reporied for governmental activilies in the statement of net assels are different because: eneral obligath . .
Carital assets used in government funds are not financial resources and are not repored In the funds. 40,697,119 ! G _a obligation debt Issued 7.000,000 4,000,000 10,000,000
Intarnal service net assels {78,339) Premium on debt Issued . 204,561 - - 204,561
Other long-term assets that are not available lo pay for current period expenditures
and are deferred in the funds. 3,002,695 Net change in fund balances 186,222 8,592,975 {1,533,956) 3,827,602 11,172,843
Long-lerm liabilities, including long-lerm debt, are not due and payable in the current period
andgare noflre;lzolrted lir\ the 1ugnds? e (52,844,642) Fund balances - beginning (restated) 6,282.838 126,568 239,847 7,745,056 14,394,307
Not assels of govornmental activities $ 16.343,983 Fund balances - ending $ 5469060 $ 8719541 § (1,294109) § 11,672,658 § 25567150
See accompanying notes to the financtal staternents.
See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Exhibit

CITY OF FRANKLIN
General Fund
Statement of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances -
Budget and Actual (on a Budgetary basls)
Year Ended December 31, 2005

Exhibit £
CITY OF FRANKLIN
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenue
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
To the Statement of Activities
Year Ended December 31, 2005
Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $ 11,172,843
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement
of activities (page 25) are different because:
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.
However in the statement of activities, the cost of these assets
is allocated over thelr estimated useful lives and reported
as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capital
outlays ($3,033,631) exceeded depreciation {$1,421,435)
in the current period. 1,612,196
Contributed capital assets are reported as revenues in the
statement of activities. 3,884,257
The issuance of long-term debt { e.g. notes, leases) provides current
financial resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of
the principal on long-term debt consumes current financial
resources of government funds. Neither transaction, however,has
any effect on net assets. This amount is the net effect of differences
in the treatment of long term debt. (6,785,000)
Government funds report the effe'c‘:‘t.s_.of issuance costs, premiums,
discounts and similar items when the debt is first issued, whereas
these amounts are deferred and amortized in the stastement of
activities, This amount Is the net effect of the differences in the treatment
treatment of these itemns, {150,396)
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not
require the use of currént financial resources and therefore, are
not reported as expenditures in the government funds (299,226)
Revenue in the statement of activities not providing current
financial resources are not reported as revenue in the funds 54,083
Revenue in the governmental funds that provides current
financial resources but has been previously reported as
revenue in the statement of activities (1,094,105)
Internal service fund change in net assets (26.049)
Net change in net assets of governmental activities $ 9,368,803

See accompanying nates to the financial statements.
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~ Varlance with
final budget -
Qriginal Flnal Favorable
Budgst Budget Actual {Unfavorable)
REVENUE
Taxes $ 13,403,300 $ 13,403,300 $ 13,446,208 $ 42,998
Intergovernmental revenue 2,582,700 2,582,700 2,581,477 {1.223)
Licenses and permits 1,053,500 1,053,500 1,486,966 433,466
Fines, forfeitures and penalties 450,000 450,000 361,656 (88,344)
Public charges for services 1,329,800 1,329,800 1,398,810 69,010
Intergovernmental charges for services 548,000 548,000 591,834 43,834
Investment eamings 315,500 315,500 425,444 109,944
Miscelianeous revenue 136,200 136,200 149,013 12,813
Total Revenue 15,819,000 19,819,000 20,441,498 622,498
EXPENDITURES
Current
General government 2,637,312 2,574,162 2,311,862 262,300
Public safety 12,809,809 12,822,159 12,678,899 143,260
Public works 3,860,868 3,891,843 3,750,973 140,870
Health and human services 537,665 544,640 455,963 88,677
Culture and recreation 163,359 156,209 156,097 112
Conservation and development 559,987 569,987 393,082 176,905
Total Expenditures 20,559,000 20,559,000 19,746,876 812,124
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenue
QOver {Under) Expenditures (740,000) (740,000) 694,622 1,434,622
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in - - - g
Transfers out - {200,000) {424,400) (224,400)

Net change in fund balance - budgetary basis (740,000} (940,000) 270,222 1,210,222

Adjustments to generally accepted
accounting principles basis . _

2005 encumbrances 19,000 19,000 19,000 -
2004 encumbrances (103,000) (103,000) {103,000) -

Net change in fund balance - generally
accepted accounting principles basis (824,000)  {1,024,000) 186,222 1,210,222
Fund Balances - beginning 6,282,838 __ 6,282,838 __ 6,282,838 -

Fund Balances-ending $ 5458838 $ 5,258,838 $ 6,469,060 $ 1,210,222

See accompanying notes to the financial statements,
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Exhibit G
CITY OF FRANKLIN
Statement of Net Assets
Proprietary Funds
December 31, 2005
(with comparative information for the year ended December 31, 2004)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental
Water Water Sanitary Sanitary Current Activities -
Utility Utility Sewer Sewer Year Internal
Current Year Prior Year Current Year Prior Year Totals Service Funds
ASSETS .
Current assets ’
Cash and investments $ 1236234 $ 746,633 $ 882,746 $ 845286 $ 2,118,980 $ 272,457
Receivables ,
Accounts receivable LA 804,164 892,644 449,934 449,069 1,254,098 55,055
Taxes receivable ' 118,043 95,448 59,082 54,903 177,125 -
Due from other funds ‘ 145,355 113,905 - 53,977 145,355 -
Total current assets 2,303,796 1,848,630 1,391,762 1,403,235 3,695,558 327,512
Noncurrent assets
Restricted cash and investments - - 178,274 132,035 178,274 -
Total restricted assets - - 178,274 132,035 178,274 ' -
Capital assets '
Land 115,465 115,465 310,919 310,919 426,384 -
Buildings and improvements 724,880 724,880 1,617,259 1,621,073 2,342,139 -
Improvements other than buildings 46,503,747 43,335,501 49,563,684 47,805,220 96,067,431 - -
Machinery and equipment 1,369,043 1,360,057 518,862 - 513,776 1,887,905 -
Construction in progress 453 - - - 453 -
Less accumulated depreciation , (7,568,309) (6,856,617) (8,057,066) (7,628,144) (15,625,375) -
Total capital assets ( net of
accumulated depreciation) 41,145,279 38,679,286 43,953,658 42,722,844 85,098,937 ' -
Total noncurrent assets - 41,145,279 38,679,286 44,131,932 42,854,879 85,277,211 -
Total assets $ 43,449,075 $ 40,527,916 § 45523694 $ 44,258,114 $ 88,972,769 §$ 327,512
Continued
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Exhibit G

(concluded)
CITY OF FRANKLIN
Statement of Net Assets
Proprietary Funds
, December 31, 2005
(with comparative information for the year ended December 31, 2004)
Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental
Water Water Sanitary Sanitary Current Activities -
. Utility Utility Sewer Sewer Year Internal
! Current Year Prior Year Current Year Prior Year Totals Service Funds
LIABILITIES '
Current liabilities :
Accounts:payable $ 413;063 $ 483,034 $ 281,274 $ 317850 $ 694,337 $ 38,723
Accrued liabilities 425 391 21,241 23,400 21,666 366,000
Due to other governments 102,368 102,368 - - 102,368 -
Due to other funds 252,829 173,089 146,633 50,853 399,462 -
Special deposits 1,000 500 - - 1,000 1,128
Current portion of compensated absences 18,745 17,238 18,744 17,238 37,489 -
Total current liabilities 788,430 776,620 467,892 409,341 1,256,322 405,851
Noncurrent liabilities ¢
Accrued compensated absences 29,403 22,553 29,404 22,553 58,807 -
Total noncurrent liabilities 29,403 22,553 29,404 22,553 58,807 -
Total liabilities 817,833 799,173 497,296 431,894 1,315,129 405,851
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets 41,145,279 38,679,286 43,953,658 42,722,844 85,098,937 -
Restricted for :
Sewer equipment replacement - - 178,274 132,035 178,274 -
Unrestricted (deficit) 1,485,963 1,049,457 894,466 971,341 2,380,429 (78,339)
Total net assets $ 42,631,242 §$ 39,728,743 §$ 45,026,398 § 43,826,220 $ 87,657,640 $ (78,339)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Exhibit H
. CITY OF FRANKLIN
Statement of Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets
Proprietary Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2005
(with comparative information for the year ended December 31, 2004)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental
Water Water Sanitary Sanitary Current Activities -
Utility Utility Sewer Sewer Year Internal
Current Year Prior Year Current Year Prior Year Totals Service Funds

OPERATING REVENUE
Metered sales

Residential $ 1,974,050 $ 1,251,511 $ 1,039,091 $ 909,607 $ 3,013,141 $ -
Commercial ‘ : 794,103 619,272 401,135 351,574 1,195,238 -
Public authority 214,133 195,966 105,783 96,502 319,916 -
Industrial 215,665 195,477 171,299 143,149 386,964 -
Total metered sales 3,197,951 2,262,226 1,717,308 1,500,832 4,915,259 -
Group health & dental charges . - - - - - 2,802,968
Pubilic fire protection service * 516,484 451,488 - - - 516,484 e -
Private fire protection service 77,054 65,975 - - 77,054 : -
Forfeited discounts, penalties and other 23,706 31,041 15,429 14,252 39,135 ' -
Total operating revenue 3,815,195 2,810,730 1,732,737 1,515,084 5,547,932 2,802,968
OPERATING EXPENSES ‘
Cost of sales and services 2,227,658 1,589,789 1,556,855 1,439,584 3,784,513 2,839,275
Depreciation 705,561 578,708 599,156 541,105 1,304,717 -
Administration 373,838 403,823 193,408 163,227 567,246 -
Total operating expenses 3,307,057 2,572,320 2,349,419 2,143,916 5,656,476 2,839,275
Operating income (loss) 508,138 238,410 (616,682) (628,832) (108,544) (36,307)
NON-OPERATING REVENUE (EXPENSES)
Investment earnings 26,079 8,892 18,017 9,563 44,096 10,258
Sundry ‘ 49,324 60,203 2,186 5,355 51,510 -
Total non-operating revenue (expenses) 75,403 69,095 20,203 14,918 95,606 10,258
Income (loss) before capital contributions :

and transfers 583,541 307,505 (5696,479) (613,914) (12,938) (26,049)

Capital contributions 1,519,889 9,514,855 1,661,445 3,916,276 3,181,334 -
Transfers in 1,571,405 131,665 140,705 2,136,442 1,712,110 -
Transfers out (772.336) (629,811) (5.493) (4,651) (777,829) -
Change in net assets 2,902,499 9,324,214 1,200,178 5,434,153 4,102,677 (26,049)

Net assets - beginning 39,728,743 30,404,529 43,826,220 38,392,067 83,554,963 (52,290)
Net assets - ending $ 42631242 § 39,728,743 - § 45,026,398 $ 43,826,220 $87,657,640 $ (78,339)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements,
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CITY OF FRANKLIN

Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds

" Year Ended December 31, 2005
(with comparative information for the year ended December 31, 2004)

Exhibit |

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers and users
Receipts for interfund services provide6
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees
Payments for interfund services used

Net cash flows provided by
(used in) operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfer out - paid for tax equivalent

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of capital assets

Net cash flows used in capital and
related financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment earnings

Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning
Cash and cash equivalents - Ending

Cash and Investments - Unrestricted
Cash and Investments - Restricted

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental
Water Water Sanitary Sanitary Current Activities -
Utility Utility Sewer Sewer Year Internal
Current Year Prior Year Current Year Prior Year Totals Service Funds
$ 3,713,116 $ 2,366,816 $ 1,728,000 $ 1,485,761 $5441,116 $ 2,881,418
227,675 217,856 - 1,879 - 229,554 -
(2,145,318) (1,181,532) (1,149,637)  (1,116,238) (3,294,955) (2,828,391)
(386,818) (362,251) (409,484) (347,615) (796,302) -
(82,150) (79,300) (82,150) (79,300) (164,300)
1,326,505 961,589 88,608 (57,392) 1,415,113 53,027
(775,989) (633,039) (1,840) (1,423) (777,829) -
(86,994) (351,818) (21,086) (46,497) (108,680) -
(86,994) (351,818) (21,086) (46,497) (108,080) -
26,079 8,892 .18,01 7 9,564 44,096 10,258
489,601 (14,376) 83,699 (95,748) 573,300 63,285
746,633 761,009 - 977,321 1,073,069 1,723,954 209,172
$ 1,236,234 § 746,633 1,061,020 977,321 $2,297,254 $ 272,457
$ 1,236,234 $ 746,633 882,746 845286 $2,118,980 $ 272,457
- - 178,274 132,035 178,274 -
$ 1236234 $§ 746,633 1,061,020 977,321 $2,297,254 $ 272,457
Continued
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Exhibit |

(concluded)
CITY OF FRANKLIN
Statement of Cash Fiows
Proprietary Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2005
(with comparative information for the year ended December 31, 2004)
Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds Governmental
Water Water Sanitary Sanitary Current Activities -
Utility Utility Sewer Sewer Year Internal
‘ Current Year Prior Year Current Year - Prior Year Totals Service Funds
Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net
cash provided (used) by operating actlvmes
Operating income (loss) $§ 508138 $ 238410. $§ (616,682) $§ (628,832) § (108,544) §$ (36,307)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net
.- cash flows provided by (used in) operatmg activities
Depreciation 705,561 578,708 599,156 541,105 1,304,717 -
Depreciation allocated to other funds 6,734 6,161 (6,734) (6,161) - -
Other nonoperating income 52,977 63,431 (1,467) 2,127 51,510 -
(Increase) decrease in assets ‘
Accounts receivable 88,480 (269,097) (866) (14,141) 87,614 78,450
Taxes receivable (22,595) (26,553) (4,179) (20,537) (26,774) -
Due from other funds (45,704) 49,960 53,977 (2,076) . 8,273 -
Increase (decrease) in liabilities '
Accounts payable (69,971) 131,333 (36,576) 58,439 (106,547) 4,384
Accrued liabilities 252,863 (10,846) (2,158) (1,224) 250,705 6,500
Due to other governments - 102,368 - - - -
Due to other funds (158,835) 93,751 95,780 10,244 (63,055) -
Customer deposits 500 300 - - 500 -
Compensated absences 8,357 3,663 8,357 3,664 16,714 -
Total Adjustments 818,367 723,179 705,290 571,440 1,523,657 89,334
Net cash flows provided by (used in) :
operating activities $ 1326505 $ 961,589 $ 88,608 $ (57,392) $ 1415113 $ 53,027

Noncash Capital Activities
Cost of Utility plant installed and/or financed

by external parties

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

$ 1,519,880 § 9,514,855 § 1,704,925 § 3,916,276 § 3,224,814 §

Page 35



CITY OF FRANKLIN
Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets
' Fiduciary Funds
December 31, 2005

N

Exhibit J

ASSETS

Cash and investments
Taxes receivable

Total assets

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable
Due to other governments_
Special deposits

Total liabilities

Total net assets

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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$ 41,638,653
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CITY OF FRANKLIN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2005

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying summary of the City of Franklin's more significant accounting policies
is presented to assist the reader in interpreting the financial statements and other data in
this report. These policies, as presented, should be reviewed as an integral part of the
accompanying financial statements. The accounting policies of the City conform to
acceounting principles generally accepted in the United Slates of America as applicable to
governmental units. A summary of the significant accounting policies follows:

A, REPORTING ENTITY

This report includes all of the funds of the City of Franklin. The reporting entity for the
City consists of (a) the primary government, (b) organizations for which the primary
government is financially accountable, and (c¢) other organizations for which the nature
and significance of their relatlonship with the primary government are such that their
exclusion would cause the reporting entity's financial statements to be misleading or
incomplete. A legally separate organization should be reported as a component unit if
the elected officials of the primary government are financially accountable to the
organization. The primary government is financlally accountable if it appoints a voting

. majority of the crganization’s governing bedy and (1) it is able to impose its will on that

organization or (2) there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial
benefits to or burdens on the primary government., The primary government may be
financially accountable if an organization is fiscally dependent on the primary
government. A legally separate, tax exempt organization should be reported as a
component unit of a reporting entity if all of the following criterla are met (1) the
economic resources recelved or held by the separate organization are entirely or almost
entirely for the direct benefit of the primary government, its component units, or Its
constituents; (2) the primary governmant [s entitled fo, or has the ability to otherwise
access, a majority of the economic resources received or held by the separate
organization; (3) the economic resources received or held by an individua! organization
that the specific primary government, or its component units, is entitied to, or has the
ability to otherwise access, are significant to that primary government. Blended
component units, although legaily separate entities, are, in substance, part of the
government’s operations and are reported with similar funds of the primary government.
Each discretely presented component unit is reported in a separate column in the
government-wide financial statements to emphasize that it is legally separate from the
City. This report does not contain any discretely presented component units.

Blended Component Unit

The Community Development Authority (Authority) was created by the City in 1982 to
serve as a financing vehicle for a certain Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) development
within the City. The Authority is governsd by a seven member board appointed by the
Mayor and confirmed by the Common Council. Although it is legally separate from the
City, the Authority is reported as if it were part of the primary government because its
sole purpose is to finance the TIF. development projects for the benefit of the City and its
citizens., The Authority’s operations are included in the governmental activities of the
government-wide financial statements and in a TIF District special revenue fund. The
Authority follows the accounting policies of the City. Separate financial statements are
not published for the Authority.
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CITY QF FRANKLIN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2005

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Goverpment-Wide Financial Statements

The statement of net assets and statement of activities display information about the
reporting government as a whole. They include all funds of the reporting entity except for
fiduciary funds. The statements distinguish between governmental and business type
activities. Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes,
intergovernmental revenue and other nonexchange revenue. Business-type activities are
financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties for goods and services
provided. The primary government is reported separately from a legally separate
component unit that the primary government is financially accountable.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree that direct expenses of a given
segment or function are offset by program revenue. Direct expenses are those that are
clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. The City does not allocate indirect

- expenses to functions in the statement of activities.

Program revenue includes 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or
directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided by a given function or
segment, and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or
capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and other items not
included among program revenue are reported as general revenue. Internally dedicated
resources are reported as general revenue rather than as program revenue.

Fund Financial Statements

Financlal statements of the reporting entity are organized into funds with a fund
considered to be a separate accounting entity. Each fund is accounted for by providing a
separate set of self-balancing- accounts that constitute its assets, liabilities, net
assets/fund equily, revenue and expenditures/expenses.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds
and fiduciary funds even though the latter is excluded from the government-wide financial
statements. Major indlvidual government funds and major individual enterprise funds are
reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.

Funds are organized as major funds or non-major funds within the governmental and
proprietary fund statements. An emphasis is placed on major funds within the
governmental and proprigtary categories. A fund is considered major if it is the primary
operating fund of the City or meets the following ctiteria:
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CITY OF FRANKLIN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2005

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT AGCOUNTING PQLICIES (continued)

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)

a. Total assets, liabilities, revenue, or expenditures/expenses of that individual
governmental or enterprise fund are at least 10 percent of the corresponding total
for all funds of that category or type.

b. The same element of the individual governmental fund or enterprise fund that met
the 10 percent test is at least 5 percent of the corresponding total for all
governmental and enterprise funds combined.

¢. In addition, any other governmental or enterprise fund that the City believes is
important to financial statement users may be reported as a major fund.

Major Governmental Funds

General Fund - accounts for the City’s primary operating activities. It is used to account
for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

Debt Service Fund - accounts for resource accumulation from taxes, special
assessments and other revenue along with payments made for principal and interest
on long-term debt other than enterprise fund debt.

TIF Districts Fund — A Special Revenue fund that accounts for resource accumulation
from the tax increment and other revenue along with payments made for capital
outlay, other expenditures, ‘printipal and interest on long-term debt obligations of the
TIF Districts. h

Major Enterprise Funds

Water Utility Fund — accounts for operations of providing water services to City residents
and bills for those services.

Sanitary Sewer Fund ~“accounts for the operations of providing sanitary sewer services
for City residenls and bills for those services.

Enterprise funds are used to account for operations (a) that are financed and operated in
a manner similar to private business - where the intent of the governing body is that the
costs (expenses, Including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general
public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarlly through user charges, or
(b} where the governing body has decided that periodic determination of revenue earned,
expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public
policy, management control, accountability or other purposes.
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_ CITY OF FRANKLIN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2005

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
In addition the City reports:
Non-Major Governmental Funds

Special Revenue Funds — account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other
than major capital projects) that are legally restricted to expenditures for specified
purposes. The funds include Library, Master Plan, Donations, Civic Celebrations and
Grants.

Capital Projects Funds - account for resources accumulated to be used for the purchase
of equipment, street replacement, acquisition of land and the construction of capital
improvement projects. The funds Include Capital Outiay, Equipment Replacement,
Capital Improvement, Street Improvement, Utility Improvement and Development.

Other Fund Types

Internal Service funds ~ account for the payment of group health and dental charges for
services and stop loss insurance charges by the City and the billing of depariments or
agencies of the City on a cost-reimbursement basis for the services received.

Agency funds — account for assets held by the City in a trustee capacity or as an agent
for individuals, private organizations and /or governmental units, The agency funds
include a property tax fund and an other agency fund that records the agency aclivity
for emergency government, monitoring and siting activities funded by others.

C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide statement of net assets and statement of activities are reported
using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.
Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenue is recognized when earned and expenses
are recorded when the liability is Incurred or economic asset used. Revenue, expenses,
gains, losses, assets and liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like
transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place, Property taxes are
recognized as revenue in the year that they are levied.

Taxes receivable for the following year are recorded as receivables and deferred
revenue. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility
requirements imposed by the provider are met. Special assessments are recorded as
revenue when earned. Unbilled receivables are recorded as revenue when services are
performed.
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CITY OF FRANKLIN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2005

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PGLICIES (continued)

C. MEASUREMENT Focus, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
AND FINANGIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION {continued)

Government-Wide Flnancial Statements (Continued)

The business-type activities foliow all pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board and have elected not to follow Financial Accounting Standards Board
pronouncements issued after November 30, 1989.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund aclivily has been eliminated from the
government-wide financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charges
between the City's water utllily and sanitary sewer fund and various other functions of the
government. Elimination of thése charges would distort the direct cosls and program
revenue reported for the various functions concerned.

Fund Financial Statements

Governmentai fund financial statements are reporled using the current financial
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenue is
recorded when it is both measurable and available. Available means collectible within the
current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current
period. For this purpose, the City considers revenue to be available if they are collected
within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures are recorded when
the related fund liability is Incurred, except for unmatured interest on long-term debt,
claims, judgments, compensated absences and pension expenditures which are recorded
as a fund liability when expected to be paid with expendable available financial
resources.

Property taxes are recorded in the year levied as receivable and deferred revenue and
are recognized as revenue in the next year when services financed by the levy are
provided. .

Intergovernmental aids and grants are recognized as revenue in the period the City is
entitled to the resources and the amounts are available. Amounts owed to the City that
are not available are recorded as receivables and deferred revenue. Amounts received
prior to the entitlement period are recorded as deferred revenue.

Special assessments levied for benefits to property owners for instaliation of sanitary
sewers, water mains, roads, and other improvements are recorded as revenue when they
become measurable and available. Annual installments due in future years are recorded
as receivables and deferred revenue.

Revenue susceptible to accrual include property taxes, room taxes, public charges for
services, permits and interest. Other general revenue such as fines and forfeitures,
licenses and miscellaneous revenue are recognized when received or when measurable
and available under the criteria mentioned above.
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CITY OF FRANKLIN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2005

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION {continued)

Fund Financial Statements (continued)

Deferred revenue is reported on the governmental funds balance sheet. Deferred
revenue arises from taxes levied in the current year that are for subsequent year's
operations. For governmental funds financial statements deferred revenue arises where
potential revenue does not meet both the “measurable” and “available” criteria for
recognition in the current period. Deferred revenue also arises when resources are
received before the Clty has a lega! claim to them, as when grant monies are received
prior to the incurrence of qualifying expenditures. In subsequent periods, when both
revenue recognition criteria are met or when the City has a legal claim to the resources,
the liability for deferred revenue is removed from the balance sheet and revenue is
recognized.

- Proprietary funds financial statements (other than agency funds) are reported using the

economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Agency
fund financial statements are reported using the accrual basis of accounting and do not
have a measurement focus.

The enterprise funds follow @il pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board and have elected not to follow Financial Accounting Standards Board
pronouncements issued after November 30, 1989, Proprietary funds distinguish
operating revenue and expenses from non-operating items. Operating revenue and
expenses generally result from providing services and delivering goods in connection
with the proprietary fund's principal operations. The principal operating revenue of the
water and sanitary sewer funds are charges to customers for sales and services
provided. The rates billed in the water utility are approved by the Public Service
Commission. Sanitary sewer charges are billed at rates established by City pollcy based
on the charges received from the Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewage District.

Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services,
administration and depreciation on capital assets. Revenue and expenses not meeting
this definition are reported as non-operating revenue and expenses.

All Financlal Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported
amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitles at the
date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenditures/
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could vary from those estimates.
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CITY OF FRANKLIN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deacember 31, 2005

CITY OF FRANKLIN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2005

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuad)

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS OR EQUITY
1. Cash and Investments

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the City considers all highly liquid
investments with an initial maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Investments of City funds are restricted by state statutes. Investments are limited to:

1. Time deposits in any credit union, bank, savings bank or trust company malturing

in three years or less.

2. Bonds or securities of any county, City, drainage district, technical college district
village, town or school district of the State of Wisconsin. Also, bonds issued by a
local exposition district, a {ocal professional baseball park district, a local
professional football stadium district, a cultural arts district, or by the University of
Wisconsin Hospitals and Clinics Authority.

. Bonds or securlties issued or guaranteed by the federal government.

- The Local Government Investment Pool,

. Any security maturing in 'seven years or less and having the highest or second
highest rating category assigned of a nationally recognized rating agency.

6. Securities of an open-ended management investment company or investment trust

subject to various conditions and investment options.

7. Repurchase agreements with public depositories, with certain conditions.

oW

The City has adopted an Investment policy. That investment policy restricts allowable
investments to investments that follow state statutes. in addition the investment policy:

1. Does not address Custodial Credit Risk.

2. Limits credit risk by restricting investments to a minimum rating of AA by both
Moody's and Standard & Poor's.

3. Limits concentration of credit risk by limiting any one issuer or asset class to less
than 10% of the market value of the portfolio with the exception of U.S.
Government Treasury and Agency securities.

4. LUimits Interest Rate Risk by specifying that a minimum amount of cash
equivalents be maxntamed the average life of the portfolio shall not exceed 2 ¥
years and no individual issue shall have a maturity exceeding 5 years at the date
of purchase.

5. Limits Investments highly sensitive to market changes through its duration and
diversification pollcies. No highly sensitive investments are In the investment
portfolio.

6. Prohibits the investment in foreign owned securities.

7. Limits derivative type investments to those that have a final maturity or seven
years or less.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS OR EQUITY (continued)
1. Cash and Investments (continued)

investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on
quoted market prices. No investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments
necessary to record investments at fair value are recorded in the operating statement as
increases or decreases in investment income. Investment income on commingled
investments of municipal accountmg funds is allocated based on average investment
balances.

The Wisconsin Local Government Investment Pocl (LGIP) is part of the State Investment
Fund (SIF}, and is managed by the State of Wisconsin Investment Board. The SIF is not
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission, but operates under the
statutory authority of Wisconsin Chapter 25. The SIF reporls the fair value of its

" underlying assets annually. Participants in the LGIP have the right to withdraw funds in

total on one day's notice. At December 31, 2005, the fair value of the City's share of
LGIP assets was substantially equal to the amount reported in these statements.

2. Receivables

Property taxes are levied in December on the assessed value as of the prior January 1.
In addition to property taxes for the municipality, taxes are collected for and remitted to
the state government, county government, local schoo! districts, technical college district
and metropolitan sewerage district. Taxes for all state and other local governmental units
billed in the current year for the succeeding year are refiected as receivables and due to
other taxing units on the accompanying agency fund balance sheet. Delinguent real
estate taxes as of July 31 are paid in full by the county, which assumes the collection
thereof

Property tax calendar -.2008 tax roll:

Lien date and levy date December 2005
Tax bills mailed December 2005
Payment in full, or January 31, 2006
First installment duse January 31, 2006
Second instaliment due March 31, 2006
Third installment due May 31, 2006
Personal property taxes in full January 31, 2006
Final tax settlement with County August 15, 2006
Tax deed by County — 2005
Delinguent real estate taxes October 2008
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CITY OF FRANKLIN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2005

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFIGANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS OR EQUITY (continued)
2. Receivables (continued)

Accounts receivable have been shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts. No
provision for uncollectible accounts receivable has been made for enterprise funds
because of their right by law to place delinquent bills on the tax roll.

During the course of operations, transactions occur between individual funds that may
result in amounts owed between funds. Short-term interfund loans are reported as "due
to and from other funds”. Long term interfund loans (non-current portion) are reported as
“advances from and to other funds”. Interfund receivables and payables between funds
within governmental activities are eliminated in the statement of net assets. Any residual
balances outstanding between the governmental activities and the proprietary activities
are reported in the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances”.

" In the governmental fund financlal statements, advances to other funds are offset equally

by a fund balance reserve account which indicates that they do not constitute expendable
available financial resources and, therefors, are not available for appropriation.

3. Inventories and Prepaid Items

Governmental fund inventory items, except fusl inventory, are charged to expenditures
when purchased. The fuel Inventory is recorded at cost on a first in first out basis using
the consumption method of’accounting. Year end inventory was not significant.
Proprletary fund inventories are generally used for construction and for operation and
maintenance work. They are not for sale. Material and supplies on hand at year end are
considered immaterial.

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and
are recorded as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.

4. Restricted Assets

Mandatory segregation of assets are presented as restricted assets. Such segregation is
required by bond agreements and other external parties. Current liabilities payable from
restricted assets are so classified. The excess of restricted assets over current liabilities
will be used first for retirament of related long-term debt. The remainder, if generated
from earnings, is shown as restricted net assets.
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D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS OR EQUITY (continued)
5. Capital Assets
Government-Wide Statements

in the government-wide financial statements, capital assets are recorded on the financlal
statements. Capilal assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial cost
of more than $1,000 for general capital assets and $10,000 for infrastructure assets and
an estimated useful life of three years or more. All capital assets are recorded at
historical cost or at estimated historical cost if actual amounts are not available.
Donated capital assets are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation.

Prior to January 2003, infrastructure assets of governmental funds were not capitalized.
Upon implementing GASB 34 governmental units are required to account for all capital

- assets, including infrastructure;.in the government-wide statements prospectively from

the date of implementation.

Retroactive reporting of all major general infrastructure assets is encouraged but not
required untit January 1, 2007 when GASB 34 requires the City to retroactively report all
major general Infrastructure assets acquired since January 1, 1980. For the year ended
December 31, 2005, the City has not retroactively reported all network infrastructure
acquired by its governmental fund types.

Additions to and replacements of capital assets of business-type activities are recorded
at original cost, which includes material, labor, overhead, and an allowance for the cost
of funds used during construction when significant. For tax-exempt debt, the amount of
Interest capitalized equals the interest expense incurred during construction netted
against any interest from temporary investment of borrowed fund proceeds. No net
interest was capitalized during the current year. The cost of renewals and betterments
relating to retirement units is added to plant accounts. The cost of property replaced,
retired or otherwise disposed of, is deducted from plant accounts and, generally,
together with removal costs less salvage, is charged to accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the
statement of activities, with accumulated depreciation reflected in the statement of net
assets. Depreciation is provided over the assets’ estimated useful lives using the
straight-line method of depreciation. The range of useful lives by asset type of follows:

Buildings and improvements 20-50 Years

Machinery and Equipment 5-30 Years

Water and sewer systems 20-100 Years

Infrastructure 30-90 Years
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CITY OF FRANKLIN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Becember 31, 2005

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS OR EQUITY (continued)
5. Capital Assets (continued)

Fund Financlal Statements

In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund operations are
accounted for as capital outlay expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition.
Capital assets used in proprietary fund operations are accounted for the same in the
government-wide statements.

6. Other Assets

In governmental funds, debt issuance costs are recognized as expenditures in the
current period. For the government-wide and proprietary fund type financial statements,
debt issuance costs are deferred and amortized over the term of the debt issue.

7. Compensated Absences *

Under terms of employment, employees may earn compensatory time and are granted
sick leave, severance pay and vacations in varying amounts, Only benefits considered to
be vested are disclosed in these statements.

All vested compensatory time, sick leave, severance pay and vacation pay are accrued
when incurred in the government-wide, proprietary and fiduciary fund financial
statements. A liability for these amounts Is reported in governmental funds only if they
have matured, for example, as a result of employee resignations or retirements and are
payable with expendable available resources.

Payments for vested compensatory time, sick leave, severance pay and vacation pay will
be made at rates in effect when the benefits are used. Accumulated vested
compensatory time, sick leave, severance pay and vacation pay liabilities are determined
on the basis of current salary rates and include salary related payments.

The City also provides postemployment health and dental care benefits for all eligible
employees. Eligibility and bénefit levels are based on contractual agreements with
employee groups, City ordinances and employee benefit policies. Some employees may
leave their accumulated severance to pay for their portion of heaith care premiums. The
City contribution to postretirement health care is 75% of the year of retirement premium
cost with the employee paying any balance due plus the cost of any dental benefit
selected. The City’s portion of health care cost is recognized as expenditure in the
period premiums are paid. Funding for those costs is provided out of the current
operating budget of the City. The contributions are financed on a pay as you go basis.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACGOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS OR EQUITY (continued)
8. Long-term Obligations/Conduit Debt

All long-term obligations to be repaid from governmental and business-type resources
are reported as liabilities in the government-wide statements. The long-term obligations
consist primarily of notes and bonds payable and accrued compensated absences.

Long-term obligations for governmental funds are not reported as liabilities in the fund
financial statements. The face value of debt (plus any premium) is reported as other
financing sources and payments of principal and Interest are reported as expenditures.
The proprietary fund accounting is the same as it is in the government-wide statements.

For the government-wide and proprietary fund statements, bond premiums and discounts
are deferred and amortized over the life of the issue using the straight-line method.
Gains or losses on prior refundings are amortized over the remaining life of the old debt,

- or the life of the new debt, whichever is shorter. The balance at year end for both

premiums/discounts and gains/losses, as applicable, is shown as an increase or
decrease in the liability section of the statement of net assets.

The City has approved issuance of industrial development revenue bonds (IDRB) for the
benefit of private business enterprises. IDRB's are secured by mortgages or revenue
agreements on associated projects of the business enterprises and do not constitute
indebtedness of the City. Accordingly, the bonds are not reported as liabilities in the
financia! statements.

9. Claims and Judgments

Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental
Accounting Standards Board pronouncements are met, Claims and judgments that would
normally be liquidated with expendable available financial resources are recorded during
the year as expendituies in the ‘government funds. If they are not to be liquidated with
expendable available financial resources, no liability is recognized in governmental fund
financial statements. The' rélated expenditure is recognized when the lability is
liquidated. Claims and judgments are recorded in the government-wide statements and
proprietary funds as expenses when the related liabilities are incurred. There were no
significant claims or judgments at year end.
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

D. ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS OR EQUITY (continued)
10. Equity Classlﬂcatio‘ns
Government-Wide Statements
Equity is classified as net assets and displayed in three components:

a. Invested in capital assets, net of related debt — Consists of capital assets including
restricted capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the
outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are
attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets less
any unspent debt proceeds.

b. Restricted net assets — Consists of net assets with constraints placed on their use
either by 1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or
regulations of other governments or, 2) law through constitutional provisions or
enabling legislation.

C. Unrestricted net assets - All other net assets that do not meet the definition of
“restricted” or “invested in capital assets, net of related debt”.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's
policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources, as they are needed.

Fund Statements

Governmental fund equity is classified as fund balance. Fund balance is further classified
as reserved and unreserved. Unreserved fund balance includes funds set aside by
management for specific uses, which are labeled "designated”. The balance of
unreserved fund balange is labeled "undesignated”, which indicates it is available for
appropriation. Proprietary fund equlty Is classified the same as in the government-wide
statements.

11. Comparative data

The basic financial statements Include comparative data for the prior year for individual
enterprise funds in the fund financial statements in order to provide an understanding of
the changes in financial position and operations of these funds. This comparative data is
not at the ilevel of detail required for a presentation in conformity with general accepted
accounting principles. Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction with
the City's financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2004, from which the
data was derived.
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December 31, 2005

NOTE 2 - RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A. EXPLANATION OF CERTAIN DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCE
SHEET AND THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation between fund balance -
total governmental funds and net assets — governmental activities as reported in the
government-wide statement of net assets. One element of that reconciliation explains
that “other long term assets that are not avaitable to pay for current period expenditures
and therefore are deferred in the funds™. The details of this difference are as follows:

Special Assessments $3.002.695

Capita) assets used in government funds are not financial resources and, therefore, are
not reported in the funds.

tand $6,885,868
Buildings . 21,288,949
fMachinery and equipment 11,742,433
Infrastructure 11,998,351
Construction in progress 416,821
Less: Accumulated depreciation {11,634,303)
Adjustment for capital assets $40.692.119

Long-term liabilities applicable to the Clity's governmental activities are not due and
payable in the current period,.and accordingly, are not reported as fund liabilities.
Interest on long-term debt is not accrued in governmental funds, but rather is recognized
as an expenditure when due. All liabilities-both current and long-term-are reported in the
statement of net assets. .

General obligation debt $32,900,000
Lease revenue bonds 17,715,000
Deferred amounts for premiums 194,333
Unamortized debst issue costs {43,937)
Compensated absences 1,249,069
Net pension obligation 129,381
Accrued interest 700,798
. Combined adjustment for long-term liabilities $52.844 642
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CITY OF FRANKLIN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2005

NOTE 2 - RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AMD FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B. EXPLANATION OF CERTAIN DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENTAL FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUE, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES AND THE
GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

The governmental fund statement of revenue, expenditures and changes in fund
balances Includes a reconciliation between net changes in fund balances - total
governmental funds and changes in net assets of governmental activities as reported in
the government wide statement of activities. One element of that reconciliation explains
that “revenue in the statement of activities that do not provide current financiai resources
are not reported as revenue in the funds™. The details of this difference are as follows:

Special assessment levies $54,083

Another element of that reconciliation states that “the issuance of long-term debt (e.g.,
bonds, notes) provides current financial resources to governmental fund, while the
_ repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current financial resources of
governmental funds. Neither transaction, however, has any effect on net assets™. The
details of this difference are,as follows:

Debt issued or incurred:

Issuance of general obligation bonds and notes $10,000,000
Principal repayments:
General obligation debt 4,215,000

Net adjustment to decrease net changes
In fund balances ~ total governmental
Funds to arrive at changes in net
Assets of governmental activities $5,785.000

Another element of that reconciliation states that "Governmental funds report the effects
of issuance costs, premiums, discounts and similar items when the debt is first issued,
whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the statement of activities.” The
details of the differences are as follows:

Debt issuance costs incurred $46,250
Premium received L (204,561)
Amortization of Issuance costs (2,313)
Amortization of premium 10,228

Net adjustment to decrease net changes in fund
balances-total governmental funds to arrive at
changes in net assets of governmental activities $(150,396)
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NOTE 2 - RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE “AND FUND FINANGIAL STATEMENTS
{continued)

B. Explanation of Certain differences between the Governmental Fund Statement
of Revenue, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances and the Government-
wide Statement of Activities (continued)

Another element of that reconciliation states that "some expenses reporled in the
statement of activities do not require the use of current financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds'™, The details of this
difference are as follows: *

Compensated absences $103,389
Net Pension cbligations 129,381
Other (23,000)
Accrued Interest 89,456

Net adjustments to increase net changes in
fund balances - total governmental funds
to arrive at changes in net assets of
governmental activities £299.226

Another element of that reconciliation states that “revenue in the governmental funds that
provides current financial resources but have been previously recorded as revenue in the
statement of activitles”. The details of this difference are as follows:

Special assessment collections $856,275
Partial interest in sale of land 237.830

Net adjustments to décrease net changes in fund
balances ~ total governmental funds to arrive at
changes in net assets of governmental activities $1.004.105

NOTE 3 - STEWARDSHIR,.COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

A. BUDGETARY INFORMATION

Budgetary information is derived from the annual operating budget and is presented
using the same basis of accounting for each fund as described in Note 1 C with the
exception of encumbrances and tax equivalent from the water utility. Actual (Budgetary
basis) expenditures presented reflect actual {GAAP) expenditures adjusted for
expenditures liquidated under the prior period budget and encumbrances expected to be
liguidated under the current period budget. Actual (budgetary basis) revenue present the
tax equivalent from the water utllity.as tax revenue while the GAAP basis statements
present this item as a transfer in.
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NOTE 3 - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY {continued)

“

A. BUDGETARY INFORMATION (continued)

A budget has been adopted for the general, debt service, library, capital outlay,
equipment replacement, capital improvement, street improvement, sanitary sewer and
water utility funds. Budgets have not been formally adopted for other funds.

The budgeted amounts presented include any amendments made during the year. The
City may authorize transfers of budgeted amounts within departments. Transfers
between departments and changes to the overall budget must be approved by a two-
thirds vote of the common council. Supplemental appropriations during the year were
not significant. Appropriations lapse at the end of the year unless specifically carried
over. Carryovers to the following year were not material. Budgets are adopted at the
function level of expenditure.

B. EXCESS EXPENDITURES OVER APPROPRIATIONS

The City controls expenditures at the function level {(e.g. public safety). Some
" departments within functions experienced expenditures that exceeded departmental
appropriations, Details of those items can be found in the budget to actual report on
Schedule 4.

C. DEFICIT BALANCES

Generally accepted accounting principles require disclosure of individual funds that have
deficit balances at year end. At December 31, 2005 the TIF Districts Fund had a deficit
balance of $1,294,109.

TIF District deficits are anticipated to be funded with future incremental taxes levied over
the life of the districts, which is. 27 years for our TIF District #2 that was created before
October 1, 1995, and 23 years for our TIF Districts #3 & TIF District #4 created in 2005,

D. LIMITATIONS ON THE CITY’S TAX LEVY

As part of Wisconsin's Act 25 (2005), new legislation was passed that limits the city 's
future tax levies. Generally, the City is limited to its prior tax levy dollar amount
(excluding TIF districts), increased by the greater of the percentage changs in the City's
equalized value sue to new construction, or 2%. Changes in debt service from one year
to the next are generaily exempt from this limit. The levy limit begins with the 2005 levy
cotlected in 2008 and is set to expire after the 2006 levy.
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NOTE 4 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS .

A, CASH AND INVESTMENTS

Cash and investment balances disclosed herein are an integral part of the pooled cash
and investments of the City.

Deposits in each local and area bank are insured by the FDIC in the amount of $100,000
for interest bearing accounts and $100,000 for non interest bearing accounts. The City's
bank accounts are also insured by the State of Wisconsin Deposit Guarantee Fund in the
amount of $400,000. However, due to the relatively small size of the Guarantee Fund in
relationship to the total deposits covered and other legal implications, recovery of
material principal losses may not be significant to the City. This coverage has not been
considered in ¢computing the insured or collateralized amounts.

Investments in the local government investment pool are covered under a surety bond
issued by Financial Security Assurance, Inc. The bond insures against losses arising
from principal defaults on substantially all types of securities acquired by the poo! except

“U.S. Government and agency securlties. The bond provides unlimited coverage on

principal losses, reduced by FDIC and State of Wisconsin Guarantee Fund insurance.

The City maintains a collateral arrangement with its main bank to provide collateralization
in excess (about 20%) of deposits maintained at the bank. The collateral is maintained at
the Federal Reserve and the City receives monthly reports of the collateral in place. The
collateral balance at December 31, 2005 was $33,140,847.

Cash and investments as shown on the December 31, 2005 City of Franklin Statement of
Net Assets are subject to the following risks:

Carrying Bank
Value Balances Risks
Cash and demand deposits $ 45,845,672 $ 29,872,661 Custodial
U.S. treasuries and agencies 5,720,755 5,720,755 Credit and interest rate
Asset backed securities 1,341,215 1,341,215 Credit and interest rate
Corporate bonds 345,402 345,402 Credit, interest rate
and concentration of credit
Local Government Investment Pool 20,773,788 20,773,788 Credit and interest rate
Total ) . $ 74026832 $ 58,053,821
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NOTE 4 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS {continued).

A, CASH AND INVESTMENTS [continued)

Reconclliation to the financial statements is shown below:

Primary Government:

Unrestricted cash and investments $ 32,209,905
Restricted cash and investments 178,274
Per Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets 41,638,653

§ 74,026,832

Custodial Credit Risk For deposils - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of
a financial institution failure, the City's deposits may not be returned to the City. As of
December 31, 2005 $1,518,209 of the City's total bank balances of $28,209.703 was
uninsured and uncollateralized and therefore exposed to custodial credit risk. For
Investments ~ Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the
counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral
securities in the possession of an outside party. The City does not have any investments
that were exposed to custodial credit risks at December 31, 2005.

Credit Risk Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty will not fulfill its
obligation. As of December 31, 2005 the City's investments in treasuries, agencies and
corporate bonds were rated Moody's Investor Service from AA3 to AAA with only 2.8% of
the portfolio in the lowest (AA3) rating. Treasury and agency securities make up 22% of
the portfolio. Local Government Investment Pool is not rated and makes up 72% of the
portfolio.

Concentration of Credit Risk Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to
a large Investment position.In a single issuer. As of the December 31, 2005 no issue
other than the Local Governmiént Investment Pool, treasury or agency securities had a
position of greater than.four percent of the portfolio.

Interest Rate Risk Interest rate risk is the risk that rising interest rates will have an

adverse impact on the fair value of the investments in the portfollo. The longer the
maturities in the portfolio the greater the risk of loss in portfolio value.
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NOTE 4 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (continued)

A. CASH AND INVESTMENTS (continued)

As of December 31, 2003 the City's investments were as follows:

Fair Investment Maturity in years
Investment Type (in thousands) Value Less than 1 1-5 More than 5
Money Market $ 662958 $ 662958 $ - 8 -
U.S. treasuries and agencies 5,720,755 1,318,002 4,269,804 132,949
Asset backed securities 1,341,215 - 1,341,215 -
Corporate bonds 345,402 50,110 295,292 -

Local Government Investrment Poaol 20,773,788 _20,773.788 - -

Total $28844,118 $22.804.858 § 5906311 $ 132,949

B. RECEIVABLES

Receivables consist of accounts, taxes and special assessments from citizens and
others. Receivables are reported net of uncollectible amounts. The reserve for bad
debts, principally for personal property taxes and a general valuation allowance, was
$44,824 at December 31, 2005. Other than special assessment receivables, all other
receivables are expected to be coliected within one year.

Governmental funds report deferred revenue in connection with receivables for revenue
that are not considered to be available to liquidate fiabilities of the current period.
Property taxes receivable for the subsequent year are not earned and can not be used to
liquidate liabilities of the current period. Governmental funds also defer revenue
recognition in connection with resources that have been received, but not yet earned. At
the end of the current fiscal year, the various components of deferred and unearned
revenue reported in the financial statements were as follows:

Unavailable Unearned Total
Governmental Funds:
Property taxes receivable 3 - § 20,449,869 $ 20,449,969
Speclaf assessments not yet due 3,002,695 - 3,002,695

Total deferrediuneamed revenue

for governmental funds $ 3,002,695 $ 20,449,969 $ 23,452,664
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NOTE 4 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS {continued)

C. RESTRICTED ASSETS
Sewer Equipment Replacement Account

In accordance with the City's ordinance enacting a sewer user charge system and
regulations of the Department of Natural Resources, the Sanitary Sewer Fund — an
Enterprise Fund, incorporated an equipment replacement charge as a component of the
rate structure to be used for significant mechanical equipment replacement as required
by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. Revenue generated from this
charge are accumulated and used for replacement of certain equipment. The balance In
this account at December 31, 2005 is $178,274.

D. CGAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activily for the year ended December 31, 2005 was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Governmental Activities ] Balance Additions  Dispositions Balance
Capital assets not depreciated:;
Land $ 4,777,991 $ 2,107.877 $ - 3 6,885,868
Construction [n progress - 415,821 - 415,821
Total capital assets not depreciated 4,777,991 2,523,698 - 7,301,689
Capital assets depreciated:
Buildings & improvements 21,190,277 98,672 - 21,288,949
Machinery & equipment 11,482,674 620,428  (360.669) 11,742,433
Infrastructure bl 8,323,261 3,675,090 - 11,998,351
Total capital assets depreciated 40,996,212 4,394,190 (360,669) _ 45029,733
Less: Accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings & improvermnents 3,826,776 482,307 - 4,309,083
Machinery & equipment 6,637,048 788,015  (360,669) 7,062,394
Infrastructure 109,713 163,113 - 262,826
Total accumulated depreciation 10,573,537 _ 1,421,435 _(360,669) __ 11,634,303
Net capital assets depreciated 30,422,675 _ 2,972,755 - _ 33395430
Governmetal Activities Capital Assets,
Net of Accumulated Depreciation $ 35,200,666 $ 5,496,453 $ - $ 40,697,119

Under provisions of GASB 34 implementation of infrastructure assets prior to 2003 may be
deferred until 2007, if necessary. The Cily of Franklin has elected to defer until, at least 2006,
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 4 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (continued)

D. CAPITAL ASSETS (continued)

Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:

i Governmaental Activities
General government
Public safety

| Public works

I Health & human services

i Culture & recreation

| Conservation & development

Business-type Activities
Capilal Assets not depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets not depreciated
Capital assets depreciated:
: Bulldings & improvements
! Machinery & equipment
i Infrastructure

Total capital assets depreciated

Less: Accurnulated depreciation for:
Buildings & improvements
Machinery & equipment
Infrastructure

Total accumulated depreciation
Net capital assets depreciated

Business-type Activities Capital Assets,
Net of Accumulated Depreciation

Total governmental activities depreciation expense

the inclusion of prior infrastructure assets. The implication of this decision is capital assets
and investment in capital assets net of indebtedness are lower than otherwise expected.

$ 197,942

555,655

480,387

4,477

177.007

5.967

$ 1,421,435

Beginning Ending

Balance Additions __ Dispositions Balance
$ 426,384 $ - 3 -8 426,384
- 453 - 453
426,384 453 - 426,837
2,345,953 59,686 (63,500) 2,342,139
1,873,833 14,072 - 1,887,905
91,140,721 4.927.313 {603) 96,067,431
95,360,507 5.001.071 (84,103) 100,297,475
549,301 80,038  (63,500) 565,839
1,021,613 111,225 - 1,132,838
12,813,847 1,113,454 {603) 13,926,698
14,384,761 1,304,717 _(64,103) 15,625,375
80,975,748 3,698,354 - 84,672,100
$ 81,402,130 3 3,696,807 $ - $ 85,098,937
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NOTE 4 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (continued)
D. CAPITAL ASSETS (continued)

Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows.
Business-Type Activities:

Water $ 592,422
Sewer 712,295
$ 1,304,717

E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS

The interfund receivables and payables at December 31, 2005 are as follows:

Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount
Governmental funds:

General Water Utility $ 252,829

General Sanitary Sewer 1,278
Enterprise funds:

Water Utility - Sanitary Sewer 145,355
Subtotal - Fund Financlal Statements 399,462
Less: Government-wide eliminations 145,356
Total internal baiances - Government-Wide

Statement of Net Assets $ 254,107

The principal purpose of these interfund balances result from the time iag between the
dates that (1) interfund goods and services are provided or reimbursable expenditures
occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system and (3) payments between
funds are made. In all cases amounts are repaid within one year,

For the statement of net assets, interfund balances owed within the governmental
activities or business - type activities are netted and eliminated.
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NOTE 4 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS {continued)

E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS {continued)
Long Term Advances

The debt service fund has advanced funds to TIF District #3 and TIF District #4. The
amounts advanced were part of the proceeds of a borrowing designed fo enable these
new TIF Districts to carry out their approved project plans. The debt service fund is
charging the TIF Districts fund interest based upon the amount advanced at an interest
rate based upon the interest rate Incurred by the debt service fund on this borrowing. The
advance is to be repald to correspond with the principal amounts due by the debt service
fund for this borrowing.

Amounts not
due within
Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount one year
Governmental funds:
Debt service TIF Districts $6,717,987 § 6,717,987
Less: Fund eliminations (6,717.987)
Total long-term advances - Government-Wide
Statement of Net Assets $ -

Interfund Transfers

Generally, transfers are used to (1) move revenue from the funds that collect them to the
fund that the budge! requires to expend them, (2) move receipts restricted to debt
service from the funds collecting the receipts to the debt service fund and (3) use
unrestricted revenue collected in the general fund to finance various programs accounted
for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations.
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NOTE 4 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS {¢ontinued)

E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS (continued)

Transfers during the year ended December 31, 2005 were as follows:

Transfer in Transfer Out Amount

General Enterprise - Water Utility $ 772,336

Enterprise - Sanitary Sewer 5,493

Debt Service Capital Projects - Develcpment 431,425

Special Revenue - TIF Districts 113,589

Special Revenue - Master Plan  General 200,000
Capital Projects Funds:

Capital Qutlay General 224,400

Special Revenue - Grant 115,789

Equipment Replacement Special Revenue - Donations 128,116

Capital Improvements Capital Projects - Street Improvement 74,200

Capital Projects - Development 1,326,849

Capital Projects - Utility Improvement 83,270

Enterprise - Water Utility Capital Projects - Capital Improvement 822,361

Capital Projects - Davelopment 749,044

Enterprise - Sanitary Sewer Capital Projects - Capital Improvement 97,225

Capital Projects - Utility Improvement 43480

Subtotal - Fund financial statements 5,198,577

Less: Government-wide eliminations __ 4,264,296

Total transfers - Government-wide Statement of Activities $ 934,281

F. 1.ONG TERM OBLIGATIONS
General Ohligation Debt
All general obligation notes and bonds payable are backed by the full faith and credit of the
City. The notes and bonds will be retired by future property tax levies, special assessment
collections and designated tandfill revenue.
The City used avaliable funds, to repay the remaining $550,000 in maturities of the

$3,250,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds issued in 1996 at interest rates ranging
from 4.0% to 5.1% on September 1, 2005, an early redemption call date.
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NOTE 4 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (continued)

Long-term fiabilities for the year ended December 31, 2005 were as follows:

Amounts
Balance Balance due within
12/31/04 Additions Deletions 12/31/05 one year
Governmental Activities
General obligation debt $ 24,800,000 §$ 10,000,000 $ 1,900,000 $ 32,800,000 § 1.300,000
Lease revenue debt 20,030,000 - 2,315,000 17,715,000 2,750,000
Unamortized premium - 204,561 10,228 184,333 20,456
Sub-totat 44,830,000 10,204,561 4,226,228 50,809,333 4,070,456
Compensaled absences
Accrued vacation pay 264,638 675,565 643,411 296,792 296,792
Accrued severance pay 807,456 95,233 39,022 863,667 -
Accrued compensatory time 73,585 173,706 158.681 88,610 88610
Total compensated absences 1,145,679 944,504 841,114 1,249,069 385,402
Government activities
Long-term liabilities $ 45975679 §11,148.065 S 5.068.342 § 52,058402 $ 4.455,858

The governmental activities compensated absences accrue to and are paid from the City's
General Fund.

Business-type Activities
Compensated absences

Accrued vacation pay $ 33397 § 34442 § 31,832 § 36.008 $ 36,008
Accrued severance pay 45,106 13,701 - 58.807 -
Accrued compensatory time 1,079 4,085 3,683 1,481 1,481
Business-type activities
Long-term liabilities $ 79582 S 52,228 $ 35515 § 96,296 § 37,489
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Dacember 31, 2006

NOTE 4 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (continued)

F. LONG TERM OBLIGATIONS (continued)

Details of general obligation notes and bonds payable are as follows:

Balance
Date of Interest Principal Interest Qriginal Outstanding
Type issue Rate Payable  Payable Amount 12/31

General obligation promissory notes
5/ 1/198 3.54.3 5M/00-09 5/1&11/11 § 7,850,000 $ 4,325,000
5/15/01 4.254.60 3/ 1/02-11 3/1& 91 10,000,000 8,750,000
8/15/05 3.75-3.80 3/ 1/07-15 3/1& 9 10,000,000 10,000,000
General obligation refunding bonds

4/18/01  4.3-5.40 3/1/02-21 3/1& 91 10,000,000 5,825,000
$ 32,900,000

Annual principal and interest payments to maturity on general obligation notes and bonds
payable are as follows: e

Balance
Outstanding
Year Principal interest Total 12/31

2005 $ 32,900,000
2006 $ 1,300,000 $ 1,433,187 $ 2,733,187 31,600,000
2007 2,350,000 1,338,485 3,688,485 29,250,000
2008 2,925,000 1,224,866 4,149,866 26,325,000
2008 3,300,000 1,090,998 4,390,998 23,025,000
2010 2,925,000 957,172 3,882,172 20,100,000
2011 - 2015 12,845,000 3,130,500 15,975,500 7,255,000
2016 - 2020 o~ 5,695,000 1,153,463 6,848,463 1,560,000

2021 1,560,000 39,000 1,599,000 -
$ 32,800,000 §$ 10,367,671 $ 43,267,671

The Clty's statutory debt limit and margin of indebtedness at December 31, 2005 are
$151,540,795 and $118,640,795, respectively.

Conduit Debt Obligations
Twelve series of Industrial Revenue Bonds originally issued with an aggregate principal

amount of $109,485.000 are outstanding with a December 31. 2005 balance of
$100,252,376.

Page 63

F. LONG TERM OBLIGATIONS (continued)

Lease Revenue Debt

The Authority issued Redevelopment Lease Revenue Bonds for the purpose of financing a
loan from the Authority to the City to finance project costs associated with the City's Tax
Incremental District #2. The bonds are not general obligations of the Authority or the City,
but are secured by the obligation of the City to make payments under a iease between the
Authority and the City. The lease generally provides for payments by the City to the
Authority in amounts equal to the principal and interest payments on the bonds on the
dates such payments are due.

Dateof Interest  Principal Interest Original Balance
Type Jssue Rate Payable Payable Amount 12/31

- Redevelopment Lease Revenue Bonds

71/98 665-6.95 4/1/04-08 4/1&10/1 $ 5275000 $ 3,375,000
7/1/98 3.80-5.20 4/1/99-13  4/1&101 18,145,000 14,340,000

$ 17,715,000

Annual principal and interest payments to maturity on Redevelopment Lease Revenue
Bonded Debt are as follows;

Balance
Year Principal Interest Total 12/31
2005 $ 17,715,000
2006 $ 2,750,000 $ 858,780 3% 3,608,780 14,965,000
2007 2,820,000 705,335 3,525,335 12,145,000
2008 * “~ 2,910,000 544,433 3,454,433 9,235,000
2009 * 1,715,000 420,960 2,135,960 7,520,000
2010 * 1,870,000 333,985 2,203,985 5,650,000

2011 -2013 * 5,650,000 437,045 6,087,045 -
$ 17,715,000 $ 3,300,538 §$ 21,015,538

* The City issued in January 2006 $10,000,000 in general obligation notes for the
purpose of refinance existing lease revenue bonds. The issues called were all maturities
due in 2009 to 2013 and $535,000 of the 2008 maturities. The new notes are scheduled
to mature in amounts of $2,300,000 to $4,700,000 per year on March 1 from 2009 to
2011 and bear interest rates of 3.89% to 4.00%. payable semi-annually on March 1 and
September 1 of each year.
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NOTE 4 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (continued)

NOTE 4 - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (continued)

G. NET ASSETS/FUND BALANGES
Governmental Activities

Government activities net assets reported on the governmenl-wide
assets at December 31, 2005 inciude the following:

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Land
Construction in process
Other capltal assets, net of accumulated depreciation
Less: related long term debt outstanding
Total invested in capital assets
Restricted for:
Debt service
Library
Emergency medical services
Utility improvement
Development
Donations
Grants
Total restricted

Unrestricted

Total governmental activities net assets
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statement of net

$ 6,885,868
415,821
33,395,430

(39.062,445)
1,634,674

51,689
248,174
16,624
1,129,596
2,853,329
83,368
84,466
4,467,246

10,242,063
$_16.343.983

G. NET ASSETS/FUND BALANCES (continued)

Governmental Fund Balances

Governmental fund balances reported on the fund financial statements at December 31,

20085 include the following:
Reserved
Major funds:
General Fund - Inventories, prepald items and encumbrances
Debt Service Fund - subsequent year debt service
Debt Service Fund - advances to other funds
Non Major funds:
Special Revenue Funds:
Library services including prepaid item
Emergency medical services and grants
Donations
Capital Project Funds:
Capital Oullay - encumbrances
Capital Improvement - encumbrances
Capital Improvement - subsequent year expenses
Development
Utility improvement
Total reserved

Unreserved:
Major Fund - General Fund
Designated for working capital -
Designated for subsequerit year expenditures
Undesignated -
Total General Fund
Major Fund - TIF Districts Fund
Undesignated (Deficit)
Non Major funds:
Special Revenue funds
Designated for master plan activities
Designated for clvic celebration activities
Total Special Revenue funds
Capital project funds
Designated for Capital Outlay
Designated for Equipment Replacement
Designated for Capital Improvement
Designated for Street Improvement
Total Capital Project Funds

Total Unreserved Funds
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§ 57,391
2,001,554
6,717,987

248,174
101,090
83,368

197,000
4,000
385,000
2,853,329
1,129,596

§ 13,778,489

$ 3,416,000
950,000
2,045,669
6,411,669

1,294,109

190,346
28,424
218,770

122,905
2,042,573
3,866,198

420,655
6,452,331

§ 11,788,661
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CITY OF FRANKLIN
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2005

“

H. RESTATEMENT OF FUND BALANCES/NET ASSETS

Fund balance and net assets have been restated due lo the change in reporting of Tax
Incremental Financing District #2 activity from the Component Unit (Authority) financial
statements to the Primary Government financial statements. The change was
necessitated after a review of the reporting of TIF District activity due to the
establishment of additional T!F Districts,

TIF
Fund Balance - December 31, 2004 (reported) 3 -
Reclassified funds from Authorily financial statements 239,847
Fund balance - January 1, 2005 (restated) $ 239,847
Governmental Component Fiducary
Activities Unit Funds

Net assets (liabilities) -

Decsmber 31, 2004 (reported) $ 26,815,712 $(19,840,332) $ -
Add (deduct):

Lease receivable from City - 20,030,000 -

Reclassified funds from Authority

financial statements 239,847 (239,847) -

Lease payable to Authority (20,030,000) - -

Accrued lease interest receivable - 265,009 -

Taxes receivable - - (2,925,386)

Due to other governments - - 2,925,386

Accrued lease interest payable (265,009) - -

Developer receivable deferred revenue 237,830 (237.830) -

Contract accounts payable (23,000) 23,000 -
Net assets - January 1, 2005 (restated) § 6,975,380 3 - 3§ -
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NOTE 5 — OTHER INFORMATION <

A, DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS
Wisconsin Retirement System

All eligible protective City of Franklin employees participate in the Wisconsin Retirement
System (“System”), a cost-sharing muitiple-employer defined benefit public employee
retirement system ("PERS"). All permanent employees expected to work over 600 hours
a year are eligible to participate in the System. Covered employees in the general
category are required by statute to contribute 5.8% of their salary {4.9% for protective
occupations with social security, and 3.3% for protective occupations without social
security) to the plan.

Employers may make these contributions to the plan on behalf of the employees.
Employers are required to contribute an actuarially determined amount necessary to fund
the remaining projected cost of future benefits.

" The payroll for employees covered by the System for the year ended December 31, 2005

was $6,321,461; the employer's total payrofl was $11,288,707. The total required
contribution paid entirely by the employer for the year ended December 31, 2005 was
$1,156,827 or 18.3% of covered payroll. Of the total required contribution, 100 percent
was contributed for the current year. Total contributions for the years ended December
31, 2004 and 2003 were $1,089,238 and $947,469, respectively, equal to the required
contributions for each year,

Protective employees who retire at or after age 53 with 25 years or more of service or
age 54 with less than 25 years of service are entitled to receive retirement benefits.
Protective employees may retire at age 50 and receive actuarially reduced benefits. The
factors influencing the benefit are: (1) final average earnings, {2) years of creditable
service and (3) a formula factor. Final Average Earnings is the average of the protective
employee's three highest years earnings. Protective employees terminating covered
employment before becoming eligible for retirement benefits may withdraw their
contributions and, by “doing so, forfeit all rights to any subsequent benefits. For
employees beginning participation after January 1, 1980 and no longer actively employed
on or after April 24, 1998, creditable service in each of five years is required for eligibility
for a retirement annuity. Participants employed pricr to 1990 and on or after April 24,
1998 are immediately vested.

The System also provides death and-disability benefits for employees. Eligibility for and
the amount of all benefits is determined under Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes.
The System issues an annval-financial report that may be obtained by writing to the
Department of Employee Trust Funds, P.O. Box 7931, Madison, WI 53707-7931.
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NOTE 5 - OTHER INFORMATION (continued) .«

A. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (continued)
Public Works Employees Pension Plan
Plan Description

The City is also a participant in the City of Frankiin Public Works Employees’ Pension
Plan, a non-contributory single employer defined benefit pension plan covering eligible
public works employees. The assets of this Plan are administered by Principal Life
Insurance Company. An annual financial report may be obtained by writing to the plan
administrator at Principal Financlal Group, P.O. Box 8693, Des Moines, IA 50306-9396.

Employees altaining the age of 60 are entitled to annual benefits of 1.98% of average
compensation multiplied by the number of complete years of service subsequent to
January 1, 1956. Average comipensation is defined as the monthiy total pay plus salary
deferrals, compensation and overtime received for the three consecutive years out of the

" ten latest years which gives the highest average. Employees may retire early and

recelve reduced benefits at age 55 with at least ten years of service.

Disability benefits equivalent to expected benefits at normal retirement date are paid until
normal retirement date, death or recovery. If an active employee dies, his or her
beneficiary receives a lump-sum cash payment equal to the parlicipant's accumulation at
date of death or an annuity benefit deferred until participant’s earliest retirement date.

If an employee terminates his or her employment with the City, the employee has the
option of accepting either normal retirement benefits at normal retirement date, or a
lump-sum cash payment of participant's vested accumnulations. An employee becomes
50% vested after five years of service and 100% vested after ten years.

Employees do not make pension contributions. The City contributes all amounts
necessary to fund the pension plan, using the aggregate actuarial cost method.

Funding Policy .
The City's funding policy has ‘been to provide yearly contributions at actuarially
determined rates that, expressed as a percentage of covered payroll, are designed to
accumulate sufficient assets to pay benefits when due.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, contributions totaling $159,000 were made.
Full payment in accordance with contribution requirements determined by an actuarial
valuation of the pension plan as of January 1, 2005 were not made pending a review of
and revision to the administration contract and possible changes in early 2006. The
annual actuarial valuation employer contributions amount represented 22.7% of current
year covered payroll.
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A. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (continued)
Public Works Employees Pension Plan (continued)
Annual Pension Cost

For 2005, the City's annual pension cost of $288,381 for the pension plan was greater
than to the City's and actual.contributions. The required contribution was determined
during the January 1, 2005 actuarizal valuation using the aggregate actuarial cost method.

The aggregate actuarial cost method does not identify or separately amortize unfunded
actuarial liabilities. Significant actuarial assumptions inciude: (a) a rate of return on the
investment of present and future assets ranging from 5.0% to 7.0% compounded
annually, (b) projected salary increases of 2.00% per ysar compounded annually,
attributable to inflation, and (c) additional projected salary increases ranging from 1.88%

_to 5.10% per year, depending on age, attributable to seniority/merit. The assumptions

did not include post retirement benefit increases. The actuarial value of assets was
determined using techniques that smooth the effects of short-term volatility in the market
value of investments over a four-year period.

Three Year Trend Information

Annual Percentage Net
Year Pension of APC Pension
Ending Cost (APC) Contributed _ Obligation
12/31/2005  $ -288.381 55% $§ 129,381
12/31/2004 |, ., 204,665 100% -
12/31/2003 191,468 100% -
(A) (8) C) (&) E) (F)
Actuarial UAAL as
Actual Actuarial "~ Accrued Unfunded  Funded Percentage of
Valuation Asset Liability {AAL) AAL (UAAL) Ratio Covered Covered Payroll
Dats Value - Aggregate [(B)-(A)]__ [(AY(B)] Payroll [(CY(E)]
1/1/2005 § 2,929,045 '§ 3,058,426 129,381 96% $ 1,267,823 10%
11472004 2,563,079 2,563,079 - 100% 1,064,464 -%
1/1/2003 2,501,700 2,501,700 - 100% 990,311 %

There were no significant changes in actuarial assumplions during the valuation ysar ended
January 1, 2005.
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NOTE 5 - OTHER INFORMATION (continued)

NOTE 5 - OTHER INFORMATION {continued)

B. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

Based on City ordinances all eligible City of Franklin non-protective employees (except
public works employses) participate in the City of Franklin Defined Contribution Plan (the
“Plan™). The Plan assets are administered by the Principal Life Insurance Company.

Employees after completing six months of service with the City are eligible to participate.
The Plan requires the City to make periodic contributions to each participant’s account
equal to 10% of such participant's annual compensation. Employees may but are not
required to make contributions. A participant's accrued benefit for City contributions is
100% vested and non forfeitable upon death, normal retirement, early retirement or
permanent and total disability as defined in the Plan. If employment is terminated for any
other reason, each participant's accrued benefit vests at various percentages, based on
years of service. During 2005, the City made the required contribution amounting to
$339,899, or 10% of covered payroll and employees made $6,329 In additional voluntary
contributions to the plan. The City may make amendments to the Plan.

C. POST RETIREMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS

The City provides to longer term employees certain health care benefits at a reduced
cost during the period from their riormal retirement date until they reach age 65. The cost
of this retiree health care benefit js recognized as expenditures when premiums are due.
For 2005, 18 retired employees and their dependents recelved this benefit at a cost to
the City of approximately $116,919.

D. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

From time to time the City is party to various claims and legal proceedings. Although the
outcome of such matters in not presently determinable, it is the opinion of City
management and the City attorney that the likelihood Is remote that any such claims or
proceedings will have a material adverse effect on the City's financial position or results
of operations. R

The City has recelved federal and state grants for specific purposes that are subject to
review and audit by the grantor agencies. Such audits could lead to requests for
reimbursements to the grantor agency for expenditures disallowed under terms of the
grants. Management believes such disaliowances, if any, would be immaterial.

The City receives impact fees for new development projects. The fees are to be used to
fund specific projects within a specific period of time. In the event the projecls are not
completed or the time period elapses, the City will be required to refund the impact fees
to owners of property that the fees were originally charged.

The City has no material outstanding c¢ontractual commitments relating to various Public
Works projects and equipment purchases at December 31, 2005,
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E. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS {(continued)

Funding for the operating budget of the City comes from many sources, including
property taxes, grants and aids from other units of government, user fees, fines and
permits and other miscellaneous revenue. The State of Wisconsin provides a variety of
aid and grant programs that benefit the City. Those aid and grant programs are
dependent on continued approval and funding by the Wisconsin governor and legistature,
through their budget process. The State of Wisconsin is currently experiencing budget
problems and is considering numerous alternatives including reducing ald to ‘focal
governments. Any changes made by the State to funding or eligibility of local aid
programs could have a significant impact on the future operating results of the City.

F. RISK MANANGEMENT
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft, damage or destruction

of assets, errors and omissions, naturai disasters, and workers' compensation claims
that the City carries commercial insurance. No significant reductions in insurance

" coverage occurred for any risk of loss in the past year, and settled claims have not

exceeded commercial coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.

The City also offers a group medical and dental insurance plan to employees for which
the City is self-insured. This activity is accounted for in the City's Self Insurance Internal
Service Fund. Group medical and dental costs are charged to City departments and
retirees participating in the program. A third party administrator handles claims
payments. The City carrles stop loss insurance for losses in excess of $50,000 per year
per individual. Liabilities are reported when it is probable that loss has occurred and the
amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Liabilities include an estimated amount
for claims that have been incurred but not reported ("IBNR"). Changes in the balance of
claims payable for the three years ended December 31, 2005 are as follows:

Current
Balance Claims and Balance
- Beginning Changes in Claims End

of Year Estimates Payments of Year
2005 $ 359,500 $ 2,618,903 $ 2,612,403 $ 366,000
2004 294,500 2,248,233 2,183,233 359,500
2003 214,500 2,247,593 2,167,593 294,500
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE

This Continuing Disclosure Certificate (the "Disclosure Certificate™) is executed and
delivered by the City of Franklin, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin (the "Issuer") in connection
with the issuance of $10,000,000 Taxable General Obligation Promissory Notes, dated
January 3, 2007 (the "Securities"). The Securities are being issued pursuant to an Authorizing
Resolution adopted by the Governing Body of the Issuer on December 5, 2006 (the
"Resolution™) and delivered to Morgan Keegan & Company, Inc., Memphis, Tennessee (the
"Purchaser™) on the date hereof. Pursuant to the Resolution, the Issuer has covenanted and
agreed to provide continuing disclosure of certain financial information and operating data and
timely notices of the occurrence of certain events. In addition, the Issuer hereby specifically
covenants and agrees as follows:

Section 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Certificate. This Disclosure Certificate is being
executed and delivered by the Issuer for the benefit of the holders of the Securities in order to
assist the Participating Underwriters within the meaning of the Rule (defined herein) in
complying with SEC Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5). References in this Disclosure Certificate to holders of
the Securities shall include the beneficial owners of the Securities. This Disclosure Certificate
constitutes the written Undertaking required by the Rule. Any filing under this Disclosure
Certificate may be made solely by transmitting such filing to the Texas Municipal Advisory
Council (the "MAC") as provided at http://www.disclosureusa.org unless the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission has withdrawn the interpretive advice in its letter to the
MAC dated September 7, 2004.

Section 2. Definitions. In addition to the defined terms set forth in the Resolution, which
apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Certificate unless otherwise defined in this
Section, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:

"Annual Report" means any annual report provided by the Issuer pursuant to, and as
described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Certificate.

"Audited Financial Statements"” means the Issuer's annual financial statements, which are
currently prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for
governmental units as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and
which the Issuer intends to continue to prepare in substantially the same form.

"Final Official Statement" means the final official statement dated December 5, 2006
delivered in connection with the Securities, which is available from the MSRB.

"Fiscal Year" means the fiscal year of the Issuer.

"Governing Body" means the Common Council of the Issuer or such other body as may
hereafter be the chief legislative body of the Issuer.

"Issuer"” means the City of Franklin, Wisconsin which is the obligated person with respect
to the Securities.
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"Issuer Contact™ means the City Clerk of the Issuer who can be contacted at 9229 West
Loomis Road, Franklin, Wisconsin 53132, phone (414) 425-7500, fax (414) 425-6428.

"Material Event" means any of the events listed in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure
Certificate.

"MSRB" means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board located at 1900 Duke Street,
Suite 600, Alexandria, Virginia 22314.

"NRMSIR" means any nationally recognized municipal securities information repository
as recognized from time to time by the SEC for purposes of the Rule.

"Participating Underwriter" means any of the original underwriter(s) of the Securities
(including the Purchaser) required to comply with the Rule in connection with the offering of the
Securities.

"Repository™ means each NRMSIR and each SID, if any.

"Rule" means SEC Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5) promulgated by the SEC under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time, and official
interpretations thereof.

"SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"SID" means any public or private repository or entity designated by the State of
Wisconsin as a state information depository for the purpose of the Rule. As of the date of this
Certificate, there is no SID.

Section 3. Provision of Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements.

@) The Issuer shall, not later than 270 days after the end of the Fiscal Year,
commencing with the year that ends December 31, 2006, provide each Repository with an
Annual Report which is consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure
Certificate. The Annual Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents
comprising a package, and may cross-reference other information as provided in Section 4 of this
Disclosure Certificate; provided that the Audited Financial Statements of the Issuer may be
submitted separately from the balance of the Annual Report and that, if Audited Financial
Statements are not available within 270 days after the end of the Fiscal Year, unaudited financial
information will be provided, and Audited Financial Statements will be submitted to each
Repository when and if available.

(b) If the Issuer is unable or fails to provide to the Repositories an Annual Report by
the date required in subsection (a), the Issuer shall send in a timely manner a notice of that fact to
the NRMSIRs, the MSRB and any SID.

(©) The Issuer shall determine each year prior to the date for providing the Annual
Report the name and address of each NRMSIR and each SID, if any.
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Section 4. Content of Annual Report. The Issuer's Annual Report shall contain or
incorporate by reference the Audited Financial Statements, current general fund budget summary
and updates of the following sections of the Final Official Statement to the extent such financial
information and operating data are not included in the Audited Financial Statements:

1. Tax Levies, Rates and Collections
2. Equalized Valuations
3. Indebtedness of the City — Direct Indebtedness

Any or all of the items listed above may be incorporated by reference from other
documents, including official statements of debt issues of the Issuer or related public entities,
which have been submitted to each of the Repositories or the SEC. If the document incorporated
by reference is a final official statement, it must be available from the MSRB. The Issuer shall
clearly identify each such other document so incorporated by reference.

Section 5. Reporting of Material Events.

@) This Section 5 shall govern the giving of notices of the occurrence of any of the
following events if material with respect to the Securities:

1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies;

2. Non-payment related defaults;

3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial
difficulties;

4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial
difficulties;

5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

6. Adverse tax opinions or events affecting the tax-exempt status of the
Securities;

7. Modification to rights of holders of the Securities;

8. Securities calls;

0. Defeasances;

10. Release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the
Securities; and

11. Rating changes.

(b) Whenever a Material Event occurs, the Issuer shall as soon as possible determine
under applicable legal standards if such event would constitute material information for holders
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of Securities, provided, that any event under subsection (a) (8), (9) or (11) will always be
deemed to be material.

(c) If the Issuer determines that knowledge of the occurrence of a Material Event
would be material, the Issuer shall promptly file a notice of such occurrence with either all
NRMSIRs or with the MSRB and with any SID. Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of
Material Events described in subsections (a) (8) and (9) need not be given under this subsection
any earlier than the notice (if any) of the underlying event is given to holders of affected
Securities pursuant to the Resolution.

(d) Unless otherwise required by law and subject to technical and economic
feasibility, the Issuer shall employ such methods of information transmission as shall be
requested or recommended by the designated recipients of the Issuer's information.

Section 6. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The Issuer's obligations under the
Resolution and this Disclosure Certificate shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior
redemption or payment in full of all the Securities.

Section 7. Issuer Contact; Agent. Information may be obtained from the Issuer Contact.
Additionally, the Issuer may, from time to time, appoint or engage a dissemination agent to assist
it in carrying out its obligations under the Resolution and this Disclosure Certificate, and may
discharge any such agent, with or without appointing a successor dissemination agent.

Section 8. Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Resolution
or this Disclosure Certificate, the Issuer may amend this Disclosure Certificate, and any
provision of this Disclosure Certificate may be waived, if such amendment or waiver is
supported by an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel to the effect that such amendment
or waiver would not, in and of itself, cause the undertakings to violate the Rule. The provisions
of this Disclosure Certificate constituting the Undertaking or any provision hereof, shall be null
and void in the event that the Issuer delivers to each then existing NRMSIR and the SID, if any,
an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel to the effect that those portions of the Rule
which require this Disclosure Certificate are invalid, have been repealed retroactively or
otherwise do not apply to the Securities. The provisions of this Disclosure Certificate
constituting the Undertaking may be amended without the consent of the holders of the
Securities, but only upon the delivery by the Issuer to each then existing NRMSIR and the SID,
if any, of the proposed amendment and an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel to the
effect that such amendment, and giving effect thereto, will not adversely affect the compliance of
this Disclosure Certificate and by the Issuer with the Rule.

Section 9. Additional Information. Nothing in this Disclosure Certificate shall be
deemed to prevent the Issuer from disseminating any other information, using the means of
dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Certificate or any other means of communication, or
including any other information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Material
Event, in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Certificate. If the Issuer chooses
to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Material Event in
addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Certificate, the Issuer shall have
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no obligation under this Disclosure Certificate to update such information or include it in any
future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Material Event.

Section 10. Default. (a) The Issuer has never failed to comply in all material respects
with any previous undertakings under the Rule to provide annual reports or notices of material
events.

(b) In the event of a failure of the Issuer to comply with any provision of this Disclosure
Certificate any holder of the Securities may take such actions as may be necessary and
appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order, to cause the
Issuer to comply with its obligations under the Resolution and this Disclosure Certificate. A
default under this Disclosure Certificate shall not be deemed an event of default with respect to
the Securities and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Certificate in the event of any failure of
the Issuer to comply with this Disclosure Certificate shall be an action to compel performance.

Section 11. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Certificate shall inure solely to the benefit of
the Issuer, the Participating Underwriters and holders from time to time of the Securities, and
shall create no rights in any other person or entity.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have executed this Certificate in our official capacities
effective the 3rd day of January, 2007.

Thomas M. Taylor
Mayor

(SEAL)

Sandra L. Wesolowski
City Clerk
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE

This Continuing Disclosure Certificate (the "Disclosure Certificate™) is executed and
delivered by the City of Franklin, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin (the "Issuer") in connection
with the issuance of $9,925,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, dated January 3, 2007
(the "Securities™). The Securities are being issued pursuant to an Authorizing Resolution
adopted by the Governing Body of the Issuer on December 5, 2006 (the "Resolution™) and
delivered to Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, Minneapolis, Minnesota (the
"Purchaser™) on the date hereof. Pursuant to the Resolution, the Issuer has covenanted and
agreed to provide continuing disclosure of certain financial information and operating data and
timely notices of the occurrence of certain events. In addition, the Issuer hereby specifically
covenants and agrees as follows:

Section 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Certificate. This Disclosure Certificate is being
executed and delivered by the Issuer for the benefit of the holders of the Securities in order to
assist the Participating Underwriters within the meaning of the Rule (defined herein) in
complying with SEC Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5). References in this Disclosure Certificate to holders of
the Securities shall include the beneficial owners of the Securities. This Disclosure Certificate
constitutes the written Undertaking required by the Rule. Any filing under this Disclosure
Certificate may be made solely by transmitting such filing to the Texas Municipal Advisory
Council (the "MAC") as provided at http://www.disclosureusa.org unless the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission has withdrawn the interpretive advice in its letter to the
MAC dated September 7, 2004.

Section 2. Definitions. In addition to the defined terms set forth in the Resolution, which
apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Certificate unless otherwise defined in this
Section, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:

"Annual Report" means any annual report provided by the Issuer pursuant to, and as
described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Certificate.

"Audited Financial Statements"” means the Issuer's annual financial statements, which are
currently prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) for
governmental units as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and
which the Issuer intends to continue to prepare in substantially the same form.

"Final Official Statement" means the final official statement dated December 5, 2006
delivered in connection with the Securities, which is available from the MSRB.

"Fiscal Year" means the fiscal year of the Issuer.

"Governing Body" means the Common Council of the Issuer or such other body as may
hereafter be the chief legislative body of the Issuer.

"Issuer"” means the City of Franklin, Wisconsin which is the obligated person with respect
to the Securities.
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"Issuer Contact™ means the City Clerk of the Issuer who can be contacted at 9229 West
Loomis Road, Franklin, Wisconsin 53132, phone (414) 425-7500, fax (414) 425-6428.

"Material Event" means any of the events listed in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure
Certificate.

"MSRB" means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board located at 1900 Duke Street,
Suite 600, Alexandria, Virginia 22314.

"NRMSIR" means any nationally recognized municipal securities information repository
as recognized from time to time by the SEC for purposes of the Rule.

"Participating Underwriter" means any of the original underwriter(s) of the Securities
(including the Purchaser) required to comply with the Rule in connection with the offering of the
Securities.

"Repository™ means each NRMSIR and each SID, if any.

"Rule" means SEC Rule 15¢2-12(b)(5) promulgated by the SEC under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time, and official
interpretations thereof.

"SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"SID" means any public or private repository or entity designated by the State of
Wisconsin as a state information depository for the purpose of the Rule. As of the date of this
Certificate, there is no SID.

Section 3. Provision of Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements.

€)] The Issuer shall, not later than 270 days after the end of the Fiscal Year,
commencing with the year that ends December 31, 2006, provide each Repository with an
Annual Report which is consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure
Certificate. The Annual Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate documents
comprising a package, and may cross-reference other information as provided in Section 4 of this
Disclosure Certificate; provided that the Audited Financial Statements of the Issuer may be
submitted separately from the balance of the Annual Report and that, if Audited Financial
Statements are not available within 270 days after the end of the Fiscal Year, unaudited financial
information will be provided, and Audited Financial Statements will be submitted to each
Repository when and if available.

(b) If the Issuer is unable or fails to provide to the Repositories an Annual Report by
the date required in subsection (a), the Issuer shall send in a timely manner a notice of that fact to
the NRMSIRs, the MSRB and any SID.

(©) The Issuer shall determine each year prior to the date for providing the Annual
Report the name and address of each NRMSIR and each SID, if any.
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Section 4. Content of Annual Report. The Issuer's Annual Report shall contain or
incorporate by reference the Audited Financial Statements, current general fund budget summary
and updates of the following sections of the Final Official Statement to the extent such financial
information and operating data are not included in the Audited Financial Statements:

1. Tax Levies, Rates and Collections
2. Equalized Valuations
3. Indebtedness of the City — Direct Indebtedness

Any or all of the items listed above may be incorporated by reference from other
documents, including official statements of debt issues of the Issuer or related public entities,
which have been submitted to each of the Repositories or the SEC. If the document incorporated
by reference is a final official statement, it must be available from the MSRB. The Issuer shall
clearly identify each such other document so incorporated by reference.

Section 5. Reporting of Material Events.

@) This Section 5 shall govern the giving of notices of the occurrence of any of the
following events if material with respect to the Securities:

1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies;

2. Non-payment related defaults;

3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial
difficulties;

4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial
difficulties;

5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

6. Adverse tax opinions or events affecting the tax-exempt status of the
Securities;

7. Modification to rights of holders of the Securities;

8. Securities calls;

0. Defeasances;

10. Release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the
Securities; and

11. Rating changes.

(b) Whenever a Material Event occurs, the Issuer shall as soon as possible determine
under applicable legal standards if such event would constitute material information for holders
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of Securities, provided, that any event under subsection (a) (8), (9) or (11) will always be
deemed to be material.

(c) If the Issuer determines that knowledge of the occurrence of a Material Event
would be material, the Issuer shall promptly file a notice of such occurrence with either all
NRMSIRs or with the MSRB and with any SID. Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of
Material Events described in subsections (a) (8) and (9) need not be given under this subsection
any earlier than the notice (if any) of the underlying event is given to holders of affected
Securities pursuant to the Resolution.

(d) Unless otherwise required by law and subject to technical and economic
feasibility, the Issuer shall employ such methods of information transmission as shall be
requested or recommended by the designated recipients of the Issuer's information.

Section 6. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The Issuer's obligations under the
Resolution and this Disclosure Certificate shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior
redemption or payment in full of all the Securities.

Section 7. Issuer Contact; Agent. Information may be obtained from the Issuer Contact.
Additionally, the Issuer may, from time to time, appoint or engage a dissemination agent to assist
it in carrying out its obligations under the Resolution and this Disclosure Certificate, and may
discharge any such agent, with or without appointing a successor dissemination agent.

Section 8. Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Resolution
or this Disclosure Certificate, the Issuer may amend this Disclosure Certificate, and any
provision of this Disclosure Certificate may be waived, if such amendment or waiver is
supported by an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel to the effect that such amendment
or waiver would not, in and of itself, cause the undertakings to violate the Rule. The provisions
of this Disclosure Certificate constituting the Undertaking or any provision hereof, shall be null
and void in the event that the Issuer delivers to each then existing NRMSIR and the SID, if any,
an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel to the effect that those portions of the Rule
which require this Disclosure Certificate are invalid, have been repealed retroactively or
otherwise do not apply to the Securities. The provisions of this Disclosure Certificate
constituting the Undertaking may be amended without the consent of the holders of the
Securities, but only upon the delivery by the Issuer to each then existing NRMSIR and the SID,
if any, of the proposed amendment and an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel to the
effect that such amendment, and giving effect thereto, will not adversely affect the compliance of
this Disclosure Certificate and by the Issuer with the Rule.

Section 9. Additional Information. Nothing in this Disclosure Certificate shall be
deemed to prevent the Issuer from disseminating any other information, using the means of
dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Certificate or any other means of communication, or
including any other information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Material
Event, in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Certificate. If the Issuer chooses
to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Material Event in
addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Certificate, the Issuer shall have
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no obligation under this Disclosure Certificate to update such information or include it in any
future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Material Event.

Section 10. Default. (a) The Issuer has never failed to comply in all material respects
with any previous undertakings under the Rule to provide annual reports or notices of material
events.

(b) In the event of a failure of the Issuer to comply with any provision of this Disclosure
Certificate any holder of the Securities may take such actions as may be necessary and
appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order, to cause the
Issuer to comply with its obligations under the Resolution and this Disclosure Certificate. A
default under this Disclosure Certificate shall not be deemed an event of default with respect to
the Securities and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Certificate in the event of any failure of
the Issuer to comply with this Disclosure Certificate shall be an action to compel performance.

Section 11. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Certificate shall inure solely to the benefit of
the Issuer, the Participating Underwriters and holders from time to time of the Securities, and
shall create no rights in any other person or entity.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have executed this Certificate in our official capacities
effective the 3rd day of January, 2007.

Thomas M. Taylor
Mayor

(SEAL)

Sandra L. Wesolowski
City Clerk
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FINANCIAL GUARANTY INSURANCE POLICY

MBIA Insurance Corporation
Armonk, New York 10504

Policy No. [NUMBER]

MBIA Insurance Corporation (the "Insurer”), in consideration of the payment of the premium and subject to the terms of this policy, hereby
unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to any owner, as hereinafter defined, of the following described obligations, the full and complete payment
required to be made by or on behalf of the Issuer to [PAYING AGENT/TRUSTEE] or its successor (the "Paying Agent') of an amount equal to (i) the
principal of (either at the stated maturity or by any advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment) and interest on, the
Obligations (as that term is defined below) as such payments shall become due but shall not be so paid (except that in the event of any acceleration of
the due date of such principal by reason of mandatory or optional redemption or acceleration resulting from default or otherwise, other than any
advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment, the payments guaranteed hereby shall be made in such amounts and at such
times as such payments of principal would have been due had there not been any such acceleration, unless the Insurer elects, in its sole discretion, to pay
in whole or in part any principal due by reason of such acceleration); and (ii) the reimbursement of any such payment which is subsequently recovered
from any owner pursuant to a final judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction that such payment constitutes an avoidable preference to such owner
within the meaning of any applicable bankruptcy law. The amounts referred to in clauses (i) and (ii) of the preceding sentence shall be referred to herein
collectively as the "'Insured Amounts." "Obligations™ shall mean:

[PAR]
[LEGAL NAME OF ISSUE]

Upon receipt of telephonic or telegraphic notice, such notice subsequently confirmed in writing by registered or certified mail, or upon receipt of written
notice by registered or certified mail, by the Insurer from the Paying Agent or any owner of an Obligation the payment of an Insured Amount for which
is then due, that such required payment has not been made, the Insurer on the due date of such payment or within one business day after receipt of notice
of such nonpayment, whichever is later, will make a deposit of funds, in an account with U.S. Bank Trust National Association, in New York, New
York, or its successor, sufficient for the payment of any such Insured Amounts which are then due. Upon presentment and surrender of such
Obligations or presentment of such other proof of ownership of the Obligations, together with any appropriate instruments of assignment to evidence
the assignment of the Insured Amounts due on the Obligations as are paid by the Insurer, and appropriate instruments to effect the appointment of the
Insurer as agent for such owners of the Obligations in any legal proceeding related to payment of Insured Amounts on the Obligations, such instruments
being in a form satisfactory to U.S. Bank Trust National Association, U.S. Bank Trust National Association shall disburse to such owners, or the Paying
Agent payment of the Insured Amounts due on such Obligations, less any amount held by the Paying Agent for the payment of such Insured Amounts
and legally available therefor. This policy does not insure against loss of any prepayment premium which may at any time be payable with respect to
any Obligation.

As used herein, the term "owner" shall mean the registered owner of any Obligation as indicated in the books maintained by the Paying Agent, the
Issuer, or any designee of the Issuer for such purpose. The term owner shall not include the Issuer or any party whose agreement with the Issuer
constitutes the underlying security for the Obligations.

Any service of process on the Insurer may be made to the Insurer at its offices located at 113 King Street, Armonk, New York 10504 and such service
of process shall be valid and binding.

This policy is non-cancellable for any reason. The premium on this policy is not refundable for any reason including the payment prior to maturity of
the Obligations.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Insurer has caused this policy to be executed in facsimile on its behalf by its duly authorized officers, this [DAY] day of
[MONTH, YEAR].

MBIA Insurance Corporation

PrgSiglent

Attest:

Assistant Secretary

STD-R-7
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